# NOMENCLATURAL CHANGES IN THE STAPHYLINIDAE (INSECTA: COLEOPTERA)

LEE H. HERMAN

Curator, Division of Invertebrate Zoology American Museum of Natural History

BULLETIN OF THE AMERICAN MUSEUM OF NATURAL HISTORY

Number 264, 83 pp. Issued June 21, 2001 Price: \$7.60 a copy

Copyright © American Museum of Natural History 2001

ISSN 0003-0090

# CONTENTS

Abstract	. 3
Introduction	. 4
Type Species	. 5
Leptotyphlinae	. 5
Megalopsidiinae	. 6
Omaliinae	. 6
Staphylininae	. 8
Steninae	11
Tachyporinae	11
Spelling Changes	11
Osorijnae	11
Oxytelinae	12
Piestinae	12
Staphylininae	12
Umplants	12
New Combinations	13
Micronenlinae	13
Omaliinae	13
Operimae	13
Owingeringe	12
Owypointea	14
Oxytemae	14
Staphylininae	14
Sum and an	15
Synonyms	19
	19
	19
	19
Osoriinae	22
Oxytelinae	22
Proteininae	24
Staphylininae	24
Steninae	32
Tachyporinae	34
Homonyms	36
Euaesthetinae	36
Leptotyphlinae	36
Micropeplinae	36
Omaliinae	36
Osoriinae	39
Oxytelinae	41
Staphylininae	42
Steninae	54
Tachyporinae	54
Special Problems	57
Omaliinae	57
Staphylininae	59
Acknowledgments	60
References	61
Addendum	83

# ABSTRACT

More than 775 nomenclatural changes are proposed and nomenclatural problems are discussed for the Staphylinidae.

Two generic names are proposed as replacement names: *Torobus* for species formerly in *Trigonopselaphus*, and *Ryvkinius* for the preoccupied *Mesoporus* Ryvkin.

Type species are fixed or problems with the type species are discussed for: *Entomoculia*, *Eumegalopsidia* (an unavailable name), *Anthobium*, *Lesteva*, *Phyllodrepoidea*, *Aleioglyphes-thus*, *Bolitogyrus*, *Cephalonthus*, *Diatrechus*, *Euremus*, *Indoquedius*, *Philothalpus*, *Philonthopsis*, *Pseudoremus*, *Leptophius*, *Stenus* (*Nestus*), *Coproporus*, and *Paratachinus*. The type species for *Entomoculia*, *Anthobium*, *Phyllodrepoidea*, *Leptophius*, and *Stenus* (*Nestus*) are fixed under provisions of article 70.3 of the Code.

Emendations are cited or one of multiple original spellings adopted in *Bledius, Bryoporus, Carpelimus, Edaphus, Eleusis, Gauropterus, Indosorius, Lispinus, Lithocharodes, Medon, Osorius, Philonthus, Piestus, Pinophilinus, Platydracus, Priochirus, Prognathoides, Quedius, Stenus, and Trigonurus.* 

New combinations are proposed in Arrhenopeplus (3), Dialycera (2), Eusphalerum (14), Nacaeus (19), Pseudoxyporus (4), Homalotrichus (1), Thinodromus (2), Gabrius (1), Platydracus (57), Torobus (9), Bryophacis (7), Ischnosoma (16), Lordithon (66), Ryvkinius (1), and Sepedophilus (244).

Fifty-nine new synonyms are listed for *Micropeplus* (1), *Anthophagus* (2), *Eusphalerum* (1), *Phloeonomus* (1), *Eleusis* (1), *Leptochirus* (1), *Neolosus* (1), *Osorius* (5), *Priochirus* (1), *Anotylus* (1), *Bledius* (1), *Carpelimus* (1), *Ochthephilus* (1), *Apoquedius* (1), *Diatrechus* (1), *Erichsonius* (2), *Gabrius* (2), *Gastrisus* (1), *Hesperus* (2), *Heterothops* (2), *Leptacinus* (1), *Notolinus* (1), *Phallolinus* (1), *Philonthus* (6), *Quedius* (5), *Staphylinus* (2), *Tasgius* (1) *Xantholinus* (4), *Stenus* (7), *Sepedophilus* (1), and *Tachinus* (1). *Polyphematiana* E. Strand is a junior synonym of *Trigonopselaphus* Gemminger and Harold.

Eleven names are resurrected from synonymy, one each in *Phyllodrepoidea*, *Anotylus*, *Oxytelus*, *Loncovilius*, *Philonthus*, *Platydracus*, *Lordithon*, *Mycetoporus*, and *Tachinus* and two in *Stenus*.

Under provisions of article 23.9.1 of the Code, 28 junior synonyms are protected in Amphichroum (1), Carpelimus (1), Deleaster (1), Proteinus (1), Bisnius (1), Leptacinus (1), Megalinus (1), Neobisnius (1), Ocypus (1), Philonthus (3), Quedius (4), Tasgius (2), Stenus (5), Bolitobius (1), Lordithon (1), Mycetoporus (1), and Tachyporus (2). Provisions of the same article protect 5 junior homonyms in Eusphalerum (1), Xylodromus (1), Quedius (1), Tachinus (1), and Tachyporus (1).

Under provisions of article 23.9.3 of the Code, 15 junior synonyms will be referred to the Commission for rulings under the plenary power. Pending the outcome of these cases, use of the junior name is maintained. The affected species are in *Eusphalerum* (1), *Lesteva* (1), *Omalium* (1), *Phloeostiba* (1), *Xylodromus* (1), *Anotylus* (1), *Bledius* (1), *Carpelinus* (1), *Ocypus* (1), *Philonthus* (1), *Quedius* (4), and *Lordithon* (1).

Under provisions of article 23.9.5 of the Code, 64 junior primary homonyms will be referred to the Commission for rulings under the plenary power. Pending the outcome of these deliberations, use of the junior name is maintained. The species are in *Eusphalerum* (1), *Mannerheimia* (1), *Omaliomimus* (1), *Omaliopsis* (1), *Omalium* (4), *Phyllodrepa* (1), *Pycnoglypta* (1), *Xylodromus* (1), *Anotylus* (1), *Bledius* (1), *Carpelimus* (1), *Oxyporus* (1), *Belonuchus* (2), *Bisnius* (1), *Cafius* (2), *Cheilocolpus* (1), *Diatrechus* (1), *Endeius* (1), *Gabrius* (5), *Hesperus* (2), *Leptacinus* (1), *Nordus* (1), *Paederomimus* (1), *Philonthus* (10), *Platydracus* (3), *Quedius* (2), *Staphylinus* (6), *Xantholinus* (2), *Xanthopygus* (1), *Xenopygus* (2), *Carphacis* (1), *Coproporus* (1), *Tachinomorphus* (1), and *Tachinus* (3).

Replacement names are proposed for 90 preoccupied names in 37 genera: *Euaesthetus* (1), *Leptotyphlus* (1), *Micropeplus* (1), *Eusphalerum* (2), *Lesteva* (1), *Olophrum* (1), *Omalium* (2), *Clavilispinus* (1), *Eleusis* (3), *Holotrochus* (3), *Leptochirus* (1), *Lispinus* (4), *Osorius* (3), *Priochirus* (2), *Thoracochirus* (1), *Anotylus* (2), *Carpelimus* (2), *Platystethus* (1), *Atanygnathus* (1), *Bisnius* (1), *Diochus* (1), *Gabrius* (3), *Hesperus* (2), *Heterothops* (1), *Leptacinus* (3), *Philonthus* (19), *Quedius* (4), *Staphylinus* (3), *Tasgius* (1), *Dianous* (1), *Bolitobius* (1), *Carphacis* (1), *Coproporus* (3), *Lordithon* (3), *Sepedophilus* (5), *Tachinus* (4), *Tachyporus* (1). Eight names are resurrected to replace preoccupied names in *Anotylus* (1), *Philonthus* (1), *Quedius* (1), *Stenus* (2), *Lordithon* (1), *Tachinomorphus* (1), and *Tachinus* (1).

Twenty-six senior homonyms, in *Hapalaraea* (1), *Omalium* (2), *Phyllodrepa* (1), *Bledius* (1), *Oxytelus* (1), *Bisnius* (1), *Quedius* (1), *Staphylinus* (15), *Carphacis* (1), Sepedophilus (1), and *Tachinus* (1), are regarded to be "nomina dubia" and the junior names conserved by fiat, without sanction by the Code.

*Psephidonus* is the older name, but application to the Commission will be made to reject that name in favor of the younger *Geodromicus*. Tachyporiniformes is an unavailable name.

# **INTRODUCTION**

A catalog to the taxa and literature of the beetle family Staphylinidae has been in progress for years (Herman, in press). One result of that project was the discovery of many changes required by the International Code of Zoological Nomenclature (hereafter, the Code). Among these changes are emendations, replacement of junior homonyms, recognition of new synonyms, resurrection of names, and transfer of species from one genus to another. Rather than make these changes in the body of the catalog, I choose to publish them in a separate article so the changes are more accessible and the issues can be discussed.

The most recent World catalog for the family was published in parts by Bernhauer and Schubert (1910, 1911, 1912, 1914, and 1916) and Bernhauer and Scheerpeltz (1926), along with a supplement by Scheerpeltz (1933, 1934). Since Scheerpeltz's supplement, tens of thousands of changes have been published, including new species, new genera, new combinations, new synonyms, elevations, and resurrections. Many new and old changes have been overlooked and many errors were made. The purpose of this article is to correct errors. The changes are grouped by subfamily within which the genera and species are listed alphabetically. Included herein are changes required in all subfamilies except the Paederinae, Aleocharinae, Scaphidiinae, and Pselaphinae.

Most nomenclatural problems have been resolved by application of provisions of the fourth edition of the Code (ICZN, 1999). Where necessary, the relevant article of the Code is cited. The few cases in which articles were not adhered to are explained. References needed to document the changes proposed herein can be found in a forthcoming catalog of the family (Herman, in press). Discussed in the present article are five classes of problems. A sixth section treats two miscellaneous problems. They are, in order of presentation, type species designations, emendations, new combinations, new synonyms, homonyms, and special problems. Within each section the subfamilies, generea, and species are listed alphabetically.

The section for type species designations includes the correction of erroneous designations and first-time designations for genera. Erroneous designations are discussed in detail sufficient to present the problem and its resolution. Some genera never had a type species designated. For genera published before 1930, a type species is simply fixed by subsequent designation. After 1930, newly published genus-group names are unavailable unless a type species is fixed at the time the name is published (article 13.3). The first author who validly designates the type species also makes the name available and is the author of the name (article 50.1); the date of that designation is the date of publication for the genus. A few designations are based on misidentified type species. Provisions in the Code permit, in the interests of stability, use of misidentifications as type species, without making application to the Commission. An author is permitted to fix as type species either the taxonomic species actually involved or the misidentified nominal species fixed previously (article 70.3).

A modest number of names require emendation.

Several hundred names are transferred from one genus to another. Most of these are the result of misidentification of the genus in which they were placed. Others are moved because the subgenus was elevated but not all the species were transferred.

Some species currently listed as valid are reduced to junior synonyms, most because names now cited as junior synonyms are older. In a similar vein, most junior homonyms are not problematic and are simply replaced either by the next oldest available synonym that is itself not preoccupied or by a newly proposed name. Some authors described species using a previously published name. Although these homonyms usually require replacement, in some cases there may be reasons to think that the homonymic pair represents the same species. To preclude proposing unnecessary replacement names, but to recognize that the junior name is available, if there are reasons to suspect that homonyms apply to the same species, they are cited as new synonyms with reasons being

given for such citations. Some junior homonyms and junior synonyms are currently listed as valid and have a long history of use. Replacement of these younger names would create nomenclatural instability. The Code has provisions to help maintain prevailing use of such names. Article 23.9.1 requires continued use of a junior synonym or junior homonym if it has been cited as valid by at least 10 authors in at least 25 publications during the last 50 years (article 23.9.1.2) and if the older synonym or homonym has not been used as valid since 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). If these conditions are satisfied, then the names are qualified by the terms nomen protectum and nomen oblitum, respectively (article 23.9.2). To compliance with article 23.9, the list of references supporting the proposed protection of the younger name and the history of the use of the older name slightly altered is; "To comply with .... " are provided under the relevant names in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press).

In a few cases the number of articles needed for protecting a name did not quite reach 25; perhaps some 18 or 20 were found, but the name was probably cited in many more publications. For these cases, it is assumed that the requisite number of publications can be found with diligent search. The catalog, which forms the basis and rationale for this nomenclatural article, is *not* a "complete" catalog; that is, it does not include every published mention of a name, and consequently publications were probably overlooked that would permit protecting a name. For example, many of the multitude of lists of species collected at one or another European site were omitted, as were citations of names mentioned in the comparisons presented with descriptions of new genera and species. Certainly these are two potential sources of further published mention of names proposed for protection.

Articles 23.9.1 and 23.9.2 apply only to cases where the older name is no longer cited as valid. Article 23.9.5 permits continued use of names currently cited as valid, but that are primary homonyms, *if* they have not been congeneric since 1899. This article *forbids* automatic replacement of such junior homonyms (application to the Commission is also required) and is essential to retaining some well-known names.

A common problem is an overlooked name, cited as valid, that is the senior name of a homonymic pair, the junior of which is also cited as valid. Alternatively, two homonyms may both be rarely used. In both cases the overlooked names may not have been used since the original description or they may have been used infrequently or not at all for 100 years or more. A type specimen for these names may not even exist. Some of these cases can be dealt with by application of article 23.9.5. For others, although the Code requires replacement, I regarded these neglected names as "forgotten", ignored the required change, and labeled each "nomen dubium". The Code supports no such action, but this course seems preferable to creating new names for species that may never be known simply to obey the Code. Others may disagree and elect to effect the required changes, but such action taken without study of the relevant types would solve nothing.

Three problems require separate discussion. One involves the date of publication of a generic name established by Redtenbacher in the second edition of his "Fauna austriaca ...", the other, the type genus of a family group name. The third is a complicated case involving the recently proposed synonymy of two well-known species-group names.

#### **TYPE SPECIES**

LEPTOTYPHLINAE

# Entomoculia

Croissandeau (1891: 150) described Entomoculia and included two species, Ento*moculia sublaevis* (Fauvel, 1874) (ex *Leptotyphlus*) and *Entomoculia grouvellei* (Fauvel, jun 1890) (ex *Leptotyphlus*). Blackwelder (1952: 149) designated *Entomoculia grouvellei* cie (Fauvel) as the type species of the genus by subsequent designation. According to Coiffait (1955: 66; 1959: 279; 1972: 390) both species were misidentified by Croissandeau.

Coiffait, in the same three articles, cited *Entomoculia jeanneli* Coiffait, 1955, which he named for Croissandeau's misidentification of *E. grouvellei*, as the type species of the genus. The species named by Fauvel, *Leptotyphlus grouvellei*, is in *Mesotyphlus*.

Article 70.3 permits designation of a misidentified species (or the taxonomic species actually involved) as type species. *Entomoculia*, with more than 120 species, is a commonly used, well-known name that, in the last 50 years, has been cited in at least 34 articles written by 11 authors. In the last 50 years more than 100 nominal species have been described in *Entomoculia*. To preserve this longstanding use, and with the sanction of article 70.3.2, I propose to accept Coiffait's (1955: 66) designation of *E. jeanneli* Coiffait (= *E. grouvellei* sensu Croissandeau) as the type species of *Entomoculia*.

#### MEGALOPSIDIINAE

#### Eumegalopsidia

Megalopsidia (Eumegalopsidia) is an **un-available name** and Megalopinus (Polycyrtopsidia) is a **valid subgenus**. All the species listed in Megalopsidia (Eumegalopsidia) are hereafter in Megalopsidia (Polycyrtopsidia).

*Eumegalopsidia* was proposed by Benick (1952: 77) as a subgenus of *Megalopsidia* Leng, 1918 (= *Megalopinus*); he (1952: 86) included 22 species from Africa and the Indo-Australian region. Scheerpeltz (1972: 95) described a new subgenus, *Megalopsidia* (*Polycyrtopsidia*), with one new species, *Megalopsidia* (*Polycyrtopsidia*) sanguinitriguttata. Puthz (1974a: 135) transferred *Megalopinus sanguinitriguttata* Scheerpeltz, 1972, to *Megalopinus* (*Eumegalopsidia*). Because *M. sanguinitriguttata* Scheerpeltz is the type species of *Polycyrtopsidia*, the two subgenera, *Megalopinus* (*Polycyrtopsidia*) and *Megalopinus* (*Eumegalopsidia*), are synonyms; Puthz (1974b: 136) listed the former as the junior synonym of the latter.

However, Benick designated no type species for *Eumegalopsidia*, so his use of the name is unavailable (article 13.3). A type species was published in the 1952 Zoological Record (1953, vol. 89(13): 246), but the designation was anonymous and was done after 1950 and thus is an unavailable act (article 14). If a type species were designated now, the author and date for *Eumegalopsidia* would be the author and date of the type species designation. No type species is designated herein for *Eumegalopsidia* and it remains unavailable.

# OMALIINAE

#### Anthobium

Anthobium Leach (1819: 175) was published without a description but with one available species, "Omal. melanocephalum", which was the type species by original designation and monotypy. However, because the species was cited by Leach without an author, there has been confusion about which of two species is the correct type, Staphylinus melanocephalus Fabricius (1787: 222) or Silpha melanocephala Illiger (1794: 596). At the time, both species were reported in Britain by Marsham (1802: 127, 523), who (1802: 127) credited Silpha melanocephala to Panzer, who attributed it to Illiger. In fact, the authorship of the type species was resolved in the original publication. Samouelle (1819: 375, 484) cited Marsham's (1802: 127) use of Silpha melanocephala as the species intended by Leach (1819: 175).

Tottenham (1939: 225) cited "melanocephalum Marsham, 1802" as the type species of Anthobium without stating which of Marsham's usages applied. Later, he (1949: 357) presented the type species of Anthobium as "Anthobium atrocephalum Gyllenhal, 1827 (= Silpha melanocephala Marsham, 1802 [nec Illiger, 1794])". Marsham's use of Silpha melanocephala has been considered a misidentification of Anthobium atrocephalum since at least 1840 (Erichson, 1840: 870). And, whereas Silpha melanocephala sensu Marsham (= Anthobium atrocephalum) is known in Britain, according to Pope (1977), neither Phyllodrepa melanocephala (Fabricius, 1787) (ex *Staphylinus*) nor *Anthobium melanocephalum* (Illiger, 1794) (ex *Silpha*) is known.

Blackwelder (1952: 55–56), on the other hand, assigned the authorship of the type species to Fabricius by reasoning that only the Fabrician species lives in Britain. His interpretation is erroneous for two reasons: first, Samouelle (1819) did indicate which species was intended, and second, neither the true *Anthobium melanocephalum* Illiger (ex *Silpha*) nor *Phyllodrepa melanocephala* Fabricius (ex *Staphylinus*) occurs in Britain (Pope, 1977).

Provisions in the new Code (article 70.3) permit fixation as type species a misidentified nominal species (or the actual taxonomic species) if stability results. In the case of *Anthobium*, we should accept *Omalium atrocephalum* Gyllenhal (= *Silpha melanocephala* sensu Marsham, 1802) as type species of the genus (article 70.3.2).

# Lesteva

Lesteva Latreille (1797: 75) was described without included species. The first species to be included was Carabus abbreviatus Fabricius (Latreille, 1802: 129), which thus becomes the type species of Lesteva by subsequent monotypy as the first and only included species. However, abbreviatus is currently assigned to Anthophagus Gravenhorst, 1802. By accepting this fixation, Anthophagus would be replaced by Lesteva, and the genus currently referred to as Lesteva would take the name Tevales Casey, 1894, the next oldest available name. However, Lesteva and Anthophagus each have a long history and bibliography as separate genera. To effect a stable classification, Lesteva and Anthophagus should be preserved in their currently applied sense. A petition will be sent to the Commission requesting that Latreille's (1804: 369) designation of Lesteva punctu*lata* Latreille be accepted as the type species of Lesteva.

The fixation of *Carabus abbreviatus* as type species of *Lesteva* was rejected by Tottenham (1949a: 358) and Blackwelder (1952: 218). Both thought that because Latreille (1802: 129; 1804: 366) cited *Anthophagus* as a synonym of *Lesteva*, the first included spe-

cies in Lesteva were all the nominal species listed in Anthophagus by Gravenhorst (1802: 120-123, 188-189). For pre-1930 genera established without species, article 67.2.2 of the Code requires that "the nominal species ... first subsequently and expressly included ... be the only originally included nominal species". Article 67.2.4 states that the "Mere citation of an available genus-group name as a synonym of another does not constitute inclusion of the nominal species of the former in the latter". By these edicts the first and only possible originally included species was "Carabus abbreviatus F.", and no other species is available for designation as type species.

Lesteva was first published by Latreille (1797: 75) with a few characters but without species. Anthophagus was published by Gravenhorst (1802: 120, 188) with eight nominal species (caraboides, abbreviatus, testaceus, armiger, obscurus, plagiatus, dichrous, and alpinus). Latreille (1802: 129) briefly characterized Lesteva and synonymized Anthophagus with it with the following statement: "Gen. Lestève; lesteva. (G. Antophagus. Graven.) Exemple. Carabus abbreviatus. F." That species thereby became the first species included in Lesteva by name.

Later, Latreille (1804: 366-369) again redescribed Lesteva, listed Anthophagus as a synonym, included by name all the nominal species listed by Gravenhorst (1802) in Anthophagus (see preceding paragraph), and added three more nominal species (Lesteva punctulata Fabricius, Carabus dimidiatus Panzer, and Carabus staphylinoides Marsham). Among the nominal species cited in Lesteva by Latreille in 1804, five (Staphylinus caraboides Linné, Carabus abbreviatus Fabricius, Staphylinus alpinus Fabricius, Anthophagus testaceus Gravenhorst, and Anthophagus armiger Gravenhorst) are currently in Anthophagus, one (Staphylinus plagiatus Fabricius) is the type species of *Geodromicus*, and one (Anthophagus dichrous Gravenhorst) is the type species of *Deleaster*. Four (Staphylinus obscurus Paykull, Lesteva punctulata Latreille, Carabus dimidiatus Panzer, and Carabus staphylinoides Marsham) remain in Lesteva where all are junior synonyms of Lesteva longoelytrata (Goeze, 1777) (ex Staphylinus). Latreille (1804: 369),

in the paragraph following his description of *Lesteva punctulata*, designated that species as the type of *Lesteva* with the statement "C'est d'après cette espèce que j'avois formé ce genre." This designation was accepted by Tottenham (1949a: 358) but rejected by Blackwelder (1952: 218).

Latreille (1810: 182, 427) again cited a few characters for *Lesteva*, and in his "Table des genres avec l'indication de l'espèce qui leur sert de type" he listed two species with "Lestève", *Lesteva alpina* (Fabricius) and *Lesteva dimidiata* (Panzer). With two species cited, it is unclear which was meant to be the type species. Blackwelder (1952: 218) claimed the type species to be *Lesteva alpina* (Fabricius) as a subsequent designation by Latreille, but he presented no reasons for thinking that one was designated in lieu of the other.

I suggest that the Commission set aside the first type species fixation for *Lesteva*, *Carabus abbreviata* Fabricius, and accept Latreille's (1804: 369) designation of *Lesteva punctulata* Latreille. Although formal application needs to be made to the Commission to ratify this suggestion, for purposes of the catalog I have simply cited *Lesteva punctulata* Latreille as the type species for the reasons outlined above.

# Phyllodrepoidea

*Phyllodrepoidea* Ganglbauer, 1895: 724 was established for one species, *Phyllodrepoidea crenata* (Gravenhorst, 1802: 114) (ex *Omalium*), so the type species is fixed by monotypy. However, Gravenhorst did not describe the species; he attributed it to Fabricius. The species named by Fabricius, *Staphylinus crenatus* Fabricius, 1793: 525, is now a valid species in *Acidota*, so the use of *crenata* by Gravenhorst and all later authors are misidentifications.

However, the misidentified species, *Phyllodrepoidea crenata* is available since it is the type species of the *Phyllodrepoidea* (articles 11.10, 70.3.1), but the author becomes Ganglbauer, 1895 (articles 11.10, 67.13.1). Also see the species in the section on homonyms in this article.

# STAPHYLININAE

# Aleioglyphesthus

Aleioglyphesthus Scheerpeltz 1975: 110 was originally described as a subgenus of Glyphesthus Kraatz, 1858. The author included four species: Glyphesthus (Aleioglyphesthus) congoensis Bernhauer, 1931, Glyphesthus (Aleioglyphesthus) neavei Bernhauer, 1927, Glyphesthus (Aleioglyphesthus) hauseri Bernhauer, 1937, and Glyphesthus (Aleioglyphesthus) zimmermani Scheerpeltz, 1975. However, the name is unavailable because Scheerpeltz did not designate a type species (article 13b). I hereby designate Glyphesthus (Aleioglyphesthus) zimmermani Scheerpeltz as the type species of Aleioglyphestus, new subgenus, by original designation. Characters of the subgenus are provided by Scheerpeltz (1975: 110).

# Bolitogyrus

The binomen *Bolitogyrus cribripennis* was first published in a list by Dejean (1836: 76), but neither name was available because no characters were published. Chevrolat (1842: 641) cited Bolitogyrus cribripennis and wrote that he had sent B. cribripennis to Erichson, who identified it as Quedius buphthalmus Erichson, 1840. Chevrolat also presented no characters for B. cribripennis, and thus the name was still not available. However, because he evidently accepted Erichson's view that B. cribripennis and Q. buphthalmus were conspecific, it can be argued that the first included available species in Bolitogyrus was Q. buphthalmus, thereby making the genus-group name *Bolitogyrus* available by indication (article 12.2.5). Blackwelder (1952: 82) asserted that Bolitogyrus cribripennis was validated by its synonymy with Quedius buphthalmus. According to articles 11.6 and 11.6.1, a name published in synonymy is unavailable unless before 1961 it was treated as an available name and either adopted as the name of a taxon or treated as a senior homonym. Bolitogyrus cribripennis had not been used as the name of a taxon, treated as a senior homonym, or described. Fauvel (1878a: 84) and Blackwelder (1944: 144) included both B. cribripennis and Q. buphthalmus in Cyrtothorax, with the former being a junior synonym of the latter. Smetana (1988: 315) noted that *B. cribripennis* had not been described, but he accepted Blackwelder's interpretation.

I conclude that (1) having been published without a description and in synonymy, *B. cribripennis* is **unavailable**; (2) Chevrolat (1842) included *Quedius buphthalmus* in *Bolitogyrus* by virtue of his acceptance of Erichson's view that it and *B. cribripennis* were conspecific; and (3) *B. buphthalmus*, an available name, was the first and only included species, thereby making *Bolitogyrus* Chevrolat, 1842 available by indication (article 12.2.5) and making it the type species by monotypy.

#### Cephalonthus

Bernhauer (1940b: 635) proposed Cephalonthus as a subgenus of Philonthus Stephens, 1829. He included Philonthus (Cephalonthus) kochianus Bernhauer, 1940, Philonthus (Cephalonthus) lewisius Sharp, 1874, Philonthus (Cephalonthus) caffer Boheman, 1848, and Philonthus (Cephalonthus) ustus Fauvel, 1907; however, because he designated no type species for *Cephalonthus*, it is unavailable (article 13.3). Blackwelder (1952: 96) designated the type species, thereby making the name available and becoming the author of the name (article 50.1). The type species of Cephalonthus Blackwelder, 1952 is Philonthus (Cephalonthus) caffer Boheman; it was fixed by original designation by Blackwelder.

#### **Diatrechus**

Bernhauer (1911a: 89) described *Diatrechus* and included six nominal species: *Diatrechus elatus* (Erichson, 1840) (ex *Philonthus*), *Diatrechus anthracinus* (Fauvel, 1905) (ex *Anisolinus*), *Diatrechus raffrayi* (Fauvel, 1905) (ex *Anisolinus*), *Diatrechus humeralis* (Fauvel, 1907) (ex *Anisolinus*), *Diatrechus aethiopicus* (Fauvel, 1907) (ex *Anisolinus*), and *Diatrechus bicolor* (Bernhauer, 1906a) (ex *Anisolinus*). Blackwelder (1952: 123) designated *Staphylinus compressicollis* Klug (now in *Diatrechus*) as the type species, and Scheerpeltz (1970: 87) cited the same type species. However, *S. compressicollis* cannot be the type species; it was not among the originally included species (articles 67.2.1, 67.2.3). I hereby designate *Philonthus elatus* Erichson, 1840 as the type species of *Diatrechus* by subsequent designation.

#### Euremus

Bierig (1934: 68) proposed Euremus as a subgenus of Cafius Curtis, 1829, and included Cafius (Euremus) rufifrons Bierig, 1934, Cafius (Euremus) bistriatus (Erichson, 1840) (ex Philonthus), Cafius (Euremus) fonticola (Erichson, 1840) (ex Philonthus), Cafius (Euremus) pacificus (Erichson, 1840) (ex Philonthus), Cafius (Euremus) lithocharinus (LeConte, 1863) (ex Philonthus), and Cafius (Euremus) nauticus (Fairmaire, 1849) (ex Philonthus). Because no type species was designated, the name was unavailable (article 13.3) until Blackwelder (1943: 435) designated, by original designation, Philonthus bistriatus Erichson (Cafius [Euremus]), and thereby became the author of the name in 1943 (article 50.1).

#### Indoquedius

Cameron (1932: 281) described Indoquedius, now a separate genus, as a subgenus of Quedius Stephens, 1829, and included Quedius (Indoquedius) oculatus Fauvel, 1895, Quedius (Indoquedius) filicornis Eppelsheim, 1895, and Quedius (Indoquedius) bipunctatus Eppelsheim, 1895. The name, however, was unavailable because Cameron failed to designate a type species (article 13.3). Indoquedius was made available by Blackwelder (1952: 199), who became the author of the name in 1952, when he designated "Indoquedius oculatus Fauvel (Quedius)" as the type species by original designation.

#### **Philothalpus**

Kraatz (1857: 540) described *Philothalpus* and included four species by name: *Philothalpus fervidus* (Erichson, 1840: 505) (ex *Philonthus*), *Philothalpus egregius* (Erichson, 1840: 505) (ex *Philonthus*), *Philothalpus viduus* (Erichson, 1840: 506) (ex *Philonthus*), and one unavailable name (*sticticus*). He also intended the genus to include the five species in "*Staphylinus* Fam. IX" of Erichson, 1839b: 395 (i.e., *Staphylinus luridipes* Erich-

son, 1839, Staphylinus anceps Erichson, 1839, S. a. terminalis, Philonthus fasciatus Nordmann, 1837, and Staphylinus segmentarius Erichson, 1839), but did not list them by name. Neither Kraatz nor anyone else designated a type species until Blackwelder (1943: 451) designated Philothalpus anceps. That designation is invalid. Articles 67.2.1 and 67.2.3 require that the type species be selected from one of the originally included species that was cited by an available name. Philothalpus anceps was not cited in the genus by name and thus was not an originally included nominal species. The three species available for designation are no longer in Philothalpus. They have been moved to Eugastus (fervidus) and Styngetus (egregius and viduus). Philothalpus needs a type species designation. I hereby designate Philonthus fervidus Erichson (Philothalpus), the species now listed in *Eugastus*, as the type species of Philothalpus Kraatz, 1858, by subsequent designation. This designation makes Eugastus Sharp, (1876: 139) a new synonym of Philothalpus. Oligotergus Bierig (1937: 204), described as a subgenus of Philothalpus, becomes the valid name for the remaining species formerly listed in Philothalpus.

# **Philonthopsis**

Koch (1936: 173, 178) established Philonthopsis as a subgenus of Cafius Curtis, 1829, and included four nominal species: Cafius (Philonthopsis) australis (Redtenbacher, 1867) (ex Ocypus) [and its synonym, Cafius (Philonthopsis) areolatus Fauvel, 1877], Cafius (Philonthopsis) litoreus (Broun, 1880) (ex Staphylinus), and Cafius (Philonthopsis) sabulosus Fauvel, 1877, along with a fourth name, an aberration that was thereby unavailable. He failed to designate a type species, so Philonthopsis was unavailable (article 13.3). Blackwelder (1943: 435) made the name available and became its author when he designated Cafius (Philonthopsis) sabulosus Fauvel as type species of the subgenus. Philonthopsis is a preoccupied name and was replaced by Blackwelder (1952: 198) with Ifacus.

# Pseudoremus

Koch (1936: 175, 179) proposed Pseudoremus as a subgenus of Cafius. He included Cafius (Pseudoremus) opacus (LeConte, 1864) (ex Philonthus), Cafius (Pseudoremus) vestitus (Sharp, 1874) (ex Philonthus), Cafius (Pseudoremus) rufescens Sharp, 1889, Cafius (Pseudoremus) algarum (Sharp, 1874) (ex Philonthus), Cafius (Pseudoremus) histrio (Sharp, 1874) (ex Philonthus), Cafius (Pseudoremus) mimulus (Sharp, 1874) (ex Philonthus), Cafius (Pseudoremus) lithocharinus (LeConte, 1863) (ex Philonthus), Cafius (Pseudoremus) ragazzii Gestro, 1889, and Cafius (Pseudoremus) nauticus (Fairmaire, 1849) (ex Philonthus). However, Koch failed to designate a type species for Pseudoremus and thus the name is unavailable (article 13.3). Blackwelder (1943: 435) designated Cafius (Pseudoremus) lithocharinus (LeConte) (ex Philonthus), thereby making the name available and becoming the author of the name (article 50.1).

# Leptophius

Leptophius Coiffait (1983a: 345) was proposed as a replacement name for Leptophallus Coiffait. Coiffait (1956: 57, 59) described Leptophallus as a subgenus of Xantholinus Dejean, 1821, with two nominal species, Xantholinus (Leptophallus) relucens Kraatz (1857: 634), which he designated as the type species, and Xantholinus (Leptophallus) elianae Jarrige (1941: 47), a species now in Lemiganus Bordoni, 1985. Kraatz (1857a: 634) attributed the species to Gravenhorst, but his use of X. relucens was a misidentification according to Coiffait (1972: 257), who cited Xantholinus flavocinctus Hochhuth (1849: 102) as the type species of Leptophallus and listed X. relucens Kraatz as a synonym of X. flavocinctus Hochhuth.

Clearly, Coiffait intended *Leptophallus* (and *Leptophius*) to be based on Kraatz's version of *Xantholinus relucens*, which is a misidentification of *Xantholinus flavocinctus* Hochhuth. For misidentified type species, article 70.3.2 permits the selection of the taxonomic species actually involved in the misidentification, so the type species of *Leptophius* is *Xantholinus flavocinctus* Hochhuth (= *Xantholinus relucens* sensu Kraatz).

# Steninae

# Stenus (Nestus)

Blackwelder (1952: 262) cited Stenus (Nestus) buphthalmus Gravenhorst, 1802 as the type species of Nestus Rev. 1884: 246. Gravenhorst did not describe S. buphthalmus; he attributed it to Schrank, but S. buphthalmus Gravenhorst was treated by many earlier authors as a valid species. Ganglbauer (1895: 572) seems to have been the first to link S. buphthalmus Gravenhorst with Stenus boops Ljungh, 1810: 158, when he listed S. boops as the junior name; others followed his treatment (e.g., see Scheerpeltz, 1933: 1149). Stenus buphthalmus sensu Gravenhorst is a misidentification of S. boops Ljungh and is an unavailable name. Stenus *boops* has also been cited as the type species of Stenus (Nestus) (Tottenham, 1940: 49), but it was not among the originally included nominal species. Rey (1884: 246-315) included 44 species, including "Stenus buphthalmus Gravenhorst" in Stenus (Nestus).

In cases of misidentification of the type species, article 70.3.2 permits selection of the taxonomic species actually involved. In this case we can accept Tottenham's (1940: 49) designation of *Stenus* (*Nestus*) boops Ljungh (= buphthalmus sensu Gravenhorst) as the type species of *Stenus* (*Nestus*).

#### TACHYPORINAE

# Coproporus

*Coproporus* Kraatz, 1857 is a junior synonym of *Erchomus* Motschulsky, 1858 according to Blackwelder (1952: 106, 150). Blackwelder accepted Motschulsky's argument that *Erchomus* Motschulsky has priority over *Coproporus* Kraatz because he (i.e., Motschulsky) sent *Erchomus* to press before Kraatz's *Coproporus* was published. Campbell (1975: 179) quoted Motschulsky's 1859 discussion of the issue and disagreed with Blackwelder's conclusion, accepting *Coproporus* as the senior name. I follow Campbell's action.

Kraatz (1857a: 399) included no species in *Coproporus* by name but cited the genus as equivalent to Erichson's (1839b: 244) "Fam. I" of *Tachinus*. From this group of 18 species (see Erichson, 1839b: 245–253) Blackwelder (1938: 2) selected Coproporus rutilus Erichson, 1839 (ex Tachinus) as the type species of *Coproporus*; that designation is invalid. Articles 67.2.1 and 67.2.3 require that the type species be selected from one of the originally included species that was cited by available name. The first explicit citation of nominal species was by Kraatz (1858b: cxc), who included three names, Coproporus colchicus Kraatz, 1858, Coproporus ventriculus (Say, 1832) (ex Tachyporus), and Coproporus gibbulus (Erichson, 1839) (ex Tachinus). It is from among these three species that the type species must be chosen. R. Lucas (1920: 201) fixed C. colchicus (Kraatz) as the type species by subsequent designation.

#### Paratachinus

Cameron (1932: 396) proposed Paratachinus for two species, Paratachinus laticollis Cameron, 1932 and Paratachinus monticola Cameron, 1932. The generic name was unavailable (article 13.3), however, because no type species was designated. Blackwelder (1952: 293) designated Paratachinus laticollis Cameron as the type species by subsequent designation (Blackwelder, 1952: 293) and continued to attribute the name to Cameron. Because Blackwelder first made the name available, he is the author of Paratachinus (article 50.1), and the type species was fixed by original designation. Currently, Paratachinus is a junior synonym of Tachinus (Tachinoderus). Tachinus laticollis (Cameron) is a junior secondary homonym that was replaced by Tachinus oblongopunctatus Ullrich, 1975.

# SPELLING CHANGES

#### OSORIINAE

*Indosorius peguanus:* Bernhauer (1914b: 87) spelled the name *Indosorius pequanus*, but this was a lapsus since the name is based on Pegu. Other authors cited the name in the emended form, which is adopted here (see Cameron, 1930d: 298; Scheerpeltz, 1933: 1135).

*Priochirus corneensis:* Cameron (1928b: 425) described *Priochirus corneensis* from Borneo. The name is certainly a typograph-

ical error and should be *Priochirus borneensis*. Other authors cited the name in its emended form (e.g., Scheerpeltz, 1933: 1002); that spelling is adopted here.

# OXYTELINAE

*Bledius viriosis* Herman (1983) is the correct original spelling, not *Bledius viriosus*. Herman's use of "*viriosis*" on page 73 was a lapsus; the intended spelling was used on pages 4, 11, 21, 74, 75, 77, 107, 133, and 145 and is adopted under the "first reviser" provisions of article 24.2.3.

*Carpelimus wendeleri:* Herman (1970: 394) proposed the name to replace the preoccupied *Carpelimus oculatus* Wendeler, but he misspelled the name as *Carpelimus wendleri*. The name was intended to be a patronym based on H. Wendeler, so the name *Carpelimus wendleri* is a lapsus and is emended herein to *Carpelimus wendeleri*.

# PIESTINAE

*Piestus aper:* Scheerpeltz (1952: 292) emended the spelling of *Piestus aper* Sharp to *Piestus asper.* Sharp (1876: 39, 403, 408) cited *Piestus aper* three times, so I assume it was the intended spelling, thereby making Scheerpeltz's alteration an unjustified emendation.

# STAPHYLININAE

*Philonthus heilougjiangensis:* J. Li (1993: 60) used *Philonthus heilougjiangensis* as the spelling of the name at the beginning of the description, but in the caption to the figures on the same pages the name is spelled with an "n" rather than a "u". The name is certainly based on Heilongjiang, the province from which the species was collected. *Philonthus heilongjiangensis* J. Li is adopted here under the first reviser provisions of article 24.2.3.

*Philonthus khouzestanicus:* Boháč (1981: 356) used *Philonthus knouzestanicus* at the head of the description of the species, but in the abstract (p. 358) the spelling was *Philonthus khouzestanicus*. The name of the species was based on one of the collecting sites, Khouzestan, Iran. *Philonthus khouzestanicus* is adopted herein under the first reviser provisions of article 24.2.3.

*Quedius poggii:* Coiffait (1972b: 80) used the name *Quedius pogii* for a new species, but in the abstract (p. 79) he used *Quedius poggii.* The collector's name was Poggi, and I assume the species was named for that person. Under provisions of article 24.2.3 the name is corrected to *Quedius poggii.* 

#### UMLAUTS

According to article 32.5.2.1, for names that include an umlaut, the umlaut is deleted without further modification of the name unless it was published before 1985 and based on a German word or name. The following were published before 1985 with an umlaut but were based on non-Germanic names.

1. mjöbergi. This name was used as the original spelling for species now in Edaphus, Eleusis, Medon, Osorius, Philonthus, Priochirus, Prognathoides, and Stenus. Some authors subsequently spelled it in its original form with an umlaut (see Edaphus, Eleusis, Lispinus, Osorius, Philonthus, Priochirus, and Stenus), some as mjoebergi (see Prognathoides and Stenus), or some as mjobergi (see Edaphus, Eleusis, Priochirus, and Prognathoides). In Osorius and Lispinus, Cameron used *mjobergi*, but the name was cited subsequently as *mjöbergi*. The name *mjöb*ergi is based on a Swedish name (E. Mjöberg), so the correct spelling should be mjobergi. The name mjoebergi was an original spelling for a species now in Dibelonetes, and since it was originally published without diacritics no emendation is required.

2. *mjöbergianus*. This name was an original spelling in *Priochirus* and is a patronym in honor of E. Mjöberg. The name is emended herein to *mjobergianus*.

3. *sjöstedti*. This name was an original spelling for species now in *Gauropterus*, *Lithocharodes*, *Pinophilinus*, and *Platydracus* and is based on a Swedish name (Y. Sjöstedt). The correct spelling should be *sjostedti*. The name *sjoestedti* was the original spelling for species now in *Gigarthrus* and *Paederus*, and since they were originally published without diacritics no emendation is required.

4. *mäklini*. This name was an original spelling for species now in *Bryoporu* and was not based on a German name (F. Mäk-

published without diacritics no emendation is required.5. Lispinus pondoënsis is emended to Lispinus pondoensis.

and Stenus. Because the name was originally

#### NEW COMBINATIONS

# MICROPEPLINAE

Arrhenopeplus: Coiffait (1982a: 127) evidently elevated Arrhenopeplus but listed only two species in the genus. However, three other species had been listed in the subgenus and thus should be moved. The following species are **new combinations** transferred herein to Arrhenopeplus from Micropeplus: Arrhenopeplus denticollis (Coiffait, 1958) (note that this name is preoccupied and is replaced herein; see Homonyms), Arrhenopeplus thracicus (Coiffait, 1958), and Arrhenopeplus turcicus (Coiffait, 1958).

# OMALIINAE

*Dialycera*, formerly a subgenus of *Phyllodrepa* or *Hapalaraea*, was elevated (Zanetti, 1987: 202). *Dialycera armena* (Khnzorian, 1959) (ex *Phyllodrepa*) and *Dialycera striatipennis* (Aubé, 1850) (ex *Omalium*) were included in *Phyllodrepa* (*Dialycera*) and are herein transferred as **new combinations** to *Dialycera*.

Eusphalerum: Many species in Anthobium were moved to Eusphalerum after changes proposed by Tottenham (1939, 1949a), who noted that Anthobium had been misidentified because of confusion about the type species. Species formerly in Lathrimaeum took the generic name Anthobium. Many species were explicitly moved; some that should have been moved were not and are therefore moved herein. The following species are transferred from Anthobium to Eusphalerum and are new combinations: Eusphalerum birmanum (Scheerpeltz, 1965), E. bolivari (Koch, 1940), E. crebrepunctatum (Scheerpeltz, 1976), E. heydeni (Bernhauer, 1902), E. hispanicum (Brisout, 1866), E. kambaitiense (Scheerpeltz, 1965), E. lacinipenne (Scheerpeltz, 1976), E. lindbergi (Bernhauer, 1931), E. malaisei (Scheerpeltz, 1965), E. nepalense (Scheerpeltz, 1976), E. parvulum (Scheerpeltz, 1976), E. pfefferi (Roubal, 1941), E. rectangulum (Baudi, 1870), and E. sikkimi (Fauvel, 1904).

# OSORIINAE

Nacaeus: Blackwelder (1942: 79, 89; 1943: 120) listed 33 species in Pseudolispinodes Bernhauer, 1926, and he named four new subgenera: Liberiella, Liberiana, Rumeba, and Nacaeus. Later, he discovered he had misidentified the type species of Pseudolispinodes (Blackwelder, 1952: 373, see Tannea), a species that actually belonged in Lispinus. He (1952: 256) used Nacaeus for the group of species he had previously referred to as Pseudolispinodes and renamed the misidentified subgenus Pseudolispinodes as Tannea. He moved the species from Pseudolispinodes to Nacaeus by implication, rather than transferring them by name, so some of the species continue to be cited in Lispinus. To prevent further misunderstanding, the following species are new combinations in Nacaeus: Nacaeus aethiops (Eppelsheim, 1895) (ex Lispinus), N. beesoni (Cameron, 1924) (ex Lispinus), N. birmanus (Fauvel, 1895) (ex Lispinus), N. coarcticollis (Kraatz, 1859) (ex Lispinus), N. curtipennis (Bernhauer, 1929) (ex Lispinus), N. danforthi (Blackwelder, 1943) (ex Pseudolispinodes), N. fulvus (Motschulsky) (ex Lispinus), 1857, N. guadeloupae (Blackwelder, 1943) (ex Pseudolispinodes), N. impar (Cameron, 1913) (ex Lispinus), N. jyeri (Bernhauer, 1914) (ex Lispinus), N. luzonicus (Bernhauer, 1929) (ex Lispinus), N. morugae (Blackwelder, 1943) (ex Pseudolispinodes), N. nigrifrons (Fauvel, 1863) (ex Lispinus), N. nitidissimus (Bernhauer, 1905) (ex Ancaeus), N. reversus (Blackwelder, 1943) (ex Pseudolispinodes), N. rubidus (Cameron, 1925) (ex Lispinus), N. sericeiventris (Bernhauer, 1914) (ex Lispinus), N. sericeus (Coiffait, 1981) (ex Pseudolispinodes), and N. specularis (Bernhauer, 1904) (ex Lispinus). Pseudolispinodes is currently a subgenus of Lispinus.

#### **O**XYPORINAE

*Pseudoxyporus* Nakane and Sawada 1956: 116, 120, originally described as a genus,

was reduced by Campbell (1969: 230) to a subgenus of Oxyporus. The most recent citation for Pseudoxyporus listed it as a separate genus (Ito, 1999), and it has been so listed consistently in Japan. Consequently, several species must be transferred from Oxyporus to Pseudoxyporus and are **new combinations**. Pseudoxyporus lateralis (Gravenhorst, 1802), with synonym P. brevis (Melsheimer, 1844), P. occipitalis (Fauvel, 1864), P. quinquemaculatus (LeConte, 1895), and P. smithi (Bernhauer, 1895) are all transferred from Oxyporus.

#### OXYTELINAE

Homalotrichus parvipennis (Scheerpeltz, 1972a: 64) is a **new combination** transferred from *Coprophilus*. This species is described from Argentina and, although I have not examined it, the species is moved because all *Coprophilus*-like species in South America are in *Homalotrichus*.

Thinodromus andicola (Fairmaire and Germain, 1861: 450) is a **new combination** transferred from *Carpelimus*. The species, now listed as valid, was a synonym of *Carpelimus luteipes* when *C. luteipes* was moved from *Trogophloeus* to *Thinodromus*. I assume that *T. andicola* is similar to *C. luteipes*, and I therefore transfer it herein from *Carpelimus* to *Thinodromus*.

Thinodromus smithi (Bernhauer, 1909: 229) is a **new combination** transferred from *Carpelimus*. This species is moved to *Thinodromus* because *Thinodromus smithianus* Scheerpeltz, a junior synonym of *T. smithi* Bernhauer, was transferred to *Thinodromus* previously.

## STAPHYLININAE

Gabrius perexcelsus (Tottenham, 1939) is a **new combination** transferred from *Philonthus*. Schillhammer (1997: 34) moved the junior synonym, *Philonthus excelsus* Cameron, 1932, to *Gabrius*. Cameron's species is preoccupied and *Philonthus perexcelsus* (Tottenham) is a replacement name, so it follows to transfer of *Gabrius excelsus*.

*Platydracus:* The species included below were all cited in *Staphylinus (Platydracus)*. *Platydracus* is now recognized as a valid genus, and thus the following species are trans-

ferred from Staphylinus to Platydracus and are new combinations in the latter: Platydracus acupunctipennis (Bernhauer, 1907), P. associatus (Bernhauer, 1937), P. aurichalceus (Cameron, 1941), P. auroaeneus (Cameron, 1938), P. auronotatus (Fauvel, 1895), P. basicornis (Fauvel, 1895), P. bengalensis (Bernhauer, 1914), P. biguttatus (Bernhauer, 1937), P. bocandei (Fagel, 1951), P. bodongi (Bernhauer, 1906), P. bredoi (Fagel, 1950), P. bruchi (Bernhauer, 1934), P. bryanti (Cameron, 1918), P. cantharophagus (Fagel, 1950), P. chrysotrichopterus (Scheerpeltz, 1933) with its synonym P. chrysopterus (Brullé, 1842), P. contiguus (Cameron, 1938), P. cordilleranus (Bernhauer, 1917), P. curticollis (Bernhauer, 1917), P. decipiens (Kraatz, 1859), P. drescheri (Bernhauer, 1937), P. dudgeoni (Cameron, 1932), P. erichsoni (Boheman, 1848), P. falcimaculatus (Bernhauer, 1937), P. fauvelianus (Fagel, 1958), P. flavopilosus (Cameron, 1932), P. gabiruensis (Bernhauer, 1934), P. gemmatus (Fauvel, 1895), P. guineensis (Cameron, 1950), P. insolitus (Sharp, 1884), P. insularis (Cameron, 1941), P. javanus (Bernhauer, 1934), P. jeanneli (Chapman, 1939), P. latecarinatus (Bernhauer, 1937), P. lefevrei (Bernhauer, 1936), P. lewisi (Cameron, 1932), P. marmorellus (Fauvel, 1895), P. mimeticus (Bernhauer, 1917), P. mongendensis (Bernhauer, 1929), P. nigripennis (Cameron, 1941), P. nigriventris (Boheman, 1848), P. notativentris (Fauvel, 1905), P. pallidipes (Bernhauer, 1917), P. panamensis (Bernhauer and Schubert, 1914) and its synonym P. tarsalis (Sharp, 1884), P. philippinus (Cameron, 1941), P. prasinivariegatus (Bernhauer, 1921), P. preangeranus (Bernhauer, 1937), P. procerus (Gahan, 1893) with its synonyms P. leroyi (Bernhauer, 1938), P. purpurascens (Cameron, 1920), P. purpureoaureus (Bernhauer, 1915) with its synonyms P. basicornis (Bernhauer, 1932) and P. initicornis (Scheerpeltz, 1933), P. ruandae (Bernhauer, 1934), P. semiviolaceus (Cameron, 1932), P. subirideus (Kraatz, 1859), P. suspectus (Fauvel, 1904), P. suspiciosus (Bernhauer, 1937), P. uheheanus (Bernhauer, 1937), P. virgulatus (Fauvel, 1895), P. wittei (Fagel, 1950), and P. zavattarii (Gridelli, 1939).

# TACHYPORINAE

Bryophacis: The following species were most recently cited in Bryoporus (Bryophacis) and are herein transferred as new combinations to Bryophacis, which Campbell (1993: 6, 10, 38) cited as a valid genus: Bryophacis crassicornis (Mäklin, 1847) (ex Mycetoporus), B. fasciatus (Fauvel, 1891) (ex Megacronus), B. konecznii (Scheerpeltz, 1959) (ex Bryoporus), B. punctipennis (Thomson, 1861) (ex Lordithon) with its synonym B. plagiatus Eppelsheim, 1893, B. rufus (Erichson, 1839) (ex Bolitobius), B. strigellus (Reitter, 1909) (ex Bryoporus), and B. tirolensis (Jatzentkovsky, 1910) (ex Bryoporus) with its synonym B. gracilis (Luze, 1903) (ex Bryoporus).

Ischnosoma was originally described as a genus; however, with a few exceptions (e.g., Thomson, 1859, 1861; Rey, 1883) during most of its use, it has been listed as a subgenus or synonym of Mycetoporus. Recent authors, beginning with Campbell (1991), have recognized the two as separate genera. Some species were moved by name to Ischnosoma, whereas others listed in Mycetoporus (Ischnosoma) were not explicitly transferred. I herein move those species from Mycetoporus to Ischnosoma. The following are new combinations: Ischnosoma bolitobioides (Bernhauer, 1923), I. cassagnaui (Coiffait, 1984), I. chinense (Bernhauer, 1939), I. convexum (Sharp, 1888), I. discoidale (Sharp, 1888), I. duplicatum (Sharp, 1888), I. fusciventre (Tikhomirova, 1973), I. himalayicum (Cameron, 1926), I. indicum (Cameron, 1926), I. jaljalense (Coiffait, 1983), I. kilimandscharense (Bernhauer, 1915), I. maderi (Bernhauer, 1943), I. malaisei (Scheerpeltz, 1965), I. mandschuricum (Bernhauer, 1923), I. nepalense (Scheerpeltz, 1976), and I. simile (Tikhomirova, 1973).

Lordithon: Tottenham (1949a: 379) and Blackwelder (1952: 79) pointed out that Bolitobius was misidentified by many previous workers, that the name actually applied to Bryocharis, and that Lordithon was the correct name for the most of the species included in Bolitobius. Bolitobius and Bryocharis are objective synonyms, with the type species of both having been in Bryocharis. Bolitobius has priority over the genus listed as Bryocharis in the catalogs of Bernhauer and Schubert (1916: 463) and Scheerpeltz (1933: 1491; 1968: 103). The species that these authors listed in Bolitobius (Bernhauer and Schubert, 1916: 458: Scheerpeltz, 1933: 1487; 1968: 101) take the next available name, Lordithon. Most names that should be listed in Lordithon were never formally transferred, and some writers continued to use Bolitobius in the sense of Lordithon. Most of the following species were included in Bolitobius by Bernhauer and Schubert (1916), Scheerpeltz (1933, 1968), and by others. The species described before Tottenham (1949a) pointed out the misuse of Bol*itobius*, but after the above-cited catalogs, are transferred because I assume that the authors were using the older, erroneous concept of the genus. I am transferring the species described after the works of Tottenham (1949) and Blackwelder (1952) because the authors (Bernhauer, Cameron, Coiffait, Last, and Scheerpeltz) had used *Bolitobius* in the sense of Lordithon in other works, and thus I assume they continued doing so when describing their new species. Obviously some species may be transferred erroneously. Most of the species listed below were described in Bolitobius, a few as noted were described in other genera, but all were in Bolitobius prior to the present article. The following are transferred from Bolitobius to Lordithon as new combinations: Lordithon affinis (Cameron, 1950), L. apicicornis (Bernhauer, 1920), L. beesoni (Cameron, 1932), L. biplagiatus (Cameron, 1932), L. bipustulatus (Cameron, 1937), L. birmanus (Cameron, 1932), L. centralis (Cameron, 1932), L. championi (Cameron, 1932), L. cinctiventris (Sharp, 1888), L. copulatus (Luze, 1902), L. decipiens (Cameron, 1932), L. decipiens (Cameron, 1937) (note that this name is replaced in the section on homonyms in the present article), L. difficilis (Cameron, 1932), L. distinctus (Schubert, 1906), L. dohertyi (Cameron, 1932), L. drescheri (Cameron, 1937), L. elegans (Cameron, 1932), L. femoralis (Cameron, 1932), L. flaviceps (Cameron, 1932), L. franzi (Coiffait, 1981), L. frevi (Bernhauer, 1939), L. frigidus (Rey, 1883), L. gratellus (Cameron, 1932), L. humeralis (Cameron, 1926), L. imitator (Luze, 1901), L. indicus (Bernhauer, 1917), L. indubius

(Luze, 1901), L. japonicus (Sharp, 1874), L. javanus (Cameron, 1937), L. kantschiederi (Bernhauer, 1915), L. kashmiricus (Cameron, 1932), L. lambda (Fauvel, 1895) (ex Megacronus), L. lgockii (Bernhauer, 1928), L. limbifer (Fauvel, 1901), L. luteolunatoides (Scheerpeltz, 1965), L. melanurus (Fauvel, 1901), L. luteolunatus (Scheerpeltz, 1965), L. luzei (Bernhauer, 1929), L. maacki (Solsky, 1871), L. malaisei (Scheerpeltz, 1965), L. monticola (Cameron, 1926), L. nigricollis (J. Sahlberg, 1880), L. nigriventris (Cameron, 1944), L. niponensis (Cameron, 1933), L. nitidus (Motschulsky, 1858), L. patagonicus (Scheerpeltz, 1972), L. philippinus (Cameron, 1941), L. praenobilis (Kraatz, 1879), L. preangeranus (Cameron, 1937), L. proximus (Cameron, 1926), L. pulcher (Bernhauer, 1908), L. rostratus (Motschulsky, 1860), L. ruficeps (Bernhauer, 1938), L. scapularis (Cameron, 1932), L. semiflavus (Scheerpeltz, 1965), L. seriaticollis (Coiffait and Saiz, 1968), L. sharpianus (Scheerpeltz, 1933) and its synonym L. sharpi (Cameron, 1930), L. simlaensis (Cameron, 1926), L. simulans (Cameron, 1932), L. spinipes (Champion, 1922), L. sulciventris Coiffait, 1982, L. suturalis (Cameron, 1937) with its synonym L. collaris (Cameron, 1937), L. tarsalis (Cameron, 1932), L. transversulus (Reitter, 1909), L. variatus (Bernhauer and Schubert, 1916) (ex Bryoporus), L. vittula (Fauvel, 1895) (ex Megacronus), and L. xanthopterus (Champion, 1922).

Sepedophilus: Because the type species of Conurus (bipustulatus Fabricius, 1793), as well as its replacement names, Conosoma and *Conosomus*, is a species of *Tachinus*, the species described under those names must take the name of the next available name for the group, Sepedophilus. Most of the following species were described in Conurus, Conosoma, or Conosomus. Because the type species of these three genus-group names is in *Tachinus*, then without formal transfer they are all assigned to *Tachinus*. The following species are transferred from Tachinus to Sepedophilus where they are new combinations: Sepedophilus abdominalis (Cameron, 1919) (ex Conosoma), S. aberdarensis (Cameron, 1952) (ex Conosoma), S. abnormalis (Bernhauer, 1917) (ex Conosoma), S. activus (Olliff, 1886) (ex Conosoma), S. acu-

tus (Fauvel, 1889) (ex Conurus), S. aestivus (Rey, 1882) (ex Conurus), S. aethiopicus (Bernhauer, 1931) (ex Conosoma), S. africanus (Cameron, 1959) (ex Conosoma), S. alexandrovi (Bernhauer, 1938) (ex Conosoma), S. alienus (Cameron, 1947) (ex Conosoma), S. alluaudi (Fauvel, 1898) (ex Conurus), S. ambiguus (Olliff, 1886) (ex Conosoma), S. analis (Fauvel, 1895) (ex Conurus), S. andinus (Bernhauer, 1917) (ex Conosoma), S. andrewesi (Cameron, 1932) (ex Conosoma), S. angustiformis (Bernhauer, 1908) (ex Conosoma), S. antennalis (Broun, 1921) (ex Conurus), S. antennarius (Bernhauer, 1902) (ex Conurus), S. apicicornis (Fauvel, 1903) (ex Conurus), S. apiciventris (Fairmaire and Germain, 1861) (ex Conurus), S. asperellus (Broun, 1914) (ex Conurus), S. aureiventris (Cameron, 1941) (ex Conosomus), S. australis (Erichson, 1839) (ex Conurus), S. australicus (Cameron, 1943) (ex Conurus), S. badius (Broun, 1880) (ex Conurus), S. barycephalus (Lea, 1910) (ex Conosoma), S. basiflavus (Cameron, 1959) (ex Conosoma), S. basipennis (Bernhauer, 1941) (ex Conosoma), S. beesoni (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. bicolor (Bernhauer, 1910) (ex Conosoma), S. bilineatus (Bernhauer, 1917) (ex Conosoma), S. bipartitus (Lea, 1910) (ex Conosoma), S. birmanus (Fauvel, 1895) (ex Conurus), S. brasilianus (Wendeler, 1956) (ex Conosoma), S. brevipennis (Motschulsky, 1860) (ex Conosomus), S. brevis (Fauvel, 1895) (ex Conurus), S. burgeoni (Bernhauer, 1932) (ex Conosoma), S. buruensis (Bernhauer, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. calceatus (Peyerimhoff, 1923) (ex Conosoma), S. capensis (Tottenham, 1957) (ex Conosomus), S. celebensis (Cameron, 1942) (ex Conosoma), S. championi (Cameron, 1919) (ex Conosoma), S. circumflexus (Fauvel, 1878) (ex Conurus), S. collarti (Cameron, 1937) (ex Conosoma), S. commarti (Cameron, 1949) (ex Conosoma), S. confusus (Cameron, 1950) (ex Conosoma), S. conicicollis (Scheerpeltz, 1974) (ex Conosoma), S. connexus (Fauvel, 1905) (ex Conurus), S. convexiusculus (Wasmann, 1902) (ex Conosoma), S. convexus (Bernhauer, 1941) (ex Conosoma), S. corpulentus (Bernhauer, 1939) (ex Conosoma), S. c-rufum (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. curticornis (Bernhauer, 1934) (ex Conosoma), S.

cylindricus (Cameron, 1945) (ex Conosoma), S. deceptivus (Cameron, 1950) (ex Conosoma), S. decimus (Lea, 1899) (ex Conosoma), S. decipiens (Wendeler, 1956) (ex Conosoma), S. decoratus (Fauvel, 1907) (ex Conurus), S. decurtatus (Eppelsheim, 1892) (ex Conurus), S. difficilis (Cameron, 1950) (ex Conosoma), S. diffinis (Sharp, 1884) (ex Conosoma), S. dilutus (Bernhauer, 1915) (ex Conosoma), S. dimerus (Fauvel, 1895) (ex Conurus), S. discolor (Bernhauer, 1915) (ex Conosoma), S. discus (Fauvel, 1878) (ex Conurus), S. dubius (Bernhauer, 1940) (ex Conosoma), S. elegantulus (Cameron, 1941) (ex Conosoma), S. enixus (Olliff, 1886) (ex Conosoma), S. errans (Tottenham, 1957) (ex Conosomus), S. erythrinus (Hochhuth, 1872) (ex Conosoma), S. eximius (Olliff, 1886) (ex Conosoma), S. fasciipennis (Eppelsheim, 1895) (ex Conurus), S. fenestratus (Bernhauer, 1928) (ex Conosoma), S. ferrugatus (Cameron, 1950) (ex Conosoma), S. ferrugineus (Bernhauer, 1920) (ex Conosoma), S. festivus (Cameron, 1950) (ex Conosoma), S. filicornis (Scheerpeltz, 1974) (ex Conosoma), S. flavicornis (Cameron, 1948) (ex Conosoma), S. flavofasciatus (Bernhauer, 1915) (ex Conosoma), S. flavorufus (Cameron, 1932) (ex Conosoma), S. flavus (Iskakov, 1981) (ex Conosoma), S. fugitans (Tottenham, 1957) (ex Conosomus), S. fumatus (Erichson, 1839) (ex Conurus), S. fumigatus (Scheerpeltz, 1965) (ex Conosoma), S. gedvei (Cameron, 1952) (ex Conosoma), S. ghesquierei (Bernhauer, 1939) (ex Conosoma), S. glaberrimus (Bernhauer, 1920) (ex Coproporus), S. globicolis (Bernhauer, 1934) (ex Conosoma), S. gracilicornis (Fauvel, 1905) (ex Conurus), S. grandicolis (Bernhauer, 1934) (ex Conosoma), S. gravidus (Sharp, 1884) (ex Conosoma), S. grossus (Erichson, 1839) (ex Conurus), S. haemisphaericus (Bernhauer, 1915) (ex Conosoma), S. hattahensis (Oke, 1933) (ex Conosoma), S. himalayicus (Cameron, 1932) (ex Conosoma), S. hottentottus (Eichelbaum, 1913) (ex Conosoma), S. hubrichi (Bernhauer, 1923) (ex Conosoma), S. hudsoni (Cameron, 1945) (ex Conosoma), S. ignobilis (Cameron, 1950) (ex Conosoma), S. impennis (Fauvel, 1878) (ex Conurus), S. instabilis (Blackburn, 1888) (ex Conurus), S. interruptus (Erichson, 1839) (ex Conurus), S. kashmiricus (Bernhauer, 1915) (ex Conosoma), S. kobensis (Cameron, 1933) (ex Conosoma) laeviceps (Fauvel, 1879) (ex Conurus), S. lanceolatus (Lea, 1899) (ex Conosoma), S. lateripennis (Lea, 1912) (ex Conosoma), S. laticollis (Cameron, 1943) (ex Conosoma), S. latus (Sharp, 1876) (ex Conurus), S. ledouxi (Tronquet, 1981) (ex Conosoma), S. limnorioides (Lea, 1899) (ex Conosoma), S. linnavuorii (Scheerpeltz, 1974) (ex Conosoma), S. longepilosus (Tottenham, 1956) (ex Conosomus), S. loquax (Tottenham, 1957) (ex Conosomus), S. luniger (Fauvel, 1898) (ex Conurus), S. maculicollis (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. maculipennis (Solier, 1849) (ex Tachyporus), S. malayanus (Cameron, 1920) (ex Conosoma), S. maorinus (Broun, 1893) (ex Conurus), S. marginatus (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. medialis (Sharp, 1884) (ex Conosoma), S. micans (Scheerpeltz, 1974) (ex Conosoma), S. micantoides (Scheerpeltz, 1974) (ex Conosoma), S. mirabilis (Cameron, 1937) (ex Conosoma), S. montalbensis (Cameron, 1941) (ex Conosoma), S. morosus (Broun, 1921) (ex Conurus), S. morsitans (Tottenham, 1957) (ex Conosomus), S. myrmecophilus (Lea, 1910) (ex Conosoma), S. nigerrimus (Cameron, 1944) (ex Conosoma), S. nigromaculatus (Cameron, 1919) (ex Conosoma), S. nigropictus (Eppelsheim, 1884) (ex Conurus), S. nigrosetosus (Cameron, 1950) (ex Conosoma), S. nigrovestitus (Bernhauer, 1917) (ex Conosoma), S. niticollis (Broun, 1893) (ex Conurus), S. nitidicollis (Jarrige, 1957) (ex Conurus), S. nitidulus (Scheerpeltz, 1974) (ex Conosoma), S. nonus (Lea, 1899) (ex Conosoma), S. notatus (Fauvel, 1895) (ex Conurus), S. obesus (Boheman, 1848) (ex Conurus), S. oblongoguttatus (Scheerpeltz, 1965) (ex Conosoma), S. obscurevittatus (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. obscuripennis (Fairmaire and Germain, 1861) (ex Conurus), S. obscurus (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. obsoletus (Erichson, 1839) (ex Conurus), S. ocellarius (Fauvel, 1879) (ex Conurus), S. ochraceus (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. octavus (Lea, 1899) (ex Conosoma), S. orientalis (Cameron, 1950) (ex Conosoma), S. ornatus (Sharp, 1884) (ex Conosoma), S. orthodoxus (Lea, 1910) (ex Conosoma), S. papuanus (Cameron, 1937) (ex Conosoma),

S. parcepunctatus (Bernhauer, 1917) (ex Conosoma), S. parcus (Sharp, 1884) (ex Conosoma), S. parkeri (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. parvipennis (Scheerpeltz, 1974) (ex Conosoma), S. penangensis (Cameron, 1950) (ex Conosoma), S. periculus (Tottenham, 1956) (ex Conosomus), S. perplexus (Cameron, 1919) (ex Conosoma), S. persimilis (Cameron, 1932) (ex Conosoma), S. personatus (Fauvel, 1878) (ex Conurus), S. peruvianus (Bernhauer, 1917) (ex Conosoma), S. phoxus (Olliff, 1886) (ex Conosoma), S. picticollis (Fauvel, 1898) (ex Conurus), S. pictipennis (Kraatz, 1859) (ex Conosoma), S. pictus (Oke, 1933) (ex Conosoma), S. pilosicornis (Bernhauer, 1917) (ex Conosoma), S. plebeius (Sharp, 1884) (ex Conosoma), S. postpictus (Cameron, 1932) (ex Conosoma), S. primus (Lea, 1899) (ex Conosoma), S. pseudohimalayicus (Scheerpeltz, 1965) (ex Conosoma), S. pseudolitoreus (Bernhauer, 1938) (ex Conosoma), S. pulchricolor (Fauvel, 1905) (ex Conurus), S. pulchricornis (Fauvel, 1889) (ex Conurus), S. puncticollis (Cameron, 1952) (ex Conosoma), S. pustulatus (Bernhauer, 1908) (ex Conosoma), S. pustulifer (Bernhauer and Schubert, 1916) (ex Conosoma), S. pvrrhopterus (Stephens, 1835) (ex Conurus), S. quadrifasciatus (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. quadrimaculatus (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. quartus (Lea, 1899) (ex Conosoma), S. quinqueguttatus (Bernhauer, 1915) (ex Conosoma), S. quintus (Lea, 1899) (ex Conosoma), S. reptans (Tottenham, 1956) (ex Conosomus), S. roblensis (Coiffait and Saiz, 1968) (ex Conosomus), S. rudepunctatus (Scheerpeltz, 1965) (ex Conosoma), S. rufescens (Tottenham, 1956) (ex Conosomus), S. ruficeps (Cameron, 1925) (ex Conosoma), S. rufipalpis (MacLeay, 1873) (ex Conurus), S. rufiventris (Fauvel, 1898) (ex Conurus), S. rufobrunneus (Cameron, 1919) (ex Conosoma), S. rufoguttatus (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. rufotestaceus (Cameron, 1919) (ex Conosoma), S. rufus (Kraatz, 1859) (ex Conosoma), S. scapularis (Scheerpeltz, 1974) (ex Conosoma), S. sclopetus (Tottenham, 1956) (ex Conosomus), S. scutellaris (Lea, 1899) (ex Conosoma), S. secundus (Lea, 1899) (ex Conosoma), S. selangorensis (Cameron, 1950) (ex Conosoma), S. seminudus (Broun, 1921) (ex

Conurus), S. senegalensis (Cameron, 1939) (ex Conosoma), S. separatus (Cameron, 1947) (ex Conosoma), S. septimus (Lea, 1899) (ex Conosoma), S. sericeivestis (Scheerpeltz, 1974) (ex Conosoma), S. setigerus (Cameron, 1952) (ex Conosoma), S. setiventris (Cameron, 1943) (ex Conosoma), S. setosus (Cameron, 1941) (ex Conosoma), S. sextus (Lea, 1899) (ex Conosoma), S. signatus (Bernhauer, 1942) (ex Conosoma), S. similis (Cameron, 1932) (ex Conosoma), S. simillimus (Bernhauer, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. singularis (Last, 1972) (ex Conosomus), S. solidus (Last, 1972) (ex Conosomus), S. solieri (Coiffait and Saiz, 1968) (ex Conosomus), S. sparsepunctatus (Tottenham, 1957) (ex Conosomus), S. sparsus (Cameron, 1932) (ex Conosoma), S. suavis (Fauvel, 1895) (ex Conurus), S. subdepressus (Cameron, 1941) (ex Conosoma), S. subgracilis (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. subguttatus (Cameron, 1950) (ex Conosoma), S. subornatus (Sharp, 1884) (ex Conosoma), S. subparallelus (Bernhauer, 1935) (ex Conosoma), S. subpubescens (Schubert, 1902) (ex Conurus), S. subruber (Broun, 1880) (ex Conurus), S. subtestaceus (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. sumbaensis (Scheerpeltz, 1957) (ex Conosoma), S. tenuicornis (Lindberg, 1953) (ex Conosomus), S. tenuicornis (Scheerpeltz, 1974) (ex Conosoma) (note that this name is replaced in the section on homonyms of the present article), S. termitophilus (Wasmann, 1902) (ex Conosoma), S. testaceoangulatus (Scheerpeltz, 1965) (ex Conosoma), S. transversicollis (Scheerpeltz, 1974) (ex Conosoma), S. triangulus (Fauvel, 1878) (ex Conurus), S. trimaculatus (Scheerpeltz, 1974) (ex Conosoma), S. tristis (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. tropicus (Fauvel, 1900) (ex Conurus), S. tumidus (Erichson, 1839) (ex Conurus), S. unculus (Tottenham, 1956) (ex Conosomus), S. unicolor (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. variabilis (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. varius (Erichson, 1839) (ex Conurus), S. venustulus (Erichson, 1839) (ex Conurus), S. virgula (Fauvel, 1895) (ex Conurus), S. vittatus (Cameron, 1926) (ex Conosoma), S. walkeri (Cameron, 1919) (ex Conosoma), and S. zealandicus (Bernhauer, 1941) (ex Conosoma).

# SYNONYMS

#### EUAESTHETINAE

*Edaphus* LeConte 1861: 67 is a junior synonymic homonym of *Edaphus* Motschulsky 1857a: 7; they share the same type species. LeConte's use of *Edaphus* has been cited as having been originated by LeConte (Bernhauer and Schubert, 1911: 187), or as a subsequent use of Motschulsky's name (Puthz, 1974: 911). LeConte (1861: 67) did not refer to Motschulsky's use of the name and he later (1863: 25) specifically referred the name to himself.

*Edaphus nitidus* LeConte, 1861: 68 is a junior primary homonym and junior synonym of *Edaphus nitidus* Motschulsky, 1857: 7. The reference to LeConte's name is often cited as a subsequent reference for *nitidus* Motschulsky, and I assume that the two names represent the same species. Further support for the contention herein that the species are the same is the fact that some of the material studied by LeConte came from Motschulsky (LeConte, 1863b: 50).

*Stenaesthetus microphthalmus* Orousset, 1988: 163, proposed as an emendation of *Stenaesthetus microphtalmus* Jarrige, 1968: 873, is an **unjustified emendation** and junior synonym of the latter. There is no evidence that the name used by Jarrige was an incorrect original spelling (article 33.3.2), and thus the original spelling must be accepted.

#### MICROPEPLINAE

*Micropeplus maillei* Laporte, 1840: 193 is a junior primary homonym of *Micropeplus maillei* Guérin-Méneville, 1829: pl. 10, fig. 4. The name used by Guérin-Méneville's is a synonym of *Micropeplus staphylinoides* Marsham, 1802. *M. maillei* Laporte's designated name was not cited after the original description. Although Laporte did not mention the species named by Guérin-Méneville, Bernhauer and Schubert (1910: 29) listed Laporte's name as a subsequent reference of *Micropeplus maillei* Guérin-Méneville, so the two may be the same species. *Micropeplus maillei* Laporte is a **new synonym** of *Micropeplus staphylinoides* Marsham.

# OMALIINAE

Amphichroum canaliculatum (Erichson, 1840: 871) has an older synonym, Amphichroum dentipes (Heer, 1839: 181) that has been cited as a junior synonym of Amphichroum canaliculatum since 1858 and was not used as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 27 articles by 22 authors have been published listing Amphichroum canaliculatum Erichson as a valid (article 23.9.1.2); 22 of the articles are listed in a forthcoming catalog (Herman, in press), and the other five are cited herein (Franz, 1970: 288; Hugentobler, 1966: 59; Peez and Kahlen, 1977: 130; Schiller, 1989: 1039; Wörndle, 1950: 129). Amphichroum canaliculatum (Erichson) is a nomen protectum and A. dentipes (Heer) and is a nomen ob**litum** (article 23.9.2).

Anthophagus alpinus (Fabricius, 1793: 526) (ex Staphylinus) is a **new synonym** of Anthophagus alpinus (Paykull, 1790: 134) (ex Staphylinus). Although Paykull's name is older, when he cited Staphylinus alpinus again in 1800, he attributed it to Fabricius, and thus the Fabricius and Paykull species are probably the same.

Anthophagus angusticollis (Mannerheim, 1830: 56) has two older synonyms, Anthophagus fulvus (De Geer, 1774: 25) and Anthophagus abbreviatus (Fabricius, 1779: 263). Anthophagus fulvus has been cited as a synonym of Anthophagus caraboides (Linné, 1758) or Anthophagus angusticollis since 1789 and was not used a valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). Anthophagus abbreviatus was listed as a junior synonym of Anthophagus caraboides for brief periods in the 1800s; in 1933 it was listed as a junior synonym of Anthophagus caraboides, and from 1964 to the present it has been cited as a junior synonym of A. angusticollis. However, A. abbreviatus was listed as valid from 1895 through at least 1909 (Luze, 1902: 516; Bernhauer and Schubert, 1910: 78; Reitter, 1909: 183) and does not satisfy the provisions of article 23.9.1.1. In the last 50 years at least 29 articles by 23 authors have been published listing Anthophagus angusticollis (Mannerheim) as a valid name (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family

(Herman, in press). Although *A. fulvus* was not cited as valid after 1899, it and *A. angusticollis* were listed as synonyms only once in 1933 by Koch, so the synonymy needs verification. *Anthophagus abbreviatus* was cited as valid after 1899, but its synonymy with *A. angusticollis* also needs verification because Boháč (1993: 42) cited *A. abbreviatus* as a misidentification of *A. angusticollis*. Until the taxonomic problems have been resolved, it is premature to replace *A*.

*angusticollis*. Furthermore, because resurrection of one of the older synonyms would compromise stability, the use of *A. angusticollis* will be maintained pending a ruling by the Commission under provisions of article 23.9.3.

Anthophagus fallax Märkel and Kiesenwetter, 1848: 326 is a primary junior homonym and a **new synonym** of Anthophagus fallax Kiesenwetter, 1848: 18. They both have the same type locality and essentially the same description. The name by Märkel and Kiesenwetter is usually cited as the original reference, but Kiesenwetter's article was published in September and Märkel and Kiesenwetter's in November.

*Eusphalerum foveicolle* (Fauvel, 1871a: 73) has an older synonym, *Eusphalerum cribricolle* (Baudi, 1870: 403). Baudi's name was not used as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In a forthcoming catalog (Herman, in press), *A. foveicolle* is listed with only four references in the last 50 years, falling short of satisfying provisions of article 29.9.1.2. However, since diligent search will likely result in the required number of references, it is premature to resurrect a name that is essentially forgotten.

*Eusphalerum rectangulum* (Fauvel, 1871a: 17) is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of *Eusphalerum rectangulum* (Baudi, 1870: 404). Baudi cited the species as "*rectangulum* Fauvel, in litt", so the later description of *Anthobium rectangulum* by Fauvel is probably the same species. Fauvel (1871b: 78) referred to *Anthobium rectangulum* (Baudi) as a subsequent reference of *Anthobium rectangulum* Fauvel.

Eusphalerum sorbi (Gyllenhal, 1810: 206) has an older synonym, Eusphalerum testaceum (Gravenhorst, 1806: 218). Eusphalerum testaceum (Gravenhorst) has been a synonym of Eusphalerum sorbi (Gyllenhal) since 1839 and, until 1996, was not used as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 28 articles by 26 authors have been published listing Eusphalerum sorbi as valid a name (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). However, Adám (1996: 237) resurrected E. *testaceum*, thereby compromising application of article 23.9.1. Use of the older name will create significant instability. The younger name has been cited as valid in many publications and is known by many workers, and thus its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is to be maintained (article 23.9.3).

Lesteva punctata Erichson, 1839a: 618 has an older synonym, Lesteva villosa (Waltl, 1838: 268). Lesteva villosa has been a synonym of Lesteva punctata since 1840 and, until 1996, was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 29 articles by 21 authors have been published listing Lesteva punctata Erichson as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). However, Ádám (1996b: 47) resurrected L. villosa, thereby compromising application of article 23.9.1. Use of the older name, which is essentially forgotten one, will create significant instability. The younger name has been cited as valid in many publications and is known by many workers, and thus its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is to be maintained (article 23.9.3).

*Omalium rivulare* (Paykull, 1789: 65) has an older synonym, *Omalium cursor* (O. Müller, 1776: 97). *Omalium cursor* has been a junior synonym of *Omalium rivulare* since 1840 and, until 1996, was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 54 articles by 47 authors have been published listing *Omalium rivulare* (Paykull) as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). However, Ádám (1996a: 238) resurrected *O. cursor*, thereby compromising application of article 23.9.1. Use of the older name, which is essentially forgotten one, will create significant instability. The younger name has been cited as valid in many publications and is known by many workers, so its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is to be maintained (article 23.9.3).

*Phloeonomus chlorizans* Bernhauer, 1905: 10 is a junior secondary homonym and **new synonym** of *Phloeonomus chlorizans* (Fauvel, 1904: 89). At the end of his description of the species, Bernhauer wrote that the species was based on a specimen labelled as "*chlorizans* Fauv. i.l." Presumably, Bernhauer published what he thought was a manuscript name, and I assume the two names are the same species.

Phloeostiba plana (Paykull, 1792: 145) has an older synonym, Phloeostiba flavipes (Linné, 1758). Phloeostiba flavipes (Linné) has been attributed erroneously to Fabricius, 1793, by most workers, but Fabricius attributed the species to Linné. Phloeostiba flavipes has been a synonym of Phloeostiba plana since 1839 and, until 1996, was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 33 articles by 30 authors have been published listing Phloeostiba plana (Paykull) as a valid species (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). However, Ádám (1996a: 238) resurrected P. plana, thereby compromising application of article 23.9.1. Use of the older name will create significant instability. The younger name has been cited as valid in many publications and is known by many workers, so its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission: meanwhile, use of the junior name is to be maintained (article 23.9.3).

*Phyllodrepoidea crenata* Ganglbauer, 1895: 724 has an older synonym, *Phyllodrepoidea creatoris* (Gozis, 1886: 15). Gozis proposed the name to replace Gravenhorst's misidentification of *Omalium crenatum* (1802: 114). Gravenhorst redescribed *Staphylinus crenatus* Fabricius (1793: 525), attributed the species to that author, and moved the name to *Omalium*. All subsequent authors attributed the omaliine species to Gravenhorst. However, the species attributed to Gravenhorst is a misidentification. The true Staphylinus crenatus Fabricius is a valid species in Acidota. Although a misidentification, because P. crenata is the type species of Phyllodrepoidea, its use can be maintained under provisions of article 70.3.1, but the authorship and date of publication become Gravenhorst in 1895 (articles 11.10, 67.13.1). Gozis replaced Gravenhorst's misidentification with Phyllodrepoidea creatoris, but the name has been virtually unused. In a forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press) it is cited only once, as a junior synonymm of P. crenata, after its original proposal. On the other hand, P. crenata has been cited at least 25 times by 23 authors in the last 50 years. Under provisions of article 70.3.2, Phyllodrepoidea crenata Ganglbauer (= crenata sensu Gravenhorst) is the type species of Phyllodrepoidea.

Xylodromus testaceus (Erichson, 1840: 885) (ex Omalium), a junior primary homonym of Eusphalerum testaceum (Gravenhorst, 1806: 218) (ex Omalium), has an older synonym, Xylodromus pygmaeus (Gravenhorst, 1806: 206). Xylodromus pygmaeus (Gravenhorst) has been a junior synonym of Xvlodromus testaceus since 1840 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 27 articles by 21 authors have been published listing Xylodromus testaceus (Erichson) as a valid species (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). However, Ádám (1996a: 238) resurrected another junior synonym, Xylodromus heterocerus (Flori, 1900: 90), thereby compromising application of article 23.9.1. Adám's action was taken because X. testaceus (Erichson) is a junior primary homonym of Eusphalerum testaceum (Gravenhorst). Although E. testaceum is a junior synonym of Eusphalerum sorbi (Gyllenhal, 1810), the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899 (article 23.9.5). Xylodromus testaceus has been cited as valid in many publications and is known by many workers, so its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is to be maintained (article 23.9.3).

#### OSORIINAE

*Eleusis kraatzi* Fauvel, 1878b: 207, an unnecessary replacement name, is a **new synonym** of *Eleusis terminata* Fauvel, 1869: 494. Both names were proposed to replace the *Eleusis apicipennis* (Kraatz, 1859: 183) (ex *Isomalus*), which is a junior primary homonym of *E. apicipennis* (Fairmaire, 1849) (ex *Isomalus*).

Leptochirus laeviventris Bernhauer, 1903: 121, 126 is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of Leptochirus laeviventris Fauvel, 1902: 16. Bernhauer wrote that the species was based on a specimen labelled as "laeviventris Fauv. i.l.". Presumably, Bernhauer published what he thought was a manuscript name, and thus I assume the two names are the same species. Bernhauer and Schubert (1910: 13) cited Bernhauer's use of the name as a subsequent reference of Fauvel's name.

Neolosus tenuicornis (Bernhauer, 1904: 13) (ex Holosus) is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of Neolosus tenuicornis (Fauvel, 1903: 236) (ex Holosus). Bernhauer and Schubert (1910: 20) cited the reference to Holosus tenuicornis Bernhauer as a subsequent citation for Holosus tenuicornis Fauvel, 1903. I assume the two names represent the same species.

Osorius: In 1941, Cameron published a series of articles describing new species of Staphylinidae from the Philippines. In the first of that series (Cameron, 1941b: 430-447) he wrote that he purchased a collection of Philippine Staphylinidae that had been examined by Max Bernhauer. He further stated that "Many of these were new and have now been described by that authority [Bernhauer]; of the others no descriptions have yet appeared, and in this paper. I describe these species, retaining the manuscript names used by him." In his descriptions Cameron included the phrase "(Bernh. in litt.)" beside most of the new Philippine species. In 1942, Bernhauer published 41 new species of Osorius from the Philippines; some of them were homonyms of Osorius species described by Cameron the previous year. Evidence supports recognizing the homonyms described by Bernhauer and by Cameron as homonymic synonyms.

*Osorius basipennis* Bernhauer, 1942b: 221 is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of *Osorius basipennis* Cameron, 1941b: 494.

Osorius brunneipennis Bernhauer, 1942a: 223 is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of Osorius brunneipennis Cameron, 1941c: 495.

*Osorius impressiceps* Bernhauer, 1942b: 222 is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of *Osorius impressiceps* Cameron, 1941c: 493.

Osorius mephistopheles Bernhauer, 1942b: 218 is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of Osorius mephistopheles Cameron, 1941c: 493.

*Osorius unicornis* Bernhauer, 1942b: 216 is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of *Osorius unicornis* Cameron, 1941c: 494.

*Priochirus cameroni* Scheerpeltz, 1933: 1002 is an unnecessary replacement name for and a **new synonym** of *Priochirus difficilis* Cameron, 1928b: 426, 427. Scheerpeltz proposed *Priochirus cameroni* for *P. difficilis* Cameron, 1928 because he thought it was a junior homonym of another species named by Cameron (1920: 142). There was no such name on that page, nor was there a specimen of the species said to be described in 1920 in the Cameron collection at the Natural History Museum, London.

#### OXYTELINAE

Anotylus inornatus (Cameron, 1929b: 445) (ex Oxytelus) is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of Anotylus inornatus (Cameron, 1928a: 104, 105) (ex Oxytelus). The descriptions of the two are essentially the same.

Anotylus rugosus (Fabricius, 1775: 267) has an older synonym, Anotylus striatus (Ström, 1768: 333). Anotylus striatus has been a synonym of Anotylus rugosus since 1840 and, until 1996, was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 53 articles by 49 authors have been published listing Anotylus rugosus Fabricius as a valid species (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). However, Ádám (1996a: 240) resurrected *A. striatus*, thereby compromising application of article 23.9.1. Use of the older name will create significant instability. The younger name has been cited as valid in many publications and is known by many workers, and thus its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is to be maintained (article 23.9.3).

Bledius graellsi Fauvel, 1865: 309, has an older synonym, Bledius antilope Peyron, 1858: 431. Bledius antilope Peyron has been a junior synonym of Bledius graellsi Fauvel since 1872 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 9 articles by 8 authors (see Herman, in press) have been published listing Bledius graellsi Fauvel as a valid species; however, the number of citations do not conform to requirements of article 23.9.1.2. Use of the older name will create significant instability. The younger name has been cited as valid in many older publications and diligent search will likely result in finding more articles citing B. graellsi in the last 50 years. The species is known to many workers, and thus its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is to be maintained (article 23.9.3).

Bledius verticalis Notman, 1921: 148, is a **new synonym** of Bledius turgidus Casey, 1889: 52. In a revision (Herman, 1983: 97) of the North American species, the type of Bledius verticalis was unavailable for study, but since then the holotype, which is in the Staten Island Museum of Art and Science in New York City, has been examined. Bledius verticalis was collected from within the known geographical range of Bledius turgidus and differs from the latter in no appreciable way.

Carpelimus despectus (Mulsant and Rey, 1870: 113) (ex Trogophloeus) is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of Carpelimus despectus (Baudi, 1870: 400) (ex Trogophloeus). Both were described in Trogophloeus, but Bernhauer and Schubert (1911: 106) listed Mulsant and Rey's description as a subsequent citation for Carpelimus despectus (Baudi), so the two are probably synonyms.

Carpelimus elongatulus (Erichson, 1839a:

601) has an older synonym, *Carpelimus bicolon* Stephens, 1834: 324, which has been a synonym of *Carpelimus elongatulus* since 1858 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 32 articles by 29 authors have been published listing *Carpelimus elongatulus* (Erichson) as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). *Carpelimus elongatulus* (Erichson) is a **nomen protectum** and *C. bicolon* Stephens a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

Carpelimus rivularis (Motschulsky, 1860a: 552) has an older synonym, Carpelimus obscurus Stephens, 1834: 326, which has been a synonym of Carpelimus bilineatus Erichson or Carpelimus rivularis since 1858 and, until 1996, was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 45 articles by 35 authors have been published listing Carpelinus rivularis (Motschulsky) (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). However, Ádám (1996a: 239) resurrected C. obscurus, thereby compromising application of article 23.9.1. Use of the older name will create significant instability. The younger name has been cited as valid in many publications and is known by many workers, and thus its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is to be maintained (article 23.9.3).

Deleaster dichrous (Gravenhorst, 1802: 188) has an older synonym, Deleaster brassicae (Scopoli, 1763: 102), which has been a synonym of Deleaster dichrous since 1840 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 36 articles by 32 authors have been published listing Deleaster dichrous Gravenhorst as a valid species (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Deleaster dichrous (Gravenhorst) is a **nomen protectum** and D. brassicae (Scopoli) a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

Ochthephilus planus (LeConte, 1877: 241) (ex Ancyrophorus) is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of Ochthephilus planus (LeConte, 1861: 69) (ex Ancyropho*rus*). LeConte noted (1877: 242) that *O. planus* (as *Ancyrophorus*) was included in his 1863 *List of Coleoptera*, but he wrote that he had neglected to describe it. In fact, he described the species in 1861.

Oxytelus afrus Herman, 1970: 409 is a junior synonym of Oxytelus africanus (Bernhauer, 1912b: 179) (ex Delopsis), which is a junior secondary homonym of Anotylus africanus (Luze, 1904) (ex Oxytelus). Herman replaced Oxytelus africanus (Bernhauer) with Oxytelus afrus. That action contravenes article 59.2 of the Code, so Oxytelus africanus Bernhauer is **resurrected** (article 59.4).

*Rimba microphthalma* (Bernhauer, 1905: 12) (ex *Delopsis*) is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of *Rimba microphthalma* (Fauvel, 1904: 95) (ex *Delopsis*). At the end of his description of *Delopsis microphthalma*, Bernhauer wrote that the species was based on specimens determined as *Delopsis microphthalma* Fauvel. Bernhauer and Schubert (1911: 108) cited Bernhauer's 1905 article as a subsequent reference for *Delopsis microphthalma* Fauvel.

#### PROTEININAE

Proteinus atomarius Erichson, 1840: 904, has an older synonym, Proteinus clavicornis Stephens, 1834: 334. Most workers have listed Proteinus clavicornis Stephens as a synonym of Proteinus atomarius Erichson, but some (e.g., Gemminger and Harold, 1868: 672; Fauvel, 1871b: 57; J. Sahlberg, 1876: 224), recognizing that Proteinus clavicornis is the older name, cited that as the senior name. However, some writers cited Fauvel as the author of Proteinus clavicornis and listed it as a synonym of Proteinus atomarius (e.g., see Mulsant and Rey, 1878c: 231, Ganglbauer, 1895: 760, Bernhauer and Schubert, 1910: 33). After Fauvel was cited as the author of the name, Proteinus clavicornis Stephens disappeared from catalogs. I assume the two species names represent the same species. Proteinus clavicornis Stephens has been a synonym of Proteinus atomarius since at least 1895 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 34 articles by 30 authors have been published listing Proteinus atomarius Erichson as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). *Proteinus atomarius* Erichson is a **nomen protectum** and *P. clavicornis* Stephens a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

# STAPHYLININAE

Apoquedius Scheerpeltz, 1972: 24, 25, is a new synonym of Loncovilius Germain, 1903: 439. Scheerpeltz described Apoquedius as a subgenus of Quedius, included two species, Quedius (Apoquedius) aeneipennis Fairmaire and Germain, 1861: 428, and Quedius (Apoquedius) piciformis Bernhauer, 1912a: 177, and designated the former as type species of the subgenus. Earlier, Coiffait and Saiz (1966: 404; 1968: 365) moved Quedius heeri Blackwelder, a replacement name for Quedius aeneipennis Fairmaire and Germain, from Quedius to Loncovilius. Scheerpeltz neither commented on the transfer by Coiffait and Saiz, nor cited their 1966 or 1968 articles, so he probably overlooked the transfer. I continue to include *aeneipennis* in Loncovilius rather than move it back to Quedius. Because Loncovilius aeneipennis is the type species of Apoquedius, Apoquedius is a junior synonym of *Loncovilius*.

Bisnius puella (Nordmann, 1837: 101) has three older synonyms, Bisnius watsoni (Stephens, 1832: 240), Bisnius minax (Stephens, 1833: 241), and Bisnius impressicollis (Stephens, 1835: 436). Bisnius watsoni has been a synonym of Bisnius minax or Bisnius puella since 1854. Bisnius minax and Bisnius impressicollis Stephens have been synonyms of Bisnius puella since 1858 and 1854, respectively. None of the three names was cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 34 articles by 29 authors have been published listing Bisnius puella Nordmann as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Bisnius puella (Nordmann) is a **nomen pro**tectum and B. watsoni (Stephens), B. minax (Stephens), and B. impressicollis (Stephens) are nomina oblita (article 23.9.2).

*Diatrechus cameroni* Scheerpeltz, 1970: 88, is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of *Diatrechus cameroni* Tottenham, 1956: 310. Scheerpeltz proposed *D. ca*- *meroni* as a replacement name for *Diatrechus paederomimus* Cameron, 1933: 43, but the name had already been replaced by *D. cameroni* Tottenham.

*Erichsonius coloratus* (Cameron, 1959: 115) (ex *Actobius*) is a junior secondary homonym and **new synonym** of *Erichsonius coloratus* Tottenham, 1956: 262. Tottenham attributed the species to Cameron but validated it first in a key.

*Erichsonius dundoensis* (Cameron, 1959: 115) (ex *Actobius*) is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of *Erichsonius dundoensis* Tottenham, 1956: 225, 263. Tottenham attributed the species to Cameron but validated it first in a key.

Gabrius flavimanus (Gemminger and Harold, 1868: 588) is a new synonym of Gabrius osseticus (Kolenati, 1846: 20). Gemminger and Harold proposed Philonthus flavimanus to replace Philonthus flavipes (Motschulsky, 1860: 567) (ex Gabrius), which at the time was a junior secondary homonym of Philonthus flavipes Kraatz, 1859: 88. Schillhammer (1997: 77) cited Gabrius flavimanus as a synonym of Gabrius femoralis (Hochhuth, 1851: 19) and G. flavipes Motschulsky as a junior synonym of G. osseticus (Schillhammer, 1997: 80). Because Philonthus flavimanus was a replacement name for Philonthus flavipes Motschulsky, it follows the disposition of that name.

Gabrius osseticus (Kolenati, 1946: 20) has two older synonyms, Gabrius vernalis (Gravenhorst, 1806: 75) (ex Staphylinus) and Gabrius suaveolens Stephens, 1833: 249. Gabrius vernalis (Gravenhorst), which is a junior primary homonym of Tachyporus vernalis (O. Müller, 1776) (ex Staphylinus), was used as the valid name for the species until at least 1977, when G. osseticus was resurrected to replace it. G. suaveolens is older than G. osseticus but has not been cited as valid since 1858 (article 23.9.1.1) and is effectively a forgotten name. However, because G. osseticus was so recently ressurected, finding a sufficient number of references to satisfy provisions of article 23.9.1.2 might be difficult. In a forthcoming catalog (Herman, in press) 11 articles by 11 authors are cited, but certainly more can be found with further searching. Because G. osseticus has been the name recently applied to the species and because *G. suaveolens* is a forgotten name, it is appropriate to continue using the younger name.

Gabrius subnigritulus Smetana, 1956: 171 is a **new synonym** of Gabrius appendiculatus Sharp, 1910. Most authors attributed Gabrius subnigritulus to Reitter, 1909, who used the name in Philonthus (Gabrius) as an aberration of Philonthus nigritulus (Gravenhorst, 1802). Reitter used an rewritten unavailable name (articles 1.3.4, 45.5). Smetana (1956) seems to have been the first to make the name available when he cited it (with Reitter as the author) as the senior synonym to *Gabrius appendiculatus* Sharp; however, because Smetana made the name available and Sharp's name is older, then G. subnigritulus Smetana is a junior synonym of G. appendiculatus.

Gastrisus opulentus (Bernhauer, 1911a: 417) (ex Trigonopselaphus) is a junior secondary homonym and new synonym of Gastrisus opulentus (Erichson, 1840: 497) (ex Philonthus). Scheerpeltz (1933: 1415) transferred Trigonopselaphus opulentus Bernhauer to Gastrisus, but on page 1417 he listed Bernhauer's use of the name (T. opulentus) as a subsequent reference of Gastrisus opulentus (Erichson). Both names are from the same type locality, and Bernhauer and Erichson used essentially the same characters to describe their respective species. Bernhauer described his species using specimens from the collection of Apels and stated that it was under "opulentus Er." in that collection.

*Hesperus luluanus* Scheerpeltz, 1971: 184, is a **new synonym** of *Hesperus luluanus* Scheerpeltz, 1956: 23. Both were described from Congo, both were cited as "nov spec. (Bernhauer i.l.)", and the characters cited seem to be similar.

*Hesperus natalensis* Scheerpeltz, 1971: 188, is a **new synonym** of *Hesperus natalensis* Scheerpeltz, 1956: 22. Both are from Natal and are similar in size and described characters, evidently representing the same species.

Heterothops binotatus Erichson, 1840: 516, is a junior secondary homonym and **new synonym** of Heterothops binotatus (Gravenhorst, 1802: 28) (ex Staphylinus). Bernhauer and Schubert (1916: 412) listed *Heterothops binotatus* Erichson as a subsequent citation of *Heterothops binotatus* (Gravenhorst). Erichson described the species without attribution to another author, but the two are probably the same.

Heterothops xantholinoides (MacLeay, 1873: 141) (ex Philonthus) is a new synonym of Heterothops fauveli Bernhauer and Schubert, 1916: 412. Heterothops fauveli is a replacement name for the junior primary homonym Heterothops flavicollis Fauvel, 1878b: 559. Lea (1925: 230) cited H. flavicollis Fauvel as a synonym of Heterothops xantholinoides (MacLeay), which is a junior primary homonym of Neobisnius xantholinoides (Wollaston, 1864: 577) (ex Philonthus). Because Heterothops flavicollis is a synonym of Heterothops xantholinoides (MacLeay) and both are junior homonyms, the latter is thus a junior synonym of Heterothops fauveli, the replacement name for Heterothops flavicollis.

Leptacinus batychrus (Gyllenhal, 1827: 480) has an older synonym, Leptacinus diaphanus (Marsham, 1802: 514), which has been a synonym of Leptacinus batychrus since 1858 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 43 articles by 33 authors have been published listing Leptacinus batychrus Gyllenhal as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Leptacinus batychrus (Gyllenhal) is a **nomen protectum** and L. diaphanus (Marsham) a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

Leptacinus filum Olliff, 1887: 477, is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of Leptacinus blackburni Lea, 1925: 215. Lea proposed L. blackburni to replace Leptacinus filum Blackburn, 1888: 7, which was a junior primary homonym of Leptacinus filum Kraatz, 1859: 111. However, although Olliff (1887) cited Blackburn as the author of L. filum, his article was published before Blackburn's. The two species are presumably the same since both authors used essentially the same characters and their specimens are from the same type locality.

Loncovilius germaini (Scheerpeltz, 1933: 1344) is a junior synonym of the older species, Loncovilius chilensis Bernhauer and Schubert, 1914: 332. Both names were pro-

posed to replace the junior primary homonym *Loncovilius cribripennis* (Germain, 1903: 412) (ex *Philonthus*).

Loncovilius heeri (Blackwelder, 1944: 144) (ex Quedius) is an unnecessary replacement name for Loncovilius aeneipennis (Fairmaire and Germain, 1861: 428) (ex Quedius). Blackwelder replaced the Fairmaire and Germain name because he thought it to be a junior secondary homonym of Quedius aeneipennis (Heer, 1834: 75) (ex Staphylinus). However, Heer's name is a nomen nudum, as there was no description, definition, or indication (article 12.1). Loncovilius aeneipennis (Fairmaire and Germain) is resurrected.

*Megalinus glabratus* (Gravenhorst, 1802: 178) has an older synonym, *Megalinus ferrugineus* (Rossi, 1790: 248). *Megalinus ferrugineus* (Rossi) has been a synonym of *Megalinus glabratus* since 1840 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 37 articles by 26 authors have been published listing *Megalinus glabratus* Gravenhorst as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). *Megalinus glabratus* (Gravenhorst) is a **nomen protectum** and *M. ferrugineus* (Rossi) a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

Neobisnius villosulus (Stephens, 1833: 251) has an older synonym, Neobisnius palmula (Gravenhorst, 1802: 49). Neobisnius palmula has been a synonym of Neobisnius villosulus since 1868 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 26 articles by 23 authors have been published listing Neobisnius villosulus (Stephens) as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Neobisnius villosulus (Stephens) is a **nomen protectum** and N. palmula (Gravenhorst) a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

Notolinus picticornis (Olliff, 1887: 476) (ex Leptacinus) is a junior primarly homonym and **new synonym** of Notolinus socius (Fauvel, 1877: 247). Blackburn described Notolinus picticornis (Blackburn, 1888: 7) (ex Leptacinus), a species that is now a synonym of Notolinus socius. The description of Leptacinus picticornis Olliff appeared the year before Blackburn's species of the same name. Olliff attributed the species to Blackburn and used the same characters, and thus the two species are certainly the same.

Ocypus fulvipennis Erichson, 1840: 413 has two older synonyms, Ocypus picipennis (Lacordaire, 1835: 374) and Ocypus vagans (Heer, 1839: 255). Ocypus vagans has been a synonym of Ocypus fulvipennis since 1849. Ocypus picipennis is a junior secondary homonym and has been a junior synonym of O. fulvipennis since 1895. Neither name was cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 30 articles by 26 authors have been published listing Ocypus fulvipennis Erichson as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Ocypus fulvipennis Erichson is a nomen protectum and O. vagans (Heer) and O. picipennis (Lacordaire) are nomina oblita (article 23.9.2).

Ocypus picipennis (Fabricius, 1793: 521) has an older synonym, Ocypus penetrans (O. Muller, 1776: 97), which has been a synonym of Ocypus picipennis since 1840 and, until 1996, was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 40 articles by 25 authors have been published listing Ocypus picipennis Fabricius as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). However, Ádám (1996a: 246) resurrected O. penetrans, thereby compromising application of article 23.9.1. Use of the older name will create significant instability. The younger name has been cited as valid in many publications and is known by many workers, and thus its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission: meanwhile, use of the junior name is to be maintained (article 23.9.3).

*Phallolinus* Ádám, 1987: 135, 148 is a **new synonym** of *Xantholinus* (*Paraphallus*) Bordoni, 1972: 162, 197. Both genus-group names share the same type species, *Xantholinus longiventris* Heer.

Philonthus intermedius (Lacordaire, 1835: 388) has an older synonym, Philonthus aeratus Stephens, 1832: 228. Philonthus aeratus has been a synonym of Philonthus chalceus Stephens or Philonthus intermedius (Lacordaire) since 1854 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 42 articles by 31 authors have been published listing *Philonthus intermedius* (Lacordaire) as a valid species (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). *Philonthus intermedius* (Lacordaire) is a **nomen protectum** and *P. aeratus* Stephens a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

*Philonthus klugi* Bordoni, 1984: 344 is a **new synonym** of *Philonthus sanamus* Tottenham, 1955: 163. Bordoni proposed *P. klugi* to replace the junior secondary homonym *Philonthus nitidicollis* Klug, 1855: 644, but Tottenham had already published a new name.

Philonthus laminatus (Creutzer, 1799: 128) has an older synonym, Philonthus aeneus (De Geer, 1774: 23). Philonthus aeneus has been cited as a synonym of *Philonthus* laminatus since 1802 (some authors erroneously cited Marsham, 1802, as author) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 41 articles by 32 authors have been published listing Philonthus laminatus (Creutzer) as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Philonthus lami*natus* (Creutzer) is a **nomen protectum** and P. aeneus (De Geer) a nomen oblitum (article 23.9.2).

*Philonthus manaiaensis* (Broun, 1910: 15) and *Philonthus brounianus* Bernhauer and Schubert, 1914: 330, are **new synonyms** of *Philonthus novaezeelandiae* Duvivier, 1883: 147. All three names were replacements for *Philonthus ruficornis* Broun, 1880: 111, for which a name had been proposed by Duvivier.

*Philonthus marginatus* (Fabricius, 1775: 266) (ex *Staphylinus*) and *Philonthus marginatus* (Ström, 1768: 313) (ex *Staphylinus*) are junior primary homonyms and **new synonyms** of *Philonthus marginatus* (O. Müller, 1764: 23) (ex *Staphylinus*). Goeze (1777: 726) listed the three citations as referring to the same species. Fabricius (1781: 336) cited his earlier listing and those of *or* that of Ström as referring to the same species. Erichson (1840: 444) attributed the name to Fa-

bricius and treated the use by O. Müller and Ström as subsequent citations. From Gravenhorst (1802) until 1895 most authors cited Fabricius as the author of *P. marginatus*; from Ganglbauer (1895: 448) to present, most authors have cited Ström as author. It seems likely that the three names represent the same species, and therefore O. Müller is the author.

Philonthus obscuratus Cameron, 1951: 402, is a **new synonym** of Philonthus debiliformis Cameron, 1951: 402. Philonthus obscuratus Cameron, 1951 is a junior primary homonym of Gabrius obscuratus (Cameron, 1950a: 41) (ex Philonthus). Tottenham (1962: 195) wrote "... I am of the opinion that it [obscuratus Cameron] is identical with P. debiliformis Cameron ..."; he was writing about the 1951 name, but he took no action. I accept Tottenham's surmise that P. obscuratus is a synonym of P. debiliformis.

*Philonthus pheres* Smetana, 1963: 74 is a **new synonym** of *Philonthus renominatus* Cameron, 1937: 5. Both names were proposed to replace the junior primary homonym *Philonthus vicinus* Cameron, 1933b: 389.

*Philonthus rufimanus* Erichson, 1840: 476 is a **new synonym** of *rufimanus* Heer, 1839: 266. Redtenbacher (1849: 703; 1857: 193) and Kraatz (1857: 609) cited the Heer and Erichson descriptions as referring to the same species.

Philonthus splendens (Fabricius, 1793: 523) has an older synonym, *Philonthus niger* (O. Müller, 1764: 23), that has been a synonym of Philonthus splendens since 1840 and, until 1996, was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 36 articles by 31 authors have been published listing Philonthus splendens Fabricius as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). However, Ádám (1996: 244) resurrected P. niger, thereby compromising application of article 23.9.1. Use of the older name will create significant instability. The younger name has been cited as valid in many publications and is known by many workers, and thus its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission: meanwhile, use of the junior name is to be maintained (article 23.9.3).

Philonthus succicola Thomson, 1860: 157 has an older synonym, Philonthus nigritus (Runde, 1835: 7), which has been a junior synonym of Philonthus carbonarius (Gravenhorst, 1802), Philonthus chalceus Stephens, 1832, or Philonthus succicola Thomson since 1840 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 27 articles by 21 authors have been published citing Philonthus succicola Thomson as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Philonthus succicola Thomson is a nomen protectum and P. nigritus (Runde) a nomen oblitum (article 23.9.2).

*Platydracus immaculatus* (Mannerheim, 1830: 22) is **resurrected** to replace the more recently named *Platydracus vulpinus* (Nordmann, 1837: 53). Smetana and Davies (2000: 25) had not examined the relevant types and had doubts that they were conspecific, but Newton (personal commun.), who has studied the types, regards them to be the same.

*Polyphematiana* E. Strand, 1915: 122 is a new synonym of Trigonopselaphus Gemminger and Harold, 1868: 597. Trigonopselaphus was proposed by Gemminger and Harold (1868: 597) to replace Trigonophorus Nordmann, 1837: 8 (not Stephens, 1829, or Hope, 1831). Nordmann included only Trigonophorus myrtillinus Nordmann, 1837: 8, in Trigonophorus, so that is the type species of the genus by monotypy and is also the type species of Trigonopselaphus by objective synonymy with Trigonophorus. Bernhauer (1921: 19) moved T. myrtillinus to Polyphemus Bernhauer, 1914: 397 (not Mueller, 1776), which had already been replaced by Polyphematiana E. Strand, 1915: 122. Scheerpeltz (1933: 1415; 1972: 35) also included the species in *Polyphematiana*, but still listed *Trigonopselaphus* as a valid genus, excluding only T. myrtillinus. Two checklists (Blackwelder, 1944: 141; Moore and Legner, 1975: 45) continued to list myrtillinus in Trigonopselaphus. If the transfer of T. myrtillinus to Polyphematiana is accepted, then Trigonopselaphus Gemminger and Harold, 1868, must replace Polyphematiana E. Strand, 1915. All the species remaining in Trigonopselaphus after the removal of T. myrtillinus require a new generic name. To*robus*, new genus is proposed for the species included in Trigonopselaphus by Scheerpeltz (1972: 40). The characters cited by Scheerpeltz (1972: 37-30) for Trigonopselaphus in a comparison of that genus to related ones apply to Torobus (article 13.1.2). Torobus includes the following **new combinations**: Torobus badiipennis (Nordmann, 1837: 25) (ex Creophilus), T. brasilianus (Bernhauer, 1906a: 327) (ex "Trigonurus" [sic]), T. chloris (Nordmann, 1837: 26) (ex Creophilus), T. erithacus (Nordmann, 1837: 25) (ex Creophilus), T. fassli (Bernhauer, 1917a: 113) (ex Trigonopselaphus), T. laetipes (Bernhauer, 1911a: 418) (ex Trigonopselaphus), T. mautnermarkhofi (Scheerpeltz, 1972a: 43) (ex Trigonopselaphus), T. principalis (Bernhauer, 1911: 416) (ex Trigonopselaphus), and T. purpurascens (Nordmann, 1837: 47) (ex Staphylinus). The type species is Torobus purpurascens (Nordmann), fixed by original designation. The name is masculine and a random combination of letters.

Quedius assimilis (Nordmann, 1837: 78) was chosen by Tottenham (1939: 237) to replace the junior primary homonym Quedius fulgidus (Fabricius, 1793: 525, not Fabricius, 1787) (ex Staphylinus), but there are six older synonyms, Quedius rufitarsis (Marsham, 1802: 512), Quedius iracundus (Say, 1830: 35), Ouedius haemopterus Stephens, 1832: 217, Quedius haemorrhoidalis Stephens, 1832: 218, Quedius nigricornis Stephens, 1832: 218, and Quedius distinctus (Runde, 1835: 222). Tottenham rejected Quedius rufitarsis, Quedius haemopterus, and Quedius iracundus as not being conspecific with Ouedius fulgidus, but he did not discuss the other three names. Despite Tottenham's replacement of Quedius fulgidus with Quedius assimilis in 1939, most authors continued to use Quedius fulgidus. From 1941 to 1998 more than 40 articles were published using *Ouedius fulgidus* as the valid name. At least 14 others listed Q. assimilis as the valid name. Quedius rufitarsis (Marsham) was cited as a synonym of Quedius fulgidus from 1840 to 1990, after which four publications (Nowosad, 1990: 136; Smetana, 1993: 50; Ciceroni and Zanetti, 1995: 33; Ádám, 1996:

247) cited it as valid. Quedius iracundus (Say) and *Quedius distinctus* (Runde) have been synonyms of Quedius fulgidus since 1840. *Quedius haemopterus* Stephens has been a synonym of Quedius fulgidus since 1854. Quedius haemorrhoidalis Stephens and Quedius nigricornis Stephens have been synonyms of *Quedius fulgidus* since 1858. Of these six names only two, Q. assimilis and O. rufitarsis, were cited as valid after 1899; the other four were not (article 23.9.1.1). In recent literature various authors use either Q. fulgidus (Fabricius), Q. assimilis (Nordmann), or Q. rufitarsis (Marsham) as the valid name for the same species. To stabilize the name for the species, the matter will be referred to the Commission: meanwhile, use of O. assimilis (Nordmann) should be maintained (article 23.9.3).

Quedius caseyi Scheerpeltz, 1933: 1435 is a junior synonym of Quedius uteanus (Casey, 1915: 415). Quedius caseyi Scheerpeltz was established as a replacement name for the junior secondary homonym Quedius curtipennis (Casey, 1915: 414), but there are three older synonyms, Quedius uteanus (Casey, 1915: 415), Quedius divergens (Casey, 1915: 415), and Quedius parvipennis Bernhauer, 1917: 249.

Quedius cinctus (Paykull, 1790: 137) has an older synonym, Quedius flavescens (Linné, 1758: 422). Quedius flavescens has been a synonym of Quedius impressus (Panzer, 1796) or *Ouedius cinctus* since 1857 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). Most authors have erroneously attributed Quedius flavescens to Fabricius, who attributed it to Linné. The error in authorship helps to explain how a 1758 Linnean name can be a synonym; it is only one of two such synonyms in the family. In the last 50 years at least 54 articles by 35 authors have been published listing Quedius cinctus (Paykull) as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). *Quedius* cinctus (Paykull) is a nomen protectum and Q. flavescens (Linné) a nomen oblitum (article 23.9.2). However, note that Ádám (1996: 247) cited Distichalius flavicornis (Gmelin, 1790: 2036) (ex *Staphylinus*) as the valid name and *Distichalius cinctus* (Paykull) as the junior synonym. Several factors contradict Ádám's action. Both names were published in 1790, and there is no evidence that the Gmelin name preceded that of Paykull. *Staphylinus flavicornis* Gmelin had never before been cited in *Quedius* or *Distichalius*, and Gmelin's name may be unknowable. For these reasons *Q. cinctus* should continued to be used as the valid name of the species.

Quedius deuveianus Coiffait, 1983: 346 is a **new synonym** of Quedius kashmirensis Cameron, 1944: 13, because it was proposed as a replacment name for Quedius deuvei Coiffait, 1983a: 168, which was synonymized with Q. kashmirensis.

Quedius horsti Coiffait, 1978: 222 is an unnecessary replacement name for and junior synonym of Quedius smetanai Korge, 1971: 47. The name regarded as older, Quedius molochinus aberration smetanai Roubal, 1949: 45, was described as an aberration and is therefore unavailable.

Quedius iablokofi Coiffait, 1967: 396 is an unnecessary replacement name for and junior synonym of Quedius transcaucasicus Iablokov-Khnzorian, 1961: 146. Quedius transcaucasicus Gemminger and Harold, 1868: 572, which Coiffait thought was the senior homonym, is an unavailable name.

Quedius limbatus (Heer, 1839: 281) has an older synonym, Quedius attenuatus (Gravenhorst, 1802: 27), which has been a synonym of Quedius maurorufus Gravenhorst or Quedius limbatus since 1849 and which was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 29 articles by 20 authors have been published listing Quedius limbatus (Heer) as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Quedius limbatus (Heer) is a **nomen protectum** and Q. attenuatus (Gravenhorst) a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

Quedius luteomaculatus Scheerpeltz, 1958: 23 is a junior synonym of the older Quedius gridellii Scheerpeltz, 1933: 1442, which is a replacement name for Quedius picicornis Gridelli, 1922: 128, 131. Coiffait (1978: 262) listed Quedius gridellii and Q. picicornis as junior synonyms of Q. luteomaculatus.

Quedius nitipennis (Stephens, 1833: 242) has an older synonym, Quedius quadripunc-

tatus (Zetterstedt, 1828: 76), which has been a synonym of Q. attenuatus (sensu Gyllenhal, 1810: 311) since 1860 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). Gyllenhal's use of Q. attenuatus is a misidentification of *O. attenuatus* (Gravenhorst, 1802: 27) but has been cited erroneously as a valid, available name by many authors; the Gravenhorst name is a junior synonym of *Quedius* limbatus (Heer, 1839). In the last 50 years at least 31 articles by 25 authors have been published listing Quedius nitipennis (Stephens) as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). *Ouedius nitipennis* (Stephens) is a **nomen** protectum and Q. quadripunctatus (Zetterstedt) a nomen oblitum (article 23.9.2).

*Quedius nouristanicus* Coiffait, 1979a: 559 is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of *Quedius nouristanicus* Coiffait, 1978: 158. Coiffait described the same species twice; the type locality, size, characters cited, and aedeagal illustrations are the same for both species.

Quedius plagiatus Mannerheim, 1843a: 231 has two older synonyms, *Quedius glaber* (O. Müller, 1776: 98) and Ouedius flavopterus (Geoffroy, 1785: 166), both of which have been synonyms of either Quedius laevigatus Gyllenhal, 1810: 306 or Quedius plagiatus since 1840 and, until 1996, neither was cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 26 articles by 21 authors have been published listing Quedius plagiatus Mannerheim as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). However, Adám (1996: 247) resurrected Ouedius glaber, thereby compromising application of article 23.9.1. Use of the older name will create significant instability. The younger name has been cited as valid in many publications and is known by many workers, and thus its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission: meanwhile, use of the junior name is to be maintained (article 23.9.3).

Quedius puncticollis (Thomson, 1867: 164) has an older synonym, Quedius variabilis (Gyllenhal, 1810: 303). Quedius variabilis has been a synonym of Quedius fulgidus Fabricius, *Quedius puncticollis* Thomson, or *Quedius othiniensis* Johansen since 1854 and has not been cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 29 articles by 24 authors have been published listing *Quedius puncticollis* (Thomson) as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). *Quedius puncticollis* (Thomson) is a **nomen protectum** and *Q. variabilis* (Gyllenhal) a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

Quedius quadripunctus Cameron, 1945b: 788, is a **new synonym** of Quedius quadripunctus Bernhauer, 1941: 32. Cameron cited the species as "quadripunctus, sp. n (Bern. in litt.)", so the two are probably the same species.

Quedius scitus (Gravenhorst, 1806: 50) has an older synonym, Quedius analis (Fabricius, 1787: 221). Quedius analis has been cited as a synonym of Ouedius scitus since 1840 and, until 1996, was not cited as valid in Quedius after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 32 articles by 24 authors have been published listing Quedius scitus (Gravenhorst) as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). However, Ádám (1996: 247) and Schülke (1999: 982) resurrected Quedius analis, thereby compromising application of article 23.9.1. Use of the older name will create significant instability. The younger name has been cited as valid in many publications and is known by many workers, and thus its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is to be maintained (article 23.9.3).

Quedius sturanyi Ganglbauer, 1895: 404 has an older synonym, Quedius brevipennis Motschulsky, 1858: 656, but the validity of this synonymy is in doubt (Assing, personal commun.); therefore, until the status of Q. brevipennis has been corroborated, it is considered to be a nomen dubium and is not resurrected to replace Q. sturanyi.

*Quedius tripunctatus* Cameron, 1945b: 787 is a **new synonym** of *tripunctatus* Bernhauer, 1941: 31. Cameron cited the species as "*tripunctatus*, sp. n (Bern. in litt.)", so the two are probably the same species. Quedius uludaghensis Drugmand, 1989: 174 is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of Quedius uludaghensis Drugmand, 1988: 263. The description, illustrations, and type locality for the two are the same.

Staphylinus kublaikhani Muona, 1977: 15 is an unnecessary replacement name and **new synonym** of Staphylinus trimaculatus Fauvel, 1895: 252. Muona proposed that S. kublaikhani replace S. trimaculatus Fauvel because he thought Fauvel's name was a junior primary homonym of Staphylinus trimaculatus cited by Paykull, 1800: 422. However, Paykull did not describe the species as new: instead, he attributed it to Fabricius but erroneously indicated that Fabricius used the name in Staphylinus. Fabricius described the species as Oxyporus trimaculatus, which is currently in Lordithon.

Staphylinus suturalis Matsumura, 1911: 113, which is a junior primary homonym of *Philonthus suturalis* (Marsham, 1802: 509) (ex Staphylinus), is a **new synonym** of *Hadropinus fossor* Sharp, 1889: 116. Both species were described in *Staphylinus*. According to Nakane (1963: 239), "Staphylinus suturalis Matsumura ... is probably a synonym of ... [Hadropinus fossor Sharp, 1889]"; however, he took no action. I accept Nakane's opinion that the two are conspecific.

*Tasgius eppelsheimianus* (Jakobson, 1909: 510) has an older synonym, *Tasgius obscuripes* (Bernhauer, 1900: 55). The two may be different species (Smetana, personal commun.), so no change is made.

*Tasgius globulifer sicanus* (Coiffait, 1964: 106) is a **new synonym** of *Tasgius globulifer evitendus* (Tottenham, 1945: 71). Both are replacement names for *Tasgius siculus* Stierlin, 1864: 146) (ex *Ocypus*), a junior primary homonym of *Tasgius siculus* (Aubé, 1842: 234) (ex *Ocypus*).

Tasgius melanarius (Heer, 1839: 256) has four older synonyms, Tasgius similis (Paykull, 1789: 10), Tasgius kirbyi (Stephens, 1832: 210), Tasgius angustatus (Lacordaire, 1835: 369), and Tasgius obscurus (Runde, 1835: 4). Tasgius kirbyi has been a synonym of either Tasgius ater Gravenhorst, Tasgius morio Gravenhorst, or Tasgius melanarius Heer since 1854. Tasgius angustatus has been a synonym of Tasgius morio Gravenhorst, Tasgius globulifer Geoffroy, or Tasgius melanarius Heer since 1839. Tasgius similis and T. obscurus are both junior primary homonyms, with species named in Staphylinus, and have been cited as junior synonyms since 1839. None of the four older names was cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 31 articles by 26 authors have been published listing Tasgius melanarius Heer as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Tasgius melanarius (Heer) is a **nomen protectum** and *T. similis* (Paykull), T. kirbvi (Stephens), T. angustatus (Lacordaire), and T. obscurus (Runde) are nomina oblita (article 23.9.2).

Tasgius winkleri (Bernhauer, 1906: 126) has three older synonyms, Tasgius morio (Gravenhorst, 1802: 6), Tasgius picipes (Stephens, 1832: 212), and Tasgius erosicollis (Reiche and Saulcy, 1856: 364). Tasgius morio has been a synonym of either Tasgius globulifer Geoffroy or T. winkleri Bernhauer since 1895. Tasgius picipes has been a synonym of T. morio Gravenhorst since 1854. *Tasgius erosicollis* has been a synonym of *T*. edentulus Block, T. globulifer Gravenhorst, or T. winkleri Bernhauer since 1874. None of the three older names was cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 33 articles by 22 authors have been published listing T. winkleri Bernhauer as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Tasgius winkleri (Bernhauer) is a nomen protectum and T. morio (Gravenhorst), T. picipes (Stephens), and T. erosicollis (Reiche and Saulcy) are **nomina oblita** (article 23.9.2).

*Thyreocephalus eppelsheimi* (Bernhauer and Schubert, 1914: 302), proposed as a replacement name for the junior primary homonym *Thyreocephalus rudis* (Eppelsheim, 1895: 62) (ex *Xantholinus*), is a junior synonym of the older *Thyreocephalus gestroi* (Fauvel, 1895: 243), which was first listed as a synonym of *T. rudis* by Cameron (1932: 39).

*Triacrus superbus* (Erichson, 1839a: 398) is a junior synonym of the older *Triacrus di-latus* Nordmann, 1837: 19.

*Xantholinus ilgazensis* Coiffait, 1971: 434, is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of *Xantholinus ilgazensis* Coiffait, 1966: 23. Both were cited as new species, but the 1966 description was not mentioned in the 1971 article. The aedeagal illustrations and type localities are the same for both, and the characters used to describe the species are essentially the same.

*Xantholinus schweigeri* Coiffait, 1971: 431, is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of *Xantholinus schweigeri* Coiffait, 1966: 22. Both were cited as new species, but the 1966 description was not mentioned in the 1971 article. The aedeagal illustrations and type localities are the same for both, and the characters used to describe the species are essentially the same.

Xantholinus vagepunctus (Gravenhorst, 1806: 88) is a **new synonym** of Xantholinus vagopunctatus (Latreille, 1804: 301). Latreille commented, referring to his species, vagopunctatus, that Gravenhorst named this species in his collection; Gravenhorst (1806: 88) made a similar statement about the specimens he described. It seems probable that the two are the same species.

#### Steninae

Stenus ater Lacordaire, 1835: 447, is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of Stenus ater Mannerheim, 1830: 42. Stenus ater Lacordaire is rarely used. Erichson (1840: 696) listed Lacordaire's use of *S. ater* as a subsequent citation of Mannerheim's species, so the two are probably synonymous.

Stenus cameroni Scheerpeltz, 1933: 1150 is an unnecessary replacement name and junior synonym of Stenus carinatus Cameron, 1914: 532. Scheerpeltz proposed that S. cameroni replace S. carinatus Cameron, which he thought to be a junior primary homonym of Stenus carinatus Haglund, 1914: 105. However, S. carinatus Haglund, currently a junior synonym of Stenus hyperboreus J. Sahlberg, 1876, was published on June 29, 1914, and S. carinatus Cameron was published on January 21, 1914.

*Stenus cameronianus* Scheerpeltz, 1933: 1187 is an unnecessary replacement name for and junior synonym of *Stenus pallidipes* 

Cameron, 1930b: 328. Scheerpeltz cited *Stenus pallidipes* Cameron as a junior primary homonym of *Stenus pallidipes* Sainte-Claire Deville, 1910: 109, 125. The name cited by Sainte-Claire Deville was a misspelling of *Stenus pallipes* Gravenhorst (not a new species), and is an unavailable name, not a homonym.

Stenus cautus Erichson, 1839: 553, has an older synonym, Stenus submarginatus Stephens, 1833: 295. Stenus submarginatus Stephens has been a synonym of Stenus vafellus Erichson, 1839, since 1888 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). Stenus vafellus is currently a junior synonym of S. cautus. In the last 50 years at least 31 articles by 20 authors have been published listing Stenus cautus Erichson as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Stenu cautus Erichson is a **nomen protectum** and S. submarginatus Stephens a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

*Stenus cephallenicus* Bernhauer, 1915d: 265, is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of *Stenus callidus cephallenicus* Bernhauer, 1913a: 222. Bernhauer cited both names as new species, but the 1915 name has been cited as a subsequent reference to the 1913 name by Scheerpeltz (1933: 1151) and Puthz (1967: 18), so the two are probably conspecific.

Stenus cursorius L. Benick, 1921: 193, is reduced to a subspecies of the older species Stenus rorellus Fauvel, 1907: 17, which is currently listed as a subspecies of S. cursorius and has been either cited as a species or subspecies since its original description.

Stenus geniculatus Gravenhorst, 1806: 228 has an older synonym, Stenus proboscidens (Olivier, 1795: (44): 6), which has been a synonym of S. geniculatus since 1895 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). Gyllenhal is often cited as the author of S. proboscidens, but Gyllenhal attributed it to Olivier. In the last 50 years at least 28 articles by 23 authors have been published listing Stenus geniculatus Gravenhorst as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Stenus geniculatus Gravenhorst is a **nomen protec**- tum and *S. proboscidens* (Olivier) a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

Stenus gibbifrons L. Benick, 1928a [Nov.]: 243, is a junior primary homonym and new synonym of Stenus sondaicus Bernhauer, 1911: 58. In an earlier article, L. Benick (1928b [Aug.]: 459) also described Stenus gibbifrons. He used essentially the same characters for the two names and cited the same type locality for both; Scheerpeltz (1933: 1178) cited Benick's 1928a paper as a subsequent reference of his 1928b one. Stenus gibbifrons L. Benick, 1928b was listed as a synonym of S. sondaicus Bernhauer by Puthz (1970: 306) and Rougemont (1984: 238). Evidence supports considering both of Benick's uses of S. gibbifrons as the same species, so both are synonyms of S. sondaicus.

Stenus lentus Sharp, 1889: 326 is a junior synonym of the older species Stenus indagator Eppelsheim, 1887: 428.

Stenus longitarsis Thomson, 1857: 222 is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of Stenus longitarsis Thomson, 1851: 133, 134. Thomson (1857) cited S. longitarsis as a new species without reference to his 1851 description. Bernhauer and Schubert (1911: 161) listed the 1857 publication as the original description of the species and neglected to mention the earlier description, but Gemminger and Harold (1868: 637) cited 1851 as the original description.

*Stenus meyeri* L. Benick, 1928a [Nov.]: 244 is a **new synonym** of *Stenus meyeri* L. Benick, 1928b [Aug.]: 458. The two descriptions are essentially the same and the species are from the same type localities. Scheerpeltz (1933: 1192) cited the 1928a paper as a subsequent reference of Benick's 1928b one.

Stenus mjobergi L. Benick, 1928a [Nov.]: 236, is a junior primary homonym and **new synonym** of *Stenus flavidulus* Sharp, 1889: 334. *Stenus mjobergi* Benick, 1928b [Aug.]: 453, was described as new and used essentially the same characters and in the 1928a article. Scheerpeltz (1933: 1180) cited Benick's 1928a reference as a subsequent reference of the 1928b use. Puthz (1967a: 143) synonymized the 1928b use with *Stenus flavidulus* Sharp, so Benick's 1928a use should be listed as a junior synonym also since the

two Benick names are probably the same species.

*Stenus nigritulus* Zetterstedt, 1828: 91, is a **new synonym** of *Stenus nigritulus* Gyllenhal, 1827: 502. Erichson (1840: 719) cited Zetterstedt's use as a subsequent citation of *S. nigritulus* Gyllenhal, so the two may be the same species.

Stenus scaber Fauvel, 1871: 20 has two older synonyms, Stenus bituberculosus Motschulsky, 1857a: 511 and Stenus italicus Baudi, 1870: 397. Both names have been listed as synonyms of Stenus scaber since 1873 and neither was cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, Herman (in press) cited only 12 articles by 4 authors published in the last 50 years that used S. scaber as valid, so the name cannot be protected by the provisions of article 23.9.1. However, more citations may likely be found with diligent search. It is premature to replace S. scaber, a name cited as valid since 1871, with a name that has not been cited as valid in more than 125 years. Stenus scaber can probably be retained as valid by application to the Commission (article 23.9.3).

Stenus scrutator Erichson, 1840: 708 has an older synonym, Stenus femoralis Erichson, 1839: 547. Erichson seemed to propose S. scrutator as a replacement name for S. femoralis Erichson, but the latter is not a junior homonym. Although the replacement is unjustified, Stenus femoralis has been a synonym of Stenus scrutator since 1840 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 27 articles by 19 authors have been published listing Stenus scrutator Erichson as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Stenus scrutator Erichson is a **nomen protectum** and S. femoralis Erichson a nomen oblitum (article 23.9.2).

Stenus stigmula Erichson, 1840: 693 has an older synonym, Stenus maculipes Heer, 1839: 215, which has been a synonym of Stenus stigmula since 1856 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 26 articles by 19 authors have been published listing Stenus stigmula Erichson as valid species (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). *Stenus stigmula* Erichson is a **no-men protectum** and *S. maculipes* Heer a **no-men oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

Stenus subaeneus Erichson, 1840: 727 has an older synonym, Stenus gonymelas Stephens, 1833: 291, which has been a synonym of Stenus subaeneus since 1873 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 25 articles by 14 authors have been published listing Stenus subaeneus Erichson as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Stenus subaeneus Erichson is a **nomen protectum** and S. gonymelas a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

# TACHYPORINAE

Bolitobius cingulatus Mannerheim, 1830: 64 has an older synonym, Bolitobius bicolor (Rossi, 1790: 253). Bolitobius bicolor (Rossi) has been a synonym of Bolitobius cingulatus or Bolitobius analis Fabricius since 1802 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 29 articles by 26 authors have been published listing Bolitobius cingulatus Mannerheim as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Bolitobius cingulatus Mannerheim is a **nomen protectum** and B. bicolor (Rossi) a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

Lamprinodes fairmairei (Leprieur, 1853: lx) was proposed as a replacement name for the junior primary homonym Lamprinodes pictus (Fairmaire, 1852: 71). Neither name is cited frequently, so the senior name is **ressurected** herein.

Lordithon exoletus (Erichson, 1839: 409) has an older synonym, Lordithon angularis (Stephens, 1832: 173), which has been a synonym of Lordithon exoletus or Lordithon trinotatus since 1858 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 37 articles by 29 authors have been published listing Lordithon exoletus Erichson as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Lordithon exoletus (Erichson) is a **nomen** 

**protectum** and *L. angularis* (Stephens) a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

Lordithon mexicanus (Bernhauer, 1910: 384) (ex *Bolitobius*) is **affirmed** to be a junior synonym of its replacement name, Bolitobius variatus (Bernhauer and Schubert, 1916: 458) (ex Bryoporus). Scheerpeltz (1933: 1489) thought that L. mexicanus (Bernhauer) was not a junior homonym and that the replacement name was therefore unnecessary. Lordithon mexicanus (Bernhauer), Bryoporus mexicanus (Sharp, 1887: 782) (ex Megacronus), and Bryoporus mexicanus (Schubert, 1909: 289) (ex Megacronus) were all in *Bryoporus* when the Bernhauer name was replaced as a junior secondary homonvm of the other two names. Because Lordithon mexicanus (Bernhauer) was replaced before 1961, it is permanently invalid (article 59.3).

Mycetoporus baudueri Mulsant and Rey, 1875: 200 has an older synonym, Mycetoporus phaedrus (Kolenati, 1846: 14). Mycetoporus phaedrus was cited by subsequent authors as a valid species (Hochhuth, 1849: 97), as a form (Luze, 1901: 727), and as a junior synonym (Bernhauer and Schubert, 1916: 449) of M. baudueri. It was cited as valid once (as a form) after 1899, so the provisions of article 23.9.1.1 are not strictly met. In the last 50 years at least 28 articles by 24 authors have been published citing Mycetoporus baudueri Mulsant and Rey as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Although M. phaedrus was cited as a form in 1901, it makes no sense to replace *M. baudueri* with a name that has scarcely been used. Greater nomenclatural stability will result from regarding Mycetoporus baudueri Mulsant and Rey as a nomen protectum and M. phaedrus (Kolenati) as a nomen oblitum (article 23.9.2) rather than resurrecting a name cited once as valid after 1899.

Mycetoporus mulsanti Ganglbauer, 1895: 375 is a junior synonym of Mycetoporus tenuis Mulsant and Rey, 1853: 54. Ganglbauer proposed M. mulsanti to replace M. tenuis Mulsant and Rey because, at the time, Ischnosoma tenuis sensu Stephens, 1832 was cited as an available name. However, Stephens used tenuis, which was unavailable; the species was attributed by him to Fabricius and has been treated by most authors as a misidentification of *Ischnosoma splendidum* (Gravenhorst, 1806: 24). *Mycetoporus mulsanti* Ganglbauer is an unnecessary replacement name, and *M. tenuis* Mulsant and Rey is **resurrected** as the valid name for the species.

Sepedophilus jacobsoni (Scheerpeltz, 1933: 1496) is a **new synonym** of Sepedophilus pustulifer (Bernhauer and Schubert, 1916: 470). Scheerpeltz proposed the name to replace the junior primary homonym Sepedophilus pustulatus (Bernhauer, 1915b: 238), which had already been replaced by S. pustulifer (Bernhauer and Schubert).

Tachinus flavipennis Blatchley, 1910: 445 is a new synonym of Tachinus luridus Erichson, 1840: 920. Blatchley attributed Tachinus flavipennis to Dejean, who cited it in his 1836 list of species in his collection. Henshaw (1885: 39) used T. flavipennis in his list of North American beetles; he also regarded Horn's use of T. luridus Erichson to be a misidentification and he listed it as a junior synonym of T. flavipennis Dejean. Tachinus flavipennis, as used by Dejean and Henshaw without a description, is an unavailable name (article 12.1). Blatchley's publication of characters validated T. flavipennis, making him the author. Campbell (1973: 40) cited T. flavipennis as used by Dejean, Henshaw, Blatchley, and others as referring to T. luridus, but he attributed the name to no particular author.

*Tachinus laciniatus* Eppelsheim, 1890: 166 has an older synonym, *Tachinus caucasicus* Kolenati, 1846: 13. However, these two names were questionably synonymized by Ullrich (1975: 224); until the synonymy is confirmed, *T. laciniatus* should remain the valid name.

Tachinus sharpi Bernhauer and Schubert, 1916: 486 is a junior synonym of Tachinus gelidus Eppelsheim, 1893: 41. Tachinus sharpi was a replacement name for the junior primary homonym Tachinus luridus Sharp, 1888: 381. Ullrich (1975a: 94) synonymized T. gelidus with T. sharpi, but the former is older than the latter and is **resurrected** herein.

Tachyporus formosus A. Matthews, 1838: 197 has two older synonyms, Tachyporus

flavescens Stephens, 1832: 178 and Tachyporus subtestaceus Stephens, 1832: 183, both of which have been synonyms of Tachyporus formosus since 1858 and were not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 29 articles by 24 authors have been published listing Tachyporus formosus A. Matthews as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Tachyporus formosus A. Matthews is a **nomen protectum** and T. flavescens Stephens and T. subtestaceus Stephens are **nomina oblita** (article 23.9.2).

Tachyporus solutus Erichson, 1839a: 236 has an older synonym, Tachyporus marginellus Stephens, 1832: 182, which has been a synonym of Tachyporus solutus since 1858 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 40 articles by 31 authors have been published listing Tachyporus solutus Erichson as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Tachyporus solutus Erichson is a **nomen protectum** and T. marginellus Stephens a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

#### HOMONYMS

#### EUAESTHETINAE

*Euaesthetus duplex*, **new name**, is proposed for *Euaesthetus brevipennis* Casey, 1884a: 20, which is a junior primary homonym of *Euaesthetus brevipennis* Mulsant and Rey, 1878a: 308. Mulsant and Rey's name is a junior synonym of *Euaesthetus bipunctatus* (Ljungh, 1804). The replacement name is based on the Latin for double (*duplex*).

#### LEPTOTYPHLINAE

Leptotyphlus sardiniensis, **new name**, is proposed for Leptotyphlus doderoi Coiffait, 1957: 77, which is a junior primary homonym of Paratyphlus doderoi (Normand, 1910: 88) (ex Leptotyphlus). The replacement name is based on the type locality of L. doderoi Coiffait. MICROPEPLINAE

*Micropeplus editus*, **new name**, is proposed for *Micropeplus denticollis* Coiffait, 1982: 126, which is a junior primary homonym of *Arrhenopeplus denticollis* (Coiffait, 1958: 413) (ex *Micropeplus*). The new name is based on the Latin for high or lofty (*editus*), referring to the high elevation from which the species was described in Nepal.

#### OMALIINAE

*Eusphalerum afghanicum*, **new name**, is proposed for *Eusphalerum nuristanicum* Coiffait, 1982b: 77, which is a junior secondary homonym of *Eusphalerum nuristanicum* (Scheerpeltz, 1961: 35) (ex *Anthobium*); the latter species is transferred herein to *Eusphalerum* (see New Combinations). The replacement name is based on Afghanistan, the country of origin of the species.

Eusphalerum alpinum (Heer, 1839: 180) (ex *Omalium*) is a junior primary homonym of Pycnoglypta alpina (Zetterstedt, 1838: 53) (ex Omalium). Pycnoglypta alpina (Zetterstedt) has been a junior synonym of Pycnoglypta lurida (Gyllenhal, 1813) since 1857 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 29 articles by 25 authors have been published listing Eusphalerum alpinum (Heer) as valid (article 23.9.1.2); 24 of these articles are listed in a forthcoming catalog (Herman, in press), and the other five are cited herein (Franz, 1970: 273; Hugentobler, 1966: 55; Peez and Kahlen, 1977: 124; Schiller, 1989: 1034; Wörndle, 1950: 122). Eusphalerum alpinum (Heer) is a nomen protectum and *Pycnoglypta alpina* (Zetterstedt) a **nomen** oblitum (article 23.9.2).

*Eusphalerum longipenne* (Erichson, 1839: 640) (ex *Anthobium*) is a junior primary homonym of *Anthobium longipenne* Stephens, 1834: 342. *Anthobium longipenne* Stephens has been a junior synonym of *Anthobium atrocephalum* (Gyllenhal, 1827) since 1854 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 25 articles by 22 authors have been published listing *Eusphalerum longipenne* (Erichson) as valid (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press).
However, Ádám (1996: 237) resurrected *Eusphalerum imhoffii* (Heer, 1839: 184), a junior synonym of *E. longipenne* (Erichson), thereby compromising application of article 23.9.1. Use of the resurrected name will create significant instability. The name in current use has been cited as valid in many publications and is known by many workers, and thus its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is to be maintained (article 23.9.3). Furthermore, the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, which would permit application of article 23.9.5.

Eusphalerum subsolanum, new name, is proposed for Eusphalerum nigriventre (Motschulsky, 1860: 544) (ex Anthobius), which is a junior primary homonym of Eusphalerum nigriventre (Stephens, 1834: 343) (ex Anthobium). Eusphalerum nigriventre (Stephens) is a synonym of Eusphalerum torquatum (Marsham, 1802). The replacement name is based on the Latin for eastern (subsolanus), referring to the presence of the species in eastern Asia.

Hapalaraea pygmaea (Paykull, 1800: 410) (ex Staphylinus) is a junior primary homonym of Staphylinus pygmaeus Villers, 1789: 420, but the latter species has not been cited since the original description. Hapalaraea pygmaea (Paykull), on the other hand, is a well-known species for which at least 31 articles by 22 authors have been published in the last 50 years listing it as a valid species (Herman, in press). The senior name has not been cited since its original description (Herman, in press) and should be considered a **nomen dubium**, with the required replacement being ignored. Furthermore, the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899. which would permit application of article 23.9.5.

Lesteva fontinalis gustavi, **new name**, is proposed for Lesteva fontinalis truncata Lohse, 1960: 5, which is a junior primary homonym of Unamis truncata (Casey, 1885: 322) (ex Lesteva). The replacement name is a patronym based on the given name of G. A. Lohse.

*Mannerheimia brevipennis* (Motschulsky, 1860: 545) (ex *Omalium*) is a junior primary homonym of *Micralymma brevipenne* (Gyl-

lenhal, 1810: 234) (ex Omalium). Micralym*ma brevipenne* (Gyllenhal) is a synonym of Micralymma marinum (Ström, 1783) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing Mannerheimia brevipennis (Motschulsky) as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1. The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission: and meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Olophrum henryi*, **new name**, is proposed for *Olophrum interglaciale* Wickham, 1917: 145, which is a junior primary homonym of *Olophrum interglaciale* Mjöberg, 1904: 493. Both are fossil species. The replacement name is a patronym based on the given name of H. F. Wickham.

*Omaliomimus robustus* (Broun, 1911: 96) (ex *Omalium*) is a junior primary homonym of *Eusphalerum robustum* (Heer, 1839: 179) (ex *Omalium*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Omaliopsis rufa (Sachse, 1852: 148) (ex Omalium) is a junior primary homonym of Acidota rufa (Gravenhorst, 1802: 115) (ex Omalium). Acidota rufa (Gravenhorst) is a synonym of Acidota crenata (Fabricius, 1793) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing Omaliopsis rufa (Sachse) as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1. The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899; however, because the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

Omalium crassicorne Lea, 1906: 212, is a junior primary homonym of Phyllodrepa crassicornis (A. Matthews, 1863: 8650) (ex Omalium). Phyllodrepa crassicornis (A. Matthews) is a synonym of *Phyllodrepa sal*icis (Gyllenhal, 1810) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing Omalium crassicornis Lea as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (see Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899; however, because the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

Omalium cursor Gravenhorst, 1806: 208 is a junior secondary homonym of Omalium cursor (O. Müller, 1776: 97) (ex Staphylinus). Omalium cursor Gravenhorst is a rarely cited species. In a forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press), two subsequent references are cited, the most recent of which is from 1906. Erichson (1840: 890) stated it to be a "species dubia" and he noted that the type was damaged beyond recognition. Omalium cursor (O. Müller) has been a synonym of *Omalium rivulare* (Paykull, 1789) since 1840. Although Omalium cursor Gravenhorst is cited as valid, but is a junior homonym, it should be regarded a nomen dubium and the required replacement ignored.

*Omalium fuscum* Stephens, 1834: 355 is a junior primary homonym of *Olophrum fuscum* (Gravenhorst, 1806: 211) (ex *Omalium*). *Olophrum fuscum* (Gravenhorst) is a valid species. *Omalium fuscum* Stephens is listed as a valid species but has been cited only once since its original description, and thus it should be regarded a **nomen dubium** and its required replacement ignored. The type was not found at the Natural History Museum (London) in 1989 (M. Thayer, personal commun). Both names are currently used as valid, but they were not congeneric after 1899.

Omalium marginatum Cameron, 1941: 58

is a junior primary homonym of *Eusphaler-um marginatum* (Say, 1832: 50) (ex *Omalium*) and *Olophrum marginatum* (Kirby, 1837: 89) (ex *Omalium*). *Olophrum marginatum* Kirby is a synonym of *Olophrum consimile* (Gyllenhal, 1810); the Say name is currently used as valid. The three names were not congeneric after 1899. Replacement of the junior homonym seems unnecessary, as it has never been cited in the same genus with the other two names. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Omalium maxi*, **new name**, is proposed for *Omalium obscurum* Bernhauer, 1940: 130, which is a junior primary homonym of *Phloeonomus obscurus* (Kraatz, 1859: 181) (ex *Omalium*). The replacement name is a patronym based on the given name of M. Bernhauer.

*Omalium montivagum* (Eppelsheim, 1878: 128) is a junior primary homonym of *Eusphalerum montivagum* (Heer, 1839: 184) (ex *Omalium*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899. Replacement of the junior homonym seems unnecessary since the names have never been cited together in the same genus. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Omalium nigrum* Coiffait, 1982: 151 is a junior primary homonym of *Phyllodrepa ni-gra* (Gravenhorst, 1806: 212) (ex *Omalium*). Both names are currently used as valid. Replacement of the junior homonym seems unnecessary since the species were never congeneric and since the Gravenhorst name was moved out of *Omalium* before 1899. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Omalium subsolanum*, **new name**, is proposed for *Omalium clavatum* Luze, 1906: 522, which is a junior primary homonym of *Omalium clavatum* Fauvel, 1869: 493. Fauvel's name is a synonym of *Omalium septentrionis* Thomson, 1857. The replacement name is based on the Latin for eastern (*subsolanus*), referring to the east Asian distribution of the species.

Phyllodrepa atra (Casey, 1894: 420) (ex

Omalium) is a junior primary homonym of Eusphalerum atrum (Heer, 1839: 178) (ex *Omalium*). Both names are currently used as

valid and were not congeneric after 1899. Replacement of the junior homonym seems unnecessary since the two names have never been cited together in the same genus. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Phyllodrepa melanocephala (Fabricius, 1787: 222) (ex Staphylinus) is a junior primary homonym of Staphylinus melanocephalus (Geoffroy, 1785: 172). Phyllodrepa melanocephala (Fabricius) is a moderately well-known species that has been cited as valid at least 30 times by 25 authors in the last 50 years; a list of these articles is provided in a forthcoming catalog (Herman, in press). Staphylinus melanocephalus (Geoffroy) has been cited once since 1789 and, although a valid species, it should be regarded as a nomen dubium and the required change should be ignored. Furthermore, the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, which permits application of article 23.9.5.

Pycnoglypta denticollis (Sharp, 1889: 475) (ex Omalium) is a junior primary homonym of Megarthrus denticollis (Beck, 1817: 26) (ex Omalium). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Xylodromus concinnus (Marsham, 1802: 510) (ex *Staphylinus*) is a junior primary homonym of Philonthus concinnus (Gravenhorst, 1802: 21) (ex Staphylinus). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). However, Silfverberg (1992: 22) ressurected Xylodromus brunnipennis (Stephens, 1834: 348) to replace X. concinnus (Marsham). At least two other works (Hansen, 1996: 94; Assing et al., 1998: 124) did the same. However, according to M. Thayer (personal commun.), Xylodromus brunnipennis (Stephens) and X. concinnus (Marsham) are not conspecific, so the former should not replace the latter. Because Marsham's name is a junior primary homonym, the case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

## **O**SORIINAE

Clavilispinus jeani, new name, is proposed for Clavilispinus piceus (Jarrige, 1957: 110) (ex Paralispinus), which is a junior secondary homonym of Clavilispinus piceus (Fauvel, 1902: 27) (ex Ancaeus). C. piceus (Fauvel) is currently a junior synonym of Clavilispinus exiguus (Erichson, 1840). The replacement name is a patronym based on the given name of J. Jarrige.

Clavilispinus rufescens (Hatch, 1957: 245) (ex Paralispinus) is a junior secondary homonym of Clavilispinus rufescens (LeConte, 1863a: 59) (ex Lispinus). Clavilispinus rufescens (LeConte) is now a junior synonym of Clavilispinus exiguus (Erichson, 1840). However, Newton (personal commun.) will move C. rufescens (Hatch) to a new genus in a forthcoming article, so no new name is proposed here.

Eleusis ghumensis, new name, is proposed for *Eleusis inermis* Cameron, 1940: 210, which is a junior primary homonym of Eleusis inermis Bernhauer, 1902: 171. The replacement name is based on the name of the village in India from which the species was originally described.

Eleusis pierrei, new name, is proposed for Eleusis basilewskyi Scheerpeltz, 1961a: 240, which is a junior primary homonym of Eleusis basilewskyi Cameron, 1956: 177. The replacement name is a patronym based on the first name of P. Basilewsky, the person for whom the species was originally named.

Eleusis teestaensis, new name, is proposed for Eleusis sikkimensis Scheerpeltz, 1965: 128, which is a junior primary homonym of Eleusis sikkimensis Cameron, 1945: 63. The replacement name is based on the name of a river that flows through Sikkim and near which the species was originally collected.

Holotrochus conformalis, new name, is proposed for Holotrochus similis Irmler, 1982: 389, which is a junior primary homonym of Holotrochus similis Wendeler, 1955: 196, a synonym of Holotrochus antennatus Wendeler, 1955: 195. The replacement name is based on the Latin for similar (*conformal-is*).

Holotrochus irmleri, **new name**, is proposed for Holotrochus lineatocollis Irmler, 1987: 103, which is a junior primary homonym of Heterotrochinus lineatocollis (Cameron, 1936: 202) (ex Holotrochus). The replacement name is a patronym based on U. Irmler.

Holotrochus tahitiensis, new name, is proposed for Holotrochus brevipennis Coiffait, 1976: 235, which is a junior primary homonym of Paratorchus brevipennis (Broun, 1893: 1034) (ex Holotrochus) and Holotrochus brevipennis Bernhauer, 1905: 15. Holotrochus brevipennis Bernhauer was replaced by Holotrochus brasiliensis Bernhauer and Schubert, 1911. The replacement name is based on Tahiti, the place where the species was collected.

Leptochirus maxi, **new name**, is proposed for Leptochirus costaricensis Bernhauer, 1942: 1, which is a junior primary homonym of Leptochirus costaricensis Wendeler, 1927: 2. The replacement name is a patronym based on the first name of M. Bernhauer.

*Lispinus elongatus* Irmler, 1994: 63, is a junior primary homonym of *Lispinus elon-gatus* Bernhauer, 1904: 12, and it will be replaced in a forthcoming article by Irmler.

Lispinus fungosus, new name, is proposed for Lispinus puncticollis Bernhauer, 1929: 84, which is a junior primary homonym of Lispinus puncticollis Bernhauer, 1926: 260, and Lispinus puncticollis Bernhauer, 1929a: 346. Bernhauer used the name for three species: one from China, one from the Philippines, and one from the Congo. The Chinese name is the oldest. The name for the species from the Philippines (Bernhauer, 1929: 346) was replaced by Lispinus punctiger Scheerpeltz, 1933; the African name (Bernhauer, 1929: 84) needs replacement. The replacement name is based on the Latin for full of holes (fungosus).

*Lispinus kenyanus*, **new name**, is proposed for *Lispinus alutaceipennis* Bernhauer, 1937: 289, which is a junior primary homonym of *Lispinus alutaceipennis* Scheerpeltz, 1933: 1012. The replacement name is based on the species' country of origin, Kenya.

Lispinus luzonensis, new name, is proposed for Lispinus longipennis Bernhauer, 1926: 259, which is a junior primary homonym of *Lispinus longipennis* Bernhauer, 1915c: 251. The replacement name is based on the name of the island from which the species was collected.

Lispinus prodigiosus, **new name**, is proposed for Lispinus paradoxus (Cameron, 1945a: 141) (ex Pseudolispinodes), which is a junior secondary homonym of Lispinus paradoxus Bernhauer, 1934c: 484. The replacement name is based on the Latin for wonderful or extraordinary (prodigiosus).

Osorius banyosensis, **new name**, is proposed for Osorius luzonicus Bernhauer, 1942a: 223, which is a junior primary homonym of Osorius luzonicus Bernhauer, 1915: 118. The replacement name is based on Los Baños, one of the localities reported for the species in the original description.

Osorius darjeelingensis, **new name**, is proposed for Osorius fraternus Cameron, 1942: 110, which is a junior primary homonym of Osorius fraternus Cameron, 1937a: 91. The replacement name is based on the name of the district from which the species was collected.

Osorius jingkei, **new name**, is proposed for Osorius chinensis J. Li, 1993: 157, which is a junior primary homonym of Osorius chinensis Bernhauer, 1934: 4. The replacement name is a patronym based on the given name of Li Jingke.

Osorius larutensis, **new name**, is proposed for Osorius pendleburyi Cameron, 1950: 8, which is a junior primary homonym of Osorius pendleburyi Cameron, 1945a: 145. Both were described from the same type locality, but Cameron compared each to different species and used different characters, and thus it is difficult to know from the description whether the same species was described twice. The replacement name is based on the type locality cited for both species.

*Priochirus greensladei*, **new name**, is proposed for *Priochirus minor* Greenslade, 1971: 184, which is a junior primary homonym of *Priochirus minor* Bernhauer, 1928: 3, and *Priochirus minor* Cameron, 1928a: 430. *Priochirus minor* Bernhauer is a junior synonym of *Priochirus exaratus* Eppelsheim, 1895; *Priochirus minor* Cameron was replaced by *Priochirus minor* Scheerpeltz, 1933. The replacement name is a pa-

tronym for P.J.M. Greenslade, who originally described the species.

*Priochirus yakushimensis*, **new name**, is proposed for *Priochirus bicornis* (Nakane and Sawada, 1960: A121) (ex *Borolinus*), which is a junior secondary homonym of *Priochirus bicornis* (Fauvel, 1864: 16) (ex *Leptochirus*). The replacement name is based on the type locality of the species.

Thoracochirus brochus, **new name**, is proposed for *Thoracochirus denticollis* Coiffait, 1984: 138, which is a junior primary homonym of *Thoracochirus denticollis* Cameron, 1945: 64. The replacement name is based on the Latin for with projecting teeth (brochus).

### OXYTELINAE

Anotylus bogorensis, **new name**, is proposed for Anotylus longicornis (Fauvel, 1905: 80) (ex Oxytelus), which is a junior primary homonym of Oxytelus longicornis Mannerheim, 1830: 48. Oxytelus longicornis Mannerheim is a junior synonym of Oxytelus sculptus Gravenhorst, 1806. The replacement name is based on Bogor, the current name for the type locality, Buitenzorg.

Anotylus cornutus (Bernhauer, 1936a: 86) (ex Oxytelus) is a junior primary homonym of Platystethus cornutus (Gravenhorst, 1802: 109) (ex Oxytelus). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899. Replacement of the junior homonym seems unnecessary since the two species have never been congeneric, so its use should be maintained. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Anotylus kinangopensis, **new name**, is proposed for Anotylus parasitus (Bernhauer, 1936b: 213) (ex Oncoparia), which is a junior secondary homonym of Anotylus parasitus (Motschulsky, 1860) (ex Oxytelus). The replacement name is based on the type locality for the species.

Anotylus pusillimus (Kraatz, 1859: 177) is resurrected from synonymy with Anotylus pygmaeus (Kraatz, 1859: 176) (ex Oxytelus), which is a junior primary homonym of Anotylus pygmaeus (Melsheimer, 1844: 41) (ex Oxytelus). Anotylus pygmaeus (Melsheimer) is a junior synonym of *Anotylus exiguus* Erichson, 1840.

*Bledius atricapillus* (Germar, 1825: 4) (ex *Oxytelus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Oxytelus atricapillus* Nicolai, 1822: 40. Both names are currently cited as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). Nicolai's taxon name has not been used since its original description and is best regarded a **nomen dubium**, and the required replacement of Germar's name should be ignored. Furthermore, article 23.9.5 can be applied if necessary.

Bledius bicornis (Germar, 1823: 15) (ex Oxytelus) is a junior primary homonym of Piestus bicornis (Olivier, 1811: 615) (ex Oxytelus). Muona (1979: 19) resurrected Bledius dama Motschulsky, 1857 to replace "bicornis (Germar, 1822 nec Block, 1799)". Several authors (e.g., Bohác[inv. caret], 1993: 43; Ciceroni and Zanetti, 1995: 13; Hansen, 1996: 100) followed that action, but at least 6 others did not, and in the last 50 years at least 25 articles by 20 authors have cited Bledius bicornis as the valid name of the species (Herman, in press). Note that the name that Block used was described in Staphylinus; that name is used for a valid species in Anthophagus and seems never to have been used in Bledius. Bledius bicornis (Germar) was described in 1823, several years after Piestus bicornis (Olivier) had been moved to *Piestus*. Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). Although Bledius dama Motschulsky was resurrected to replace B. bicornis (Germar), only a few authors have followed that action so far, and all such uses were in regional checklists. Bledius bicornis is a common, well-know, widespread species about which much as been written (Herman, in press). It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for almost 200 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

Carpelimus kathmanduensis, **new name**, is proposed for Carpelimus nepalicus (Coiffait, 1984a: 385) (ex Trogophloeus), which is a junior primary homonym of Carpelimus nepalicus (Coiffait, 1982: 161) (ex Trogophloeus). Because one species is larger than the other, different characters are used to describe them, and because they are from different localities in Nepal, they are probably different species. The replacement name is based on the place from which the species was collected.

*Carpelimus obscurus* (Solier, 1849: 324) (ex *Homalotrichus*) is a junior secondary homonym of *Carpelimus obscurus* Stephens, 1834: 326. *Carpelimus obscurus* Stephens is a synonym of *Carpelimus rivularis* (Motschulsky, 1860). Coiffait and Saiz (1968: 438) included *C. obscurus* (Solier) in *Trogophloeus* (*Paracarpalimus*), a subgenus that is now included in *Thinodromus*. Since the Solier and Stephens taxa may not belong in the same genus, and since they are secondary homonyms, it is premature to resurrect the junior synonym of *C. obscurus* (Solier) to replace it.

Carpelimus parvulus (Mulsant and Rey, 1861: 175) (ex Oxytelus) is a junior primary homonym of Anotylus parvulus (Melsheimer, 1844: 41) (ex Oxytelus). Anotylus parvulus (Melsheimer) is a synonym of Anotylus exiguus (Erichson, 1840) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing C. parvulus (Mulsant and Rey) as valid in the last 50 years is insufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (see Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names for taxa that have never been congeneric. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

Carpelimus singaporensis, **new name**, is proposed for Carpelimus littoralis (Cameron, 1918: 63) (ex Trogophloeus), which is a junior primary homonym of Carpelimus littoralis (Mulsant and Rey, 1878: 756) (ex Trogophloeus). Carpelimus littoralis (Mulsant and Rey) is a junior synonym of Carpelimus gracilis (Mannerheim, 1830). The replacement name is based on the type locality of the species.

*Oxytelus pallipennis* Grimmer, 1841: 33 is a junior primary homonym of *Bledius palli*-

*pennis* (Say, 1823: 155) (ex *Oxytelus*). *Oxytelus pallipennis* Grimmer is valid but has not been cited since its original description. The Grimmer name is regarded to be a **nomen dubium**, so the required replacement (of *B. pallipennis* (Say)) should be ignored. Furthermore, the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, which permits application of article 23.9.5.

Platystethus cameroni, **new name**, is proposed for *Platystethus longicornis* Cameron, 1942: 108, which is a junior primary homonym of *Platystethus longicornis* P. Lucas, 1846: 126. *Platystethus longicornis* P. Lucas is a junior synonym of *Platystethus nitens* (C. Sahlberg, 1832). The replacement name is a patronym for Malcolm Cameron.

## $S {\rm TAPHYLININAE}$

Atanygnathus andamanensis, **new name**, is proposed for Atanygnathus collaris Coiffait, 1981: 338, which is a junior secondary homonym of Atanygnathus collaris (Erichson, 1839a: 289) (ex Tanygnathus). The replacement name is based on the group of islands from which the species was collected.

Belonuchus haemorrhoidalis (Fabricius, 1801: 596) (ex Staphylinus) is a junior primary homonym of Staphylinus haemorrhoidalis Gmelin, 1790: 2036 and Staphylinus haemorrhoidalis Olivier, 1795: (42): 11. Staphylinus haemorrhoidalis Olivier was replaced by Staphylinus gmelini Blackwelder, 1944, and S. haemorrhoidalis Gmelin, a rarely used name, is a **nomen dubium**. Two of the names are currently cited as valid and were not congeneric after 1899. Replacement of the junior homonym seems unnecessary since B. haemorroidalis (Fabricius) has not been in the same genus with the other two names for more than 160 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Belonuchus terminalis (Laporte, 1840: 176) (ex Staphylinus) is a junior primary homonym of Oligotergus terminalis (Erichson, 1839a: 396) (ex Staphylinus). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899. Although neither species is commonly cited, replacement of the junior homonym seems unnecessary since the two have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Bisnius attiguus, **new name**, is proposed for Bisnius propinquus (Kirshenblat, 1950: 238) (ex Philonthus), which is a junior primary homonym of Paederomimus propinquus (Sharp, 1876: 176) (ex Philonthus) and Gabrius propinquus (Cameron, 1933b: 389) (ex Philonthus). The replacement name is based on the Latin for touching or contiguous (attiguus).

*Bisnius cephalotes* (Gravenhorst, 1802: 22) (ex *Staphylinus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Staphylinus cephalotes* Gmelin, 1790: 2036. *Bisnius cephalotes* (Gravenhorst) has been cited in at least 40 articles by 31 authors in the last 50 years. *Staphylinus cephalotes* Gmelin is a valid species that has not been cited since its original description, so it is regarded as a **nomen dubium** and required replacement should be ignored. Furthermore, the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, which would permit application of article 23.9.5.

*Bisnius nitidulus* (Gravenhorst, 1802: 27) (ex *Staphylinus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Tachyporus nitidulus* (Fabricius, 1781: 337) (ex *Staphylinus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Cafius litoreus* (Broun, 1880: 108) (ex *Staphylinus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Sepedophilus littoreus* (Linné, 1758: 422) (ex *Staphylinus*) (see article 58.7). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899. Replacement of the junior homonym seems unnecessary since the two taxa were never in the same genus. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Cafius mimulus* (Sharp, 1874: 38) (ex *Philonthus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Gabronthus mimulus* (Rottenberg, 1870: 30) (ex *Philonthus*). *Gabronthus mimulus* (Rottenburg) is a synonym of *Gabronthus maritimus* (Motschulsky, 1858) and was not cited as

valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing *C. minulus* (Sharp) as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it using article 23.9.1. The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Cheilocolpus angustatus* (Solier, 1849: 320) (ex *Staphylinus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Staphylinus angustatus* Schrank, 1781: 233, *Rugilus angustatus* (Geoffroy, 1785: 172) (ex *Staphylinus*), and *Astenus angustatus* (Paykull, 1789: 36) (ex *Staphylinus*). *Astenus angustatus* (Paykull, 1789); the others are used as valid. *Cheilocolpus angustatus* (Solier) was not congeneric with the other taxa after after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Diatrechus haemorrhoidalis* (Brancsik, 1893: 220) (ex *Philonthus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Hesperus haemorrhoidalis* (MacLeay, 1873: 140) (ex *Philonthus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Diochus petilus, **new name**, is proposed for Diochus longicornis Cameron, 1952: 328, which is a junior primary homonym of Diochus longicornis Sharp, 1876: 184. Diochus longicornis Sharp is a junior synonym of Diochus nanus Erichson, 1839. The replacement name is based on the Latin for slender (petilus).

Endeius punctipennis (Solier, 1849: 319) (ex Staphylinus) is a junior primary homonym of Othius punctipennis (Lacordaire, 1835: 409) (ex Staphylinus). Othius punctipennis (Lacordaire) is a junior synonym of Othius laeviusculus Stephens, 1833, and it was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing *E. punctipennis* (Solier) as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

Gabrius chiriquiensis, **new name**, is proposed for Gabrius pilipes (Bierig, 1940: 142) (ex Philonthus), which is a junior primary homonym of Philonthus pilipes Stephens, 1832: 231. Philonthus pilipes Stephens, 1832 is a synonym of Philonthus atratus (Gravenhorst, 1802). The replacement name is based on the type locality for Gabrius pilipes Bierig.

Gabrius eremius, **new name**, is proposed for Gabrius horni (Bernhauer and Schubert, 1914: 341) (ex Philonthus), which is a junior primary homonym of Philonthus horni Scudder, 1900: 56. Gabrius horni (Bernhauer and Schubert) is a replacement name for Gabrius parvus Horn, which was a junior secondary homonym when it was replaced. Philonthus horni Scudder is a fossil species. The replacement name is based on the Latin for solitude or desert (eremia).

*Gabrius marshalli* (Cameron, 1951: 402) (ex *Philonthus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Philonthus marshalli* Tottenham, 1949a: 335. The species are from the same locality and some of the stated characters are the same. The two may be the same species, but Cameron's description is so lacking in detail that comparison of the descriptions is difficult; furthermore, the two authors contrasted their new taxa to different species. Examination of the types is needed to determine their conspecificity. Until such study takes place, and since the two species are no longer congeneric, it seems appropriate to continue to recognize the junior homonym as valid.

Gabrius montanus (Bernhauer, 1934a: 237) (ex Philonthus) is a junior primary homonym of Quedius montanus (Heer, 1839: 277) (ex Philonthus). Quedius montanus

(Heer) is a junior synonym of Quedius dubius (Heer, 1839) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing Gabrius montanus (Bernhauer) as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Gabrius picipennis* (Mäklin, 1852: 313) (ex *Philonthus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Quedius picipennis* (Heer, 1839: 279) (ex *Philonthus*). *Quedius picipennis* (Heer) is a synonym of *Quedius fulvicollis* (Stephens, 1833: 244), but was cited as valid from 1888 to 1914. They were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Gabrius propinquus* (Cameron, 1933b: 389) (ex *Philonthus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Paederomimus propinquus* (Sharp, 1876: 176) (ex *Philonthus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Gabrius pullatus, **new name**, is proposed for Gabrius turneri (Cameron, 1951: 403) (ex Philonthus), which is a junior primary homonym of Gabronthus turneri (Tottenham, 1949a: 344) (ex Philonthus). The replacement name is based on the Latin for clothed in black garments (pullatus).

*Gabrius punctatellus* (Horn, 1884: 215) (ex *Philonthus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Quedius punctatellus* (Heer, 1839: 275) (ex *Philonthus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Gabrius viduus (Cameron, 1933a: 346) (ex

*Philonthus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Styngetus viduus* (Erichson, 1840: 506) (ex *Philonthus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Hesperus gratus* (Cameron, 1943: 342) (ex *Philonthus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Neobisnius gratus* (LeConte, 1863a: 38) (ex *Philonthus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Hesperus mirificus, **new name**, is proposed for Hesperus mirus Last, 1981: 132, which is a junior primary homonym of Hesperus mirus Bernhauer, 1915a: 146. The replacement name is based on the Latin for causing wonder (mirificus).

*Hesperus rufipennis* (Gravenhorst, 1802: 40) (ex *Staphylinus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Belonuchus rufipennis* (Fabricius, 1801: 597) (ex *Staphylinus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Hesperus septuosus, **new name**, is proposed for Hesperus obscuricollis Scheerpeltz, 1971: 168, which is a junior primary homonym of Hesperus obscuricollis Cameron, 1941b: 379. One species account included the phrase "Bernhauer i.l." and the other "Bernhauer in litt." Both species are from the Philippines, but from different islands, and they have some different features. The replacement name is based on the Latin for obscure (septuosus).

Heterothops tumulus, **new name**, is proposed for *Heterothops montanus* Last, 1975: 434, which is a junior primary homonym of *Heterothops montanus* Iablokov-Khnzorian, 1966: 174. The replacement name is based on the Latin for raised mound of earth (*tumulus*).

Leptacinus debilis Cameron, 1950a: 28 is a junior primary homonym of Somoleptus debilis (Erichson, 1839a: 336) (ex Leptacinus). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Leptacinus hariolus, **new name**, is proposed for Leptacinus sinuatocollis Scheerpeltz, 1974: 118, which is a junior primary homonym of Leptacinus sinuatocollis Scheerpeltz, 1957: 233. The replacement name is based on the Latin for prophet (hariolus).

Leptacinus lipposus, **new name**, is proposed for Leptacinus microps Coiffait, 1968: 139, which is a junior primary homonym of *Paulianella microps* (Jarrige, 1951: 335) (ex Leptacinus). The replacement name is based on the Latin for bleary-eyed (*lipposus*).

Leptacinus paulus, **new name**, is proposed for Leptacinus minutus Coiffait, 1968: 138, which is a junior secondary homonym of Leptacinus minutus (Lacordaire, 1835: 417) (ex Xantholinus). Leptacinus minutus (Lacordaire) is a synonym of Leptacinus pusillus (Stephens, 1833). The replacement name is based on the Latin for little (paulus).

Nordus testaceus (Fabricius, 1801: 595) (ex Staphylinus) is a junior primary homonym of Lobrathium testaceum (Paykull, 1789: 28) (ex Staphylinus). Lobrathium testaceum (Paykull) is a synonym of Lobrathium multipunctum (Gravenhorst, 1802) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing Nordus testaceus (Fabricius) as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it using article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Ocypus atavus* (Oustalet, 1874: 162) (ex *Staphylinus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Staphylinus atavus* Heer, 1862: 48. Both are fossils. The names are rarely cited and have been in different genera since at least 1907 (not quite long enough ago to satisfy provisions of article 23.9.5) and perhaps longer, so it seems appropriate to forego proposing a new name now.

*Paederomimus cognatus* (Sharp, 1876: 169) (ex *Philonthus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Philonthus cognatus* Stephens, 1833: 229. Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Philonthus aberrans* Cameron, 1932: 111 is a junior primary homonym of *Paederomimus aberrans* (Sharp, 1876: 174) (ex *Philonthus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Philonthus aeolus*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus temporalis* (Coiffait, 1977: 221) (ex *Paragabrius*), which is a junior secondary homonym of *Philonthus temporalis* Mulsant and Rey, 1853: 61. The replacement name is based on the Latin for god of the winds (*Aeolus*).

*Philonthus antennarius*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus antennalis* Cameron, 1937: 7, which is a junior secondary homonym of *Philonthus antennalis* (Cameron, 1932: 262) (ex *Philonthopsis*), which is a junior synonym of *Philonthus distincticornis* Cameron, 1932. The replacement name is based on the Latin, *antenna*.

*Philonthus arabiensis*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus thoracicus* (Coiffait, 1979: 165) (ex *Paragabrius*), which is a junior secondary homonym of *Philonthus thoracicus* (Gravenhorst, 1802: 170) (ex *Staphylinus*) and a junior primary homonym of *Bisnius thoracicus* (Melsheimer, 1844: 36) (ex *Philonthus*). Melsheimer's name is now a synonym of *Bisnius blandus* (Gravenhorst, 1806: 72). The replacement name is based on the type locality.

*Philonthus argus*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus tucumanensis* Bernhauer, 1934a: 118, which is a junior primary homonym of *Philonthus tucumanensis* Bernhauer, 1927a: 245. The replacement name is based on the Latin for the name of the hundredeyed guardian of Io (*Argus*).

*Philonthus argutus*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus nitens* Kraatz, 1859: 82,

which is a junior secondary homonym of *Philonthus nitens* (Gravenhorst, 1802: 26) (ex *Staphylinus*). *Philonthus nitens* (Gravenhorst) is now a junior synonym of *Philonthus varians* (Paykull, 1789). The replacement name is based on the Latin for shiny or bright (*argutus*).

*Philonthus austellus*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus rufipes* Boheman, 1848: 284, which is a junior secondary homonym of *Philonthus rufipes* (Stephens, 1832: 222) (ex *Quedius*). The replacement name is based on the Latin for gentle south wind (*austellus*).

*Philonthus australis* Cameron, 1943: 342, is a junior primary homonym of *Hesperus australis* (MacLeay, 1873: 139) (ex *Philonthus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Philonthus bhutanensis*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus gabrioides* Coiffait, 1984a: 376, which is a junior primary homonym of *Gabrius gabrioides* (Bernhauer, 1913: 131) (ex *Philonthus*). The replacement name is based on the type locality.

Philonthus bicolor Fauvel, 1903: 240 is a junior primary homonym of Quedius bicolor (Redtenbacher, 1849: 710) (ex Philonthus). Quedius bicolor (Redtenbacher) is a synonym of *Quedius assimilis* (Nordmann, 1837) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing Philonthus bicolor Fauvel as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Philonthus binotatus* (Gravenhorst, 1806: 73) (ex *Staphylinus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Heterothops binotatus* (Gravenhorst, 1802: 28) (ex *Staphylinus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Philonthus curvabilis*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus sinuatus* Tottenham, 1949a: 341, which is a junior primary homonym of *Philonthus sinuatus* Wollaston, 1867: 239. *Philonthus sinuatus* Wollaston is a synonym of *Philonthus quisquiliarius* (Gyllenhal, 1810). The replacement name is based on the Latin for flexible or bendable (*curvabilis*).

*Philonthus humilis* Cameron, 1932: 106 is a junior primary homonym of *Neobisnius humilis* (Erichson, 1840: 512) (ex *Philonthus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Philonthus hybridus* Cameron, 1930a: 163 is a junior primary homonym of *Quedius hybridus* (Erichson, 1840: 432) (ex *Philonthus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Philonthus lubomiri*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus simonae* Hromádka, 1992: 99, which is a junior primary homonym of *Philonthus simonae* Levasseur, 1962: 238. The replacement name is a patronym based on Hromádka's first name.

*Philonthus malcolmi*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus cameroni* Pajni and Kohli, 1977: 513, which is a junior primary homonym of *Philonthus cameroni* Scheerpeltz, 1933: 1335. The replacement name is based on the first name of M. Cameron, for whom the species was originally named.

*Philonthus nigriceps* Eppelsheim, 1885: 112 is a junior primary homonym of *Erichsonius nigriceps* (Gemminger and Harold, 1868: 590) (ex *Philonthus*). *Erichsonius nigriceps* (Gemminger and Harold), a replacement name for *Erichsonius melanocephalus* (Hochhuth), is currently a synonym of *Erichsonius cinerascens* (Gravenhorst, 1802) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing *Philonthus nigriceps* Eppelsheim as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Philonthus obscurus* (Gravenhorst, 1802: 174) (ex *Staphylinus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Staphylinus obscurus* (Herbst, 1784: 149), *Lesteva obscura* (Paykull, 1800: 388) (ex *Staphylinus*), and *Zyras obscurus* (Fabricius, 1801: 595) (ex *Staphylinus*). *Lesteva obscura* (Paykull) is a synonym of *Lesteva obscura* (Paykull) is a synonym of *Lesteva longoelytrata* (Goeze, 1777), and *Staphylinus obscurus* Herbst is a **nomen dubium**. *Zyras obscurus* (Fabricius) is current-ly valid and was not congeneric with *P. obscurus* (Gravenhorst) after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Philonthus ottoi*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus trapeziceps* Scheerpeltz, 1965: 213, which is a junior primary homonym of *Philonthus trapeziceps* Scheerpeltz, 1960: 107. The replacement name is a patronym based on the first name of O. Scheerpeltz.

*Philonthus picipes* Fauvel, 1875: xxxi is a junior secondary homonym of *Philonthus picipes* (Stephens, 1832: 221) (ex *Quedius*) and will be replaced by Schillhammer (personal commun.) in a forthcoming article.

*Philonthus proselytus*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus tamulus* Tottenham, 1949a: 358, which is a junior primary homonym of *Philonthus tamulus* Cameron, 1932: 91. The replacement name is based on the Latin for convert (*proselytus*).

*Philonthus thoracicus* (Gravenhorst, 1802: 170) (ex *Staphylinus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Paederidus thoracicus* (Geoffroy, 1785: 170) (ex *Staphylinus*) and *Staphylinus thoracicus* Villers, 1789: 420. *Paederidus thoracicus* is a junior synonym of *Paederidus rubrothoracicus* (Goeze, 1777) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article

23.9.1.1). *Staphylinus thoracicus* Villers seems not to have been cited after its original description and is labelled a **nomen dubium** (Herman, in press). The three homonyms were not congeneric after 1899. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of three names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

Philonthus repetitus, **new name**, is proposed for Philonthus renominatus Cameron, 1951: 402, which is a junior primary homonym of Philonthus renominatus Cameron, 1937: 5. In 1937, Cameron proposed Philonthus renominatus to replace the junior primary homonym Philonthus vicinus Cameron, 1933, and later, in 1951, he used the name for a new species. The replacement name is based on the Latin for again or anew (repetitus).

*Philonthus rivularis* Cameron, 1932: 138 is a junior primary homonym of *Erichsonius rivularis* (Kiesenwetter, 1858: 61) (ex *Philonthus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Philonthus secus*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus distinguendus* Cameron, 1951: 400, which is a junior primary homonym of *Gabrius distinguendus* (Cameron, 1950a: 41) (ex *Philonthus*). The replacement name is based on the Latin for different (*secus*).

*Philonthus serenus*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus parvicornis* Fauvel, 1907: 40, which is a junior secondary homonym of *Philonthus parvicornis* (Gravenhorst, 1802: 23) (ex *Staphylinus*). The replacement name is based on the Latin for clear or bright (*serenus*).

*Philonthus sublucanus*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus sericans* Sharp, 1874: 45, which is a junior secondary homonym of *Philonthus sericans* (Gravenhorst, 1802: 171) (ex *Staphylinus*). *Philonthus sericans* (Gravenhorst) was described in *Staphylinus*. The replacement name is based on the Latin for toward morning (*sublucanus*).

Philonthus supernus, new name, is pro-

posed for *Philonthus excelsus* Bernhauer, 1941a: 287, which is a junior secondary homonym of *Philonthus excelsus* (Cameron, 1931: 361) (ex *Hesperus*) and a junior primary homonym of *Gabrius excelsus* (Cameron, 1932: 147) (ex *Philonthus*). *Gabrius excelsus* (Cameron, 1932) was replaced by *Gabrius perexcelsus* (Tottenham, 1939). The replacement name for *P. excelsus* Bernhauer is based on the Latin for on high (*supernus*).

Philonthus transbaicalia Hochhuth, 1851: 10, is **resurrected** from synonymy with Philonthus suturalis Nordmann, 1837, which is a junior secondary homonym of Philonthus suturalis (Marsham, 1802: 509) (ex Staphylinus) and Philonthus suturalis (Stephens, 1832: 223) (ex Quedius). Both of the older homonyms are synonyms of Philonthus discoideus (Gravenhorst, 1802).

Philonthus trunculus, **new name**, is proposed for Philonthus analis Fauvel, 1907: 46, which is a junior primary homonym of Gabrius analis (Heer, 1839: 268) (ex Philonthus) and Xenopygus analis (Erichson, 1840: 495) (ex Philonthus). Gabrius analis (Heer) is a synonym of Gabrius splendidulus Gravenhorst, 1802. The replacement name is based on the Latin for tip, end, or extremity of the body (trunculus).

*Philonthus vertumnus*, **new name**, is proposed for *Philonthus planus* Last, 1987: 27, which is a junior secondary homonym of *Philonthus planus* (Lacordaire, 1835: 401) (ex *Staphylinus*), a synonym of *Philonthus corruscus* (Gravenhorst, 1802). The replacement name is based on the Latin for the god of change and trade (*Vertumnus*).

*Platydracus biguttatus* (Bernhauer, 1937: 304) (ex *Staphylinus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Stenus biguttatus* (Linné, 1758: 422) (ex *Staphylinus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Platydracus purpurascens* (Cameron, 1920: 217) (ex *Staphylinus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Trigonopselaphus purpurascens* (Nordmann, 1837: 47) (ex *Staphylinus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Platydracus tomentosus (Gravenhorst, 1802: 161) (ex Staphylinus) is a junior primary homonym of Sepedophilus tomentosus (Rossi, 1792: 97) (ex Staphylinus). Sepedophilus tomentosus (Rossi) is a junior synonym of Sepedophilus littoreus (Linné, 1758) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing *Platvdracus tomentosus* (Gravenhorst) as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

Quedius angulicollis Fauvel, 1891: 60, is resurrected from synonymy with Quedius bicolor Mulsant and Rey, 1876: 738, which is a junior secondary homonym of Quedius bicolor (Redtenbacher, 1849: 710) (ex Philonthus). Quedius bicolor (Redtenbacher) is a synonym of Quedius assimilis (Nordmann, 1837).

Quedius aurorus, new name, is proposed for Quedius laticollis Sharp, 1889: 31, which is a junior secondary homonym of Quedius laticollis (Gravenhorst, 1802: 173) (ex Staphylinus). The replacement name is based on the Latin for dawn (aurora).

Quedius hirtipennis Broun, 1915: 279 is a junior primary homonym of *Philonthus hirtipennis* (Stephens, 1832: 221) (ex *Quedius*). *Philonthus hirtipennis* (Stephens) is a synonym of *Philonthus albipes* (Gravenhorst, 1802) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing *Quedius hirtipennis* Broun as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it using article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It

seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

Quedius manducus, new name, is proposed for Quedius analis (MacLeay, 1873: 142) (ex Staphylinus), which is a junior primary homonym of Quedius analis (Fabricius, 1787: 221) and a junior secondary homonym of Quedius analis Stephens, 1835: 435. Quedius analis Stephens is a synonym of Quedius cruentatus (Olivier, 1795). Quedius analis (Fabricius) is a junior synonym of Quedius scitus (Gravenhorst). The replacement name is based on the Latin for chewer (manducus).

Quedius obscuripennis arvernus, new name, is proposed for Quedius obscuripennis arvernicus Coiffait, 1982c: 233, which is a junior primary homonym of Quedius arvernicus Mulsant and Rey, 1876: 643. Quedius arvernicus Mulsant and Rey is a synonym of Quedius mesomelinus (Marsham, 1802). Quedius obscuripennis pyrenaeicola Coiffait is a valid subspecies and cannot replace Q. obscuripennis arvernicus. The replacement name is based on the Latin for nether world or infernal regions (Arvernus).

Quedius segersi, new name, is proposed for Quedius conicus Segers, 1987: 267, which is a junior primary homonym of Indoquedius conicus (Champion, 1922: 33) (ex Quedius). Indoquedius conicus (Champion) is a synonym of Indoquedius filicornis (Eppelsheim, 1895). The replacement name is a patronym for R. Segers.

*Quedius sericopterus* (Stephens, 1833: 244) (ex *Raphirus*) is a junior secondary homonym of *Quedius sericopterus* Stephens, 1832: 219. Both names were cited only once, in 1839, since the original description. They should be considered **nomina dubia** and the required replacement ignored.

Quedius suturalis Kiesenwetter, 1845: 225 is a junior primary homonym of *Philonthus* suturalis (Stephens, 1832: 224) (ex *Quedius*). *Philonthus suturalis* (Stephens) has been a synonym of *Philonthus discoideus* (Gravenhorst, 1802) since 1839 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 27 articles by 24 authors have been published listing *Quedius* suturalis Kiesenwetter as valid (article 23.9.1.2); 23 articles are listed in a forthcoming catalog (Herman, in press), and the other four are cited herein (Dynort, 1995: 41; Köhler, 1997: 68; Wagner, 1992: 141; Wenzel, 1993: 11). *Quedius suturalis* is a **nomen protectum** and *Q. suturalis* (Stephens) a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

Ouedius unicolor Kiesenwetter, 1847: 75 is a junior primary homonym of *Philonthus* unicolor (Stephens, 1832: 224) (ex Quedius). Philonthus unicolor (Stephens) has been a synonym of Philonthus varians (Paykull, 1789) since 1858, except once in 1957, when it was used as the valid name in North America, thus compromising use of article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 25 articles by 19 authors have been published listing *Quedius unicolor* Kiesenwetter as valid; 21 articles are listed in a forthcoming catalog (Herman, in press), and the other four are cited herein (Hugentobler, 1966: 83; Peez and Kahlen, 1977: 165; Schiller, 1989: 1061; Wörndle, 1950: 156). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Staphylinus affinis* Solsky, 1868: 126 is a junior primary homonym of *Atrecus affinis* (Paykull, 1789: 24) (ex *Staphylinus*). *S. affinis* Solsky will be placed in synonymy (A. Newton, personal commun.). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Staphylinus auricomus Cameron, 1929: 65 is a junior primary homonym of *Glenus auricomus* (Brullé, 1842: pl. 5, fig. 6) (ex *Staphylinus*). *Glenus auricomus* (Brullé) is a synonym of *Glenus chrysis* (Gravenhorst, 1806) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing *Staphylinus auricomus* Cameron as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

Staphylinus bicolor Gmelin, 1790: 2027 is a junior primary homonym of Lesteva bicolor (Paykull, 1789: 21) (ex Staphylinus). Lesteva bicolor (Paykull) has been a junior synonym of Lesteva longoelytrata (Goeze, 1777) since 1895, and the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). Staphylinus bicolor Gmelin has not been cited since its original description, and thus it should be considered a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored.

*Staphylinus chrysis* Bernhauer, 1936: 24 is a junior primary homonym of *Glenus chrysis* (Gravenhorst, 1806: 124) (ex *Staphylinus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Staphylinus cursor Grimmer, 1841: 32 is a junior primary homonym of Omalium cursor (O. Müller, 1776: 97) (ex Staphylinus). Omalium cursor (O. Müller) has been a synonym of Omalium rivulare (Paykull, 1789) since 1840 and the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). Staphylinus cursor Grimmer has been cited once, in 1868, since the original description and, although cited as valid, it should be considered a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored.

Staphylinus cyanipennis Runde, 1835: 7 is a junior primary homonym of *Philonthus cy*anipennis (Fabricius, 1793: 525) (ex Staphylinus), and the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). Staphylinus cyanipennis Runde has not been used since its original description, and thus it should be regarded a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored.

Staphylinus dimidiatus Laporte, 1835: 115 is a junior primary homonym of Philonthus dimidiatus (C. Sahlberg, 1830: 326) (ex Staphylinus), Philonthus dimidiatus (Say, 1830: 37) (ex Staphylinus), and Philonthus dimidiatus (Lacordaire, 1835: 402) (ex Staphylinus). The species described by C. Sahlberg, Say, and Lacordaire are synonyms of Philonthus caucasicus Nordmann, 1837, Philonthus sericans (Gravenhorst, 1802), and Philonthus quisquiliarius (Gyllenhal, 1810), respectively. Although the Say and Lacordaire names were not cited as valid after 1899, the Sahlberg name was cited as valid by many authors after 1899 (Herman, in press), and thus the requirements of article 23.9.1.1 are not met. Furthermore, the number of articles citing Staphylinus dimidiatus Laporte as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The three older homonyms were not congeneric with S. dimidiatus Laporte after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 vears. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

Staphylinus emeritus, **new name**, is proposed for Staphylinus priscus Sharp, 1876: 155, which is a junior primary homonym of the fossil Staphylinus priscus Oustalet, 1874: 166. The replacement name is based on the Latin for honorably discharged or retired (emeritus).

Staphylinus fuscomaculatus Laporte, 1835: 113 is a junior primary homonym of Staphylinus fuscomaculatus Goeze, 1777: 730, but it has only been cited a few times. Staphylinus fuscomaculatus Goeze is cited as valid but has not been used since its original description, and thus it should be regarded as a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored.

Staphylinus giganteus Kraatz, 1899: 112 is a junior primary homonym of Staphylinus giganteus Cuvier, 1833: 196, but it has only been cited a few times. Staphylinus giganteus Cuvier is listed as valid, but it has not been used since its original description, and thus should be considered a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored.

Staphylinus glaber Gmelin, 1790: 2035 is a junior primary homonym of Quedius glaber (O. Müller, 1776: 98) (ex Staphylinus). Quedius glaber (O. Müller) has been a synonym of Quedius laevigatus (Gyllenhal, 1810) or Quedius plagiatus Mannerheim, 1843 since 1840, and it was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). Staphylinus glaber Gmelin is listed as valid but has not been used since its original description, and thus it should be considered a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored. Furthermore, the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press), which permits application of article 23.9.5.

*Staphylinus latus* O. Müller, 1776: 97 is a junior primary homonym of *Staphylinus latus* Ström, 1768: 332. Both names are rarely used and should be considered **nomina dubia** and the required replacement ignored.

Staphylinus limbatus Fabricius, 1801: 600 is a junior primary homonym of Zyras limbatus (Paykull, 1789: 54) (ex Staphylinus). Staphylinus limbatus Fabricius has not been used since its original description, and thus it should be considered a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored. By 1802, Staphylinus limbatus Paykull had been moved to Aleochara (Gravenhorst, 1802: 69), and it has not been in Staphylinus since. Furthermore, the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, which permits application of article 23.9.5.

Staphylinus marginatus Cameron, 1944: 11 is a junior primary homonym of Philonthus marginatus (O. Müller, 1764: 23) (ex Staphylinus), Philonthus marginatus (Ström, 1768: 313) (ex Staphylinus), Philonthus marginatus (Fabricius, 1775: 255) (ex Staphylinus), and Tachinus marginatus (Geoffroy, 1785: 169) (ex Staphylinus). Tachinus marginatus (Geoffroy) is a synonym of Tachinus marginellus (Fabricius, 1781). All the names are currently used as valid, and none of the four older names were congeneric with S. marginatus Cameron (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Staphylinus marginellus Gmelin, 1790: 2036 is a junior primary homonym of Tach-

*inus marginellus* (Fabricius, 1781: 337) (ex *Staphylinus*). *Staphylinus marginellus* Gmelin is listed as valid but has not been used since its original description, and thus it should be regarded as a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored. Furthermore, the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press), which permits application of article 23.9.5.

Staphylinus minutus Marsham, 1802: 511 is a junior primary homonym of Acrolocha minuta (Olivier, 1795 (42): 38) (ex Staphylinus). Staphylinus minutus Marsham is listed as valid but has not been cited since its original description, and thus it should be regarded as a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored. Furthermore, the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press), which permits application of article 23.9.5.

Staphylinus oculatus O. Müller, 1776: 99 is a junior primary homonym of *Creophilus* oculatus (Fabricius, 1775: 265) (ex Staphylinus). Staphylinus oculatus O. Müller is listed as a valid species but has not been cited since its original description, and thus it should be regarded as a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored.

Staphylinus picipennis Nordmann, 1837: 71 is a junior primary homonym of Ocypus picipennis (Fabricius, 1793: 521) (ex Staphylinus). Staphylinus picipennis Nordmann is listed as a valid species but has not been cited since its original description, and thus it should be regarded as a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored.

Staphylinus ruficornis O. Costa, 1839: 118 is a junior primary homonym of Staphylinus ruficornis Latreille, 1804: 326 and Quedius ruficornis (Gravenhorst, 1802: 50) (ex Staphylinus). Staphylinus ruficornis Latreille was not used after its original description. Quedius ruficornis (Gravenhorst) has been a synonym of Quedius rufipes (Gravenhorst, 1802) or Quedius semiobscurus (Marsham, 1802) since 1840. Staphylinus ruficornis O. Costa is listed as a valid species but has not been used since its original description, and thus it should be considered a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored.

Staphylinus rufipennis Cameron, 1930: 156 is a junior primary homonym of Belonuchus rufipennis (Fabricius, 1801: 597) (ex Staphylinus), Hesperus rufipennis (Gravenhorst, 1802: 40) (ex Staphylinus), and Philonthus rufipennis (Solier, 1849: 317) (ex Staphylinus). Philonthus rufipennis (Solier) is a synonym of Philonthus hepaticus Erichson, 1840. Staphylinus rufipennis Cameron, B. rufipennis (Fabricius), and Hesperus rufipennis (Gravenhorst) are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Staphylinus rufipes Fabricius, 1793: 529 is a junior primary homonym of Tachinus rufipes (Linné, 1758: 423) (ex Staphylinus). Staphylinus rufipes Fabricius was used three times after its original description (the last time being in 1840) and is currently cited as valid; however, it should be considered a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored. Furthermore, the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press), which permits application of article 23.9.5.

Staphylinus sapphirinus Gistel, 1857: 35 is a junior primary homonym of Xanthopygus sapphirinus (Erichson, 1839a: 364) (ex Staphylinus). Staphylinus sapphirinus Gistel was not used after its original description, and thus it should be considered a **nomen dubium** and the required ignored replacement. Furthermore, the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press), which permits application of article 23.9.5.

Staphylinus scabrosus (Curtis, 1839: 196) (ex Ocypus) is ressurected from synonymy with Staphylinus fuscicornis Germar, 1824: 33, which is a junior secondary homonym of Staphylinus fuscicornis O. Müller, 1776: 98. Staphylinus fuscicornis O. Müller is listed as valid but has been cited once (in 1790) since its original description (Herman, in press). Blackwelder (1944: 139) replaced Staphylinus fuscicornis Germar with Staphylinus nigrescens Blanchard, 1842, but there are two older names: one, Staphylinus lugubris Nordmann, 1837, is a junior primary homonym so cannot be used; the other, Staphylinus scabrosus (Curtis, 1839), was cited erroneously by Blackwelder (1944: 139) as published in 1843. Staphylinus fuscicornis Germar and Staphylinus nigrescens Blanchard are junior synonyms of *Staphylinus scabrosus* (Curtis).

Staphylinus semotus, **new name**, is proposed for Staphylinus subcyaneus Sharp, 1876: 151, which is a junior primary homonym of Ocypus subcyaneus (Heer, 1839: 253) (ex Staphylinus). Ocypus subcyaneus (Heer), described as a variety of Staphylinus cyaneus Paykull, 1789, is a synonym of Ocypus ophthalmicus (Scopoli, 1763). The replacement name is based on the Latin for distant or removed (semotus).

Staphylinus thoracicus Villers, 1789: 420 is a junior primary homonym of *Paederidus* thoracicus (Geoffroy, 1785: 170) (ex Staphylinus). *Paederidus thoracicus* Geoffroy is a synonym of *Paederidus rubrothoracicus* (Goeze, 1777). Staphylinus thoracicus Villers has not been used since its original description, and thus it should be considered a **nomen dubium** and the required replacement ignored. Furthermore, the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press), which permits application of article 23.9.5.

*Tasgius dichromus*, **new name**, is proposed to replace *Tasgius bicolor* (Cameron, 1944: 11) (ex *Staphylinus*), which is a junior primary homonym of *Lesteva bicolor* (Pay-kull, 1789: 21) (ex *Staphylinus*), *Staphylinus bicolor* Gmelin, 1790: 2027, *Xenopygus bicolor* (Laporte, 1935: 115) (ex *Staphylinus*), and *Ocypus bicolor* (G. Müller, 1943: 105) (ex *Staphylinus*). The replacement name is based on the Greek for two (*di*-) and for color (*chroma*).

*Thyreocephalus feae* Cameron, 1941a: 446, a junior secondary homonym of *Thy-reocephalus feae* (Fauvel, 1895: 242) (ex *Xantholinus*), will be replaced by Bordoni (personal commun.) in a forthcoming article.

*Thyreocephalus nigerrimus* (Sharp, 1887: 791) (ex *Saurohypnus*), a junior secondary homonym of *Thyreocephalus nigerrimus* (Kraatz, 1859: 103) (ex *Xantholinus*), will be replaced by Bordoni (personal commun.) in a forthcoming article.

*Thyreocephalus puncticeps* Cameron, 1942a: 843 is a junior primary homonym of *Thyreocephalus puncticeps* Sharp, 1885: 501, but Bordoni (personal commun.) informed me that Cameron's name is a junior synonym of another species.

*Thyreocephalus rufipennis* (Coiffait, 1982a: 249) (ex *Indoscytalinus*) is a junior

secondary homonym of *Thyreocephalus ru-fipennis* Sharp, 1885: 500, but it will be transferred to another genus in a forthcoming article by Bordoni (personal commun.).

Xantholinus minutus Coiffait, 1962: 73 is a junior primary homonym of Leptacinus minutus (Lacordaire, 1835: 417) (ex Xantholinus). Leptacinus minutus (Lacordaire) is a synonym of *Leptacinus pusillus* (Stephens, 1833) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1) (Herman, in press). However, the number of articles citing Xantholinus minutus Coiffait as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

Xantholinus piceus Cameron, 1926a: 345 is a junior primary secondary homonym of Zeteotomus piceus (MacLeay, 1873: 138) (ex Xantholinus). Zeteotomus piceus MacLeay is a synonym of Zeteotomus atriceps (Mac-Leay) and may not have been cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing Xantholinus piceus Cameron as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

Xanthopygus haemorrhoidalis (Germar, 1824: 34) (ex Staphylinus) is a junior primary homonym of Staphylinus haemorrhoidalis Gmelin, 1790: 2036, Staphylinus haemorrhoidalis Olivier, 1795 (42): 11, and Belonuchus haemorrhoidalis (Fabricius, 1801: 596) (ex Staphylinus). Staphylinus haemor*rhoidalis* Olivier was replaced by *Staphylinus gmelini* Blackwelder, 1944. *Xanthopygus haemorrhoidalis* (Germar) was not congeneric with the other homonyms after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Xenopygus analis (Erichson, 1840: 495) (ex Philonthus) is a junior primary homonym of Gabrius analis (Heer, 1839: 268) (ex Philonthus). Gabrius analis (Heer) is a junior synonym of Gabrius splendidulus (Gravenhorst, 1802) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing Xenopygus analis (Erichson) as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for over more than years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Xenopygus bicolor* (Laporte, 1835: 115) (ex *Staphylinus*) is a junior primary homonym of *Lesteva bicolor* (Paykull, 1789: 21) (ex *Staphylinus*) and *Staphylinus bicolor* Gmelin, 1790: 2027. *Lesteva bicolor* Paykull is a synonym of *Lesteva longoelytrata* (Goeze, 1777), and *S. bicolor* Gmelin has not been used since its original description (Herman, in press) and should be considered a **nomen dubium**. *Xenopygus bicolor* (Laporte) was not congeneric with the others after 1899 (Herman, 1899). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

### STENINAE

Dianous festinus, new name, is proposed for Dianous semicoeruleus (Cameron, 1929a: 449) (ex Stenus), which is a junior primary homonym of Stenus semicoeruleus L. Benick, 1928a: 179. Benick's name is a synonym of Stenus coeruleus C. Waterhouse, 1877. The replacement name is based on the Latin for hasty or quick (*festinus*).

Stenus difficilis Casey, 1884: 41 is **resurrected** from synonymy with *Stenus tenuis* Casey, 1884: 40, which is a junior primary homonym of *Stenus tenuis* Rey, 1884: 272. *Stenus tenuis* Rey is a junior synonym of *Stenus atratulus* Erichson, 1839.

Stenus pulchrior Puthz, 1971: 47 is **resurrected** from synonymy with *Stenus ornatus* Cameron, 1929a: 449, which is a junior primary homonym of the fossil species, *Stenus ornatus* Förster, 1891: 365.

# TACHYPORINAE

Bolitobius commodus, **new name**, is proposed for Bolitobius bicolor (Cameron, 1926: 175) (ex Bryocharis), which is a junior secondary homonym of Bolitobius bicolor (Rossi, 1790: 253) (ex Oxyporus). Bolitobius bicolor (Rossi) is a synonym of Bolitobius cingulatus Mannerheim, 1830. The replacement name is based on the Latin for suitable (commodus).

Carphacis effrenatus, **new name**, is proposed for Carphacis intrusus (Horn, 1877: 115) (ex Bolitobius), which is a junior primary homonym of Lordithon intrusus (Hampe, 1850: 349) (ex Bolitobius). Lordithon intrusus (Hampe) is a synonym of Lordithon thoracicus (Fabricius, 1777). The replacement name is based on the Latin for unrestrained (effrenatus).

Carphacis striatus (Olivier, 1795 (42): 28) (ex Staphylinus) is a junior primary homonym of Anotylus striatus (Ström, 1768: 333) (ex Staphylinus). Staphylinus striatus Ström has been a junior synonym of Anotylus rugosus (Fabricius, 1775) since 1840 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). Carphacis striatus (Olivier) has been cited in 25 articles by 25 authors in the last 50 years (Herman, in press) (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). However, Adám (1996a: 248) resurrected Carphacis angularis (Paykull), a junior synonym of C. striatus (Olivier), thereby compromising application of article 23.9.1. Use of the resurrected name will create significant instability. The name in current use has been cited as valid in many

publications and is known by many workers, and thus its use should be maintained. The matter will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name should to be maintained (article 23.9.3). Furthermore, the two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press), which permits application of article 23.9.5.

Coproporus apicalis (Erichson, 1839a: 250) (ex Tachinus) is a junior primary homonym of Tachinus apicalis Stephens, 1832: 195. Tachinus apicalis Stephens is a junior synonym of Tachinus signatus Gravenhorst, 1802 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing C. apicalis (Erichson) as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Coproporus breviarius*, **new name**, is proposed for *Coproporus brevis* Sharp, 1876: 86, which is a junior secondary homonym of *Coproporus brevis* (Scriba, 1855: 296) (ex *Tachyporus*). *Coproporus brevis* (Scriba) is a synonym of *Coproporus rutilus* (Erichson, 1839). The replacement name is based on the Latin for abridged (*breviarius*).

*Coproporus infectus*, **new name**, is proposed for *Coproporus piceorufus* Campbell, 1975: 197, which is a junior primary homonym of *Coproporus piceorufus* Bernhauer, 1926a: 321. *Coproporus piceorufus* Campbell was first published as an aberration of *Coproporus rutilus* by Bernhauer (1918: 91), and thus it was an unavailable name. It became available when Campbell (1975) cited it as a valid species (article 10.2), so he is the author (article 45.5.1) and the date of publication is 1975 (article 23.3.4). The replacement name is based on the Latin for dyed or stained (*infectus*).

Coproporus repletus, **new name**, is proposed for Coproporus affinis (Sharp, 1883: 301) (ex Erchomus), which is a junior secondary homonym of *Coproporus affinis* (Kirby, 1837: 91) (ex *Tachyporus*). The replacement name is based on the Latin for full (*repletus*).

Lordithon abditus, **new name**, is proposed for Lordithon decipiens (Cameron, 1937: 34) (ex Bolitobius), which is a junior primary homonym of Lordithon decipiens (Cameron, 1932: 343) (ex Bolitobius). The replacement name is based on the Latin for concealed (abditus).

Lordithon angularis (Sachse, 1852: 122) (ex Bolitobius) is a junior primary homonym of Lordithon angularis (Stephens, 1832: 173) (ex Bolitobius). Lordithon angularis Stephens is a synonym of Lordithon exoletus Erichson, 1839. Lorditon angularis (Sachse) will be placed Assing (personal commun.) in a forthcoming article.

Lordithon conabilis, **new name**, is proposed for Lordithon difficilis Campbell, 1982: 41, which is a junior secondary homonym of Lordithon difficilis (Cameron, 1932: 346) (ex Bolitobius). The replacement name is based on the Latin for laborious or difficult (conabilis).

Lordithon humerulus, **new name**, is proposed for Lordithon humeralis (Cameron, 1926: 174, 175) (ex Bolitobius), which is a junior primary homonym of Carphacis humeralis (Melsheimer, 1844: 33) (ex Bolitobius). Carphacis dimidiatus humeralis Melsheimer is a dimiatus dimidiatus synonym of Carphacis dimidiatus (Erichson, 1839). The replacement name is based on the Latin for shoulder (humerulus, the diminutive of humerus).

Lordithon kelleyi (Malkin, 1944: 26) (ex Bolitobius) is **resurrected** from synonymy with Lordithon bimaculatus (Couper, 1865: 61) (ex Bolitobius), which is a junior secondary homonym of Lordithon bimaculatus (Schrank, 1798: 644) (ex Staphylinus) and a junior primary homonym of Lordithon bimaculatus (Stephens, 1832: 174) (ex Bolitobius) and Lordithon bimaculatus (Kraatz, 1859: 63) (ex Bolitobius). Schrank's name is a synonym of Lordithon trinotatus (Erichson, 1839), Stephens' name is a synonym of Lordithon thoracicus (Fabricius, 1777), and Kraatz's name is a synonym of Lordithon nitidus (Motschulsky, 1858).

Ryvkinius, new name, is proposed for Me-

soporus Ryvkin, 1990: 63, which is a junior primary homonym of *Mesoporus* Cameron, 1959: 119. Cameron's name is in the Aleocharinae, and Ryvkin's is a fossil genus. *Ryvkinius* includes one species, *R. gracilis* Ryvkin, 1990: 64, **new combination**, which is the type species by objective synonymy with *Mesoporus* Ryvkin. The replacement name, a patronym based on A. B. Ryvkin, is masculine.

Sepedophilus campbelli, **new name**, is proposed for Sepedophilus micans Campbell, 1976: 36, which is a junior secondary homonym of Sepedophilus micans (Scheerpeltz, 1974: 175) (ex Conosoma). The replacement name is a patronym based on J. M. Campbell.

Sepedophilus cronus, **new name**, is proposed for Sepedophilus tenuicornis (Scheerpeltz, 1974: 177) (ex Conosoma), which is a junior secondary homonym of Sepedophilus tenuicornis (Lindberg, 1953: 5) (ex Conosomus). The replacement name is based on the Latin for the former ruler of heaven and earth (Cronus).

Sepedophilus futurus, **new name**, is proposed for Sepedophilus obscuripennis (Fairmaire and Germain, 1861: 426) (ex Conurus), which is a junior secondary homonym of Sepedophilus obscuripennis (Stephens, 1832: 191) (ex Conurus). The replacement name is based on the Latin for about to be (futurus).

Sepedophilus hirticulus, new name, is proposed for Sepedophilus setosus (Cameron, 1941b: 385) (ex Conosoma), which is a junior secondary homonym of Sepedophilus setosus (Sharp, 1876: 95) (ex Conurus). Sepedophilus setosus Sharp is a synonym of Sepedophilus maculipennis (Solier, 1849). The replacement name is based on the Latin for hairy (hirticulus, the diminutive of hirtus).

Sepedophilus notialis, **new name**, is proposed for Sepedophilus africanus (Cameron, 1959: 119) (ex Conosoma), which is a junior primary homonym of Sepedophilus cavicola africanus (Jeannel and Jarrige, 1949: 344) (ex Conosoma). The replacement name is based on the Latin for southern (notialis).

Sepedophilus rufus (Kraatz, 1859: 63) (ex Conosoma) is a junior secondary homonym of Sepedophilus rufus (Grimmer, 1841: 35) (ex *Tachyporus*). *Sepedophilus rufus* Grimmer, cited as a synonym of *Sepedophilus immaculatus* (Stephens, 1832), is a **nomen dubium**, so the required replacement for the *S. rufus* (Kraatz) is ignored.

Tachinomorphus fulvipes (Erichson, 1840: 921) (ex Tachinus) is a junior primary homonym of Tachinus fulvipes Stephens, 1832: 195. Tachinus fulvipes Stephens is a synonym of Tachinus rufipes (Linné, 1758) and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). However, the number of articles citing Tachinomorphus fulvipes (Erichson) as valid in the last 50 years is not sufficient to protect it under article 23.9.1 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names that have not been congeneric for more than 100 years. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

Tachinus ablusus, **new name**, is proposed for Tachinus rufus Ullrich, 1975: 304, which is a junior primary homonym of Tachinus rufus Sachse, 1852: 121. Tachinus rufus Sachse is a junior synonym of Tachinus memnonius Gravenhorst, 1802. The replacement name is based on the Latin for different (ablusus).

*Tachinus axillaris* Erichson, 1839a: 261 is a junior primary homonym of *Lordithon axillaris* (Gravenhorst, 1806: 29) (ex *Tachinus*). Both names are currently used as valid and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Tachinus bipustulatus* Grimmer, 1841: 35 is a junior primary homonym of *Tachinus bipustulatus* Fabricius, 1793: 533. *Tachinus bipustulatus* Grimmer has not been cited since the original description, and thus it should be considered a **nomen dubium** and its required replacement ignored.

*Tachinus brunneus* Ullrich, 1975: 207 is a junior primary homonym of *Coproporus brunneus* (Erichson, 1839a: 249) (ex *Tachinus*). Both names are currently used as valid

and were not congeneric after 1899 (Herman, in press). The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, use of the junior name is maintained (article 23.9.5).

Tachinus edwardi, **new name**, is proposed for Tachinus beckeri Campbell, 1988: 252, which is a junior primary homonym of Tachinus beckeri Ullrich, 1975: 314. The replacement name is a patronym based on the first name of E. C. Becker, for whom the species was originally named.

Tachinus marginatus (Fabricius, 1793: 532) (ex Oxyporus) is a junior secondary homonym of Tachinus marginatus (Geoffroy, 1785: 169) (ex Staphylinus). Tachinus marginatus (Geoffroy) has been a synonym of Tachinus lignorum (Linné, 1758) or Tachinus marginellus (Fabricius, 1781) since 1839 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1). In the last 50 years at least 26 articles by 21 authors have been published listing Tachinus marginatus Fabricius as a valid species (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Tachinus marginatus (Fabricius) is a nomen protectum and T. marginatus (Goeffroy) a nomen oblitum (article 23.9.2).

Tachinus patulus, **new name**, is proposed for Tachinus latus (Coiffait, 1982: 116) (ex Paratachinus), which is a junior secondary homonym of Tachinus latus (Marsham, 1802: 524) (ex Staphylinus). Tachinus latus (Marsham) is a synonym of Tachinus humeralis Gravenhorst, 1802. The replacement name is based on the Latin for spread out or broad (patulus).

Tachinus piceus Cameron, 1932: 389 is a junior primary homonym of Bryoporus piceus (Stephens, 1829: 268) (ex Tachinus) and Coproporus piceus (Erichson, 1839a: 246) (ex Tachinus). Coproporus piceus (Erichson) is a junior synonym of Coproporus ebonus Blackwelder, 1943. Bryoporus piceus (Stephens), a junior synonym of Bryoporus cernuus (Gravenhorst, 1806) (ex Tachinus) is rarely cited and should be considered a nomen dubium. Coproporus piceus (Erichson) was transferred out of Tachinus long before 1899 (Herman, in press). The two homonyms were not congeneric after 1899, but since the senior name is currently cited as a junior synonym, provisions of article 23.9.5 for continued use of the junior homonym are not strictly met. It seems unnecessary to replace the junior of two names of two taxa that have never been congeneric. The case will be referred to the Commission; meanwhile, prevailing use will be maintained (article 23.9.5).

*Tachinus praealtus*, **new name**, is proposed for *Tachinus nepalensis* Scheerpeltz, 1976: 156, which is a junior primary homonym of *Tachinus nepalensis* Ullrich, 1975: 300. The replacement name is based on the Latin for very high (*praealtus*).

Tachyporus annosus, **new name**, is proposed for Tachyporus nigripennis Scudder, 1900: 65, which is a junior primary homonym of Sepedophilus nigripennis (Stephens, 1832: 180) (ex Tachyporus) and Tachyporus nigripennis Campbell, 1979: 57. Tachyporus nigripennis Campbell is a junior synonym of Tachyporus melanopterus Campbell, 1991. The species described by Scudder is a fossil. The replacement name is based on the Latin for full of years (annosus).

Tachyporus pulchellus Mannerheim, 1843: 82 is a junior primary homonym of Tachyporus pulchellus Heer, 1839: 289. Tachyporus pulchellus Heer has been a synonym of Tachyporus scitulus Erichson, 1839 since 1857 and was not cited as valid after 1899 (article 23.9.1.1) (Herman, in press). In the last 50 years at least 26 articles by 21 authors have been published listing Tachyporus pulchellus Mannerheim as a valid species (article 23.9.1.2). A list of these citations is provided in the forthcoming catalog for the family (Herman, in press). Tachyporus pulchellus Mannerheim is a nomen protectum and T. pulchellus Heer a **nomen oblitum** (article 23.9.2).

### SPECIAL PROBLEMS

#### OMALIINAE

**Geodromicus:** Both *Geodromicus* Redtenbacher, 1857 and *Psephidonus* Gistel, 1856 are used for the same genus in the current literature. Recently, the date of publication for Redtenbacher's work was disputed. Zerche argued that *Geodromicus* was published in 1856 and before *Psephidonus*. However, evidence presented below shows that Redtenbacher's work was published after Gistel's, and that the latter's work was being reviewed while the former's was being printed.

In the second edition of "Fauna austriaca. Die Käfer", Redtenbacher published Geodromicus (a replacement name for Geodromus Heer, 1841, not Dejean, 1829, which was a replacement name for Geobius Heer, 1839, not Dejean, 1831 or Brullé, 1832). Prior to 1949, the date of publication for Redtenbacher's book usually was cited as 1858 (e.g., see Hagen, 1863: 66; Horn and Schenkling, 1928: 978), which is the date on the title page and at the end of the "Vorrede zur zweiten Auflage" (p. vi) to the second edition. Blackwelder (1949: 93), based on "reviews in Stettiner Ent. Zeitung, 1847–1858". stated that the second edition was published in 1857. No reviews of Redtenbacher's work were found in the 1856, 1857, or 1858 issues of that journal, but it was mentioned therein three times.

In 1856 (see Entomologische Zeitung ... Stettin, vol. 17(9/10): 321), a statememt was published that a second edition of Redtenbacher's work on Austrian beetles was in press ("... Redtenbachers trefflichem Werke über die österreichischen Käfer, welches schon seit einigen Jahren gänzlich vergriffen war, eine zweite vielfach vermehrte Auflage, bei Gerold's Sohn in Wien, im Drucke ist."). That announcement, published in the September and October issue of the journal, did not state that Redtenbacher's book had been distributed.

In 1857, Kraatz cited the work in a footnote in one journal (see Entomologische Zeitung ... Stettin, vol. 18: 309) and again in another (Kraatz, 1857a: 40). Both 1857 footnotes were in journals that were probably published late in the year, perhaps in September.

In 1858 (Entomologische Zeitung ... Stettin, vol. 19: 39), Redtenbacher's work was among a list of published works to be placed in the library of the "Entomologische Vereine zu Stettin" and it was cited as "Fauna Austriaca ... 1857. Heft 1–6".

At least two reviews of Redtenbacher's book were published in 1858. The review by Kiesenwetter (1858a) provided no date of publication for the work. The second review did. Gerstaecker (1858: 256), in a report on

scientific works in entomology for 1857, praised Redtenbacher's second edition and stated near the end of the review (p. 257) that the first four parts, including the Carabicinae through the Elateridae, were published in 1857. Gerstaecker (1859: 358), in another comment on the second edition, reported that the Introduction and keys to families and genera, which are numbered separately (I–CXXXVI), were published with the last part in 1858.

From the above, we know that Redtenbacher's book was in press by September and October of 1856 and that it was published in parts, the first four of which ran through page 512 and were published in 1857. The remaining parts (pp. 513–1017 and I– CXXXVI) were published in 1858. Each of the first four parts included, on average, 128 pages (16 signatures of eight pages each); the other parts were larger.

In a recent redating of the book, Zerche (1987) wrote that it was actually published in September 1856. He examined a copy of "Fauna Austriaca" that had glued to it a note written by Redtenbacher that read "... Seinem hochverehrtem Freunde Herrn Dr. Gustav Kraatz 24. 9. 1856 der Verfasser ....". From this note. Zerche concluded that pages 1-976 had been published by that date. However, according to the announcment published in late 1856 (see above), the printing of Redtenbacher's work was just under way by the time the September/October issue of the "Entomologische Zeitung" appeared. It is therefore improbable that the entire main text was printed by September 24. Furthermore, it is clear that the book was published in parts; consequently, the date for each part must be determined separately (article 21.5).

Because both Redtenbacher and Kraatz were working on large faunal works at the same time, it is likely that Redtenbacher would have sent at least some of the first printed pages to Kraatz, and he would certainly have sent the first part as soon as it was published. We do not know exactly what Redtenbacher sent to Kraatz with the attached note or how many pages it included, but he clearly sent something. We could conclude that Heft 1 was sent to Kraatz on September 24; if so, then the date for only the first part was fixed. The other parts clearly were published later, in 1857 and 1858 (Gerstaecker, 1858, 1859). There is no evidence to support a publication date of 1856 for parts 2–6.

From the preceding, we might conclude that pages 1–128 of the second edition of "Fauna Austriaca" was published on September 24, 1856, pages 129–512 in 1857 (by at least September), and pages 513–1017 plus I–CXXXVI in 1858. *Geodromicus* was published on page 244 and therefore in 1857 by no later than September.

In 1856, Gistel published *Psephidonus* with one species, *Geodromus kunzei* Heer. The type species of both are congeneric, so the genus-group names are subjective synonyms.

Blackwelder (1952: 324) discovered Gistel's overlooked name and replaced *Geodromicus* with *Psephidonus*. Since then, both *Psephidonus* (e.g., see Arnett, 1963: 259; Moore and Legner, 1974: 552; Shibata, 1976: 116; Muona and Viramo, 1986: 15; Zanetti, 1987: 370; Watanabe, 1990: 265; Angelini, 1991: 193; Hayashi, 1992) and *Geodromicus* (see works by most European authors) have been used as the valid name for the genus. Most of those who continued to use *Geodromicus* did so not because they disputed the dates cited by Blackwelder, but because *Geodromicus* had a long history of use and *Psephidonus* had never been used.

Zerche (1987) concluded that, by the lack of a specific date for Gistel's work, *Psephidonus* was published on the last day of December 1856. However, Gistel's article was published earlier. Dohrn (1856: 312) wrote a review of Gistel's "Die Mysterien der . . . Insectenwelt". That review was in the September/October issue of "Entomologische Zeitung Stettin", the same issue in which the announcement appeared that "Fauna Austriaca" was being printed. Therefore, no matter what date Redtenbacher's work was published, Gistel's preceded it.

As it now stands, the situation is confusing; some authors use one name and some the other. *Geodromicus* has a long history of use and has been cited hundreds, perhaps thousands, of times. *Psephidonus* has been cited substantially fewer times. Even now, most of the citations for the genus use *Geodromicus*. All the well-known and oft-cited species of the genus have been nearly always referred to Geodromicus. Given the overwhelming use of *Geodromicus* and the reluctance with which *Psephidonus* is being adopted by most authors, it seems unlikely that the latter name will prevail. Although the preceding discussion fully substantiates the conclusion that Gistel's work predates Redtenbacher's, that the former was published in 1856 and the latter in 1856–1858, the prudent and widely desired actions are to retain the use of Geodromicus as the valid name of the genus and to bury Psephidonus. It is in Europe, where the literature is more complex and voluminous than in any other part of the world, that the issue of stability of names is most crucially important. To stabilize the name and date for the genus, a petition will be submitted to the Commission requesting that *Psephidonus* be placed on the "list of rejected names" and that Geodromicus be placed on the "official list of generic names in zoology". Pending action on that request, Geodromicus is used as the valid name in the forthcoming catalog of the family (Herman, in press).

# STAPHYLININAE

**Tachyporiniformes**: Tachyporiniformes Nordmann, 1837: 6 explicitly includes one genus, Trichopygus, with one synonym, Heterothops, cited as Heterotops (Nordmann, 1837: 137). Newton and Thayer (1992: 66) fixed *Tachyporus* as the type genus of the group. According to articles 11.7.1 and 11.7.1.1, "A family-group name when first published must ... be a noun in the nominative plural formed from the stem of an available generic name ...; the generic name must be a name then used as valid in the new family-group taxon .... Tachyporiniformes was established in the context of a work (Nordmann, 1837: 4) that dealt with genera included in the "Fissilabra" of Latreille (1825: 244), the genera of which are now in either the Paederinae, Staphylininae, or Oxyporinae. Latreille (1825: 245) included Tachyporus in his "Microcephali". Nordmann's Tachyporiniformes did not include Tachyporus; its inclusion dramatically changes the concept of the group. Nordmann's belongs with the Staphylininae; Newton and Thayer's representation is part of the Tachyporinae. However, because a condition of availability of a family-group name (article 11.7.1.1) requires that it "be a noun ... formed from [a] generic name ... then used as valid in the new family-group taxon", Tachyporiniformes Nordmann is an **unavailable name**, since it was improperly formed. If it were available, it would belong with the Staphylininae, where it would have priority over Quediina (but see Newton and Thayer, 1992: 25).

**Xantholinus tricolor**: *Xantholinus meyeri* Drugmand, 1994: 250 is a **new synonym** of *Xantholinus tricolor* (Fabricius, 1787: 221) (ex *Staphylinus*). Drugmand (1994: 244) stated that the type of *Xantholinus tricolor* (Fabricius) was identical to *Lithocharis ochracea* (Gravenhorst, 1802:59) (ex *Paederus*) and must replace the paederine name. He then elevated some of the names formerly listed as subspecies or synonyms of *X. tricolor* and replaced the long-known name *Xantholinus tricolor* (Fabricius) with *Xantholinus meyeri* Drugmand, 1994: 250.

Ciceroni (1994: 117) synonymized four species (Xantholinus pellegrinus Coiffait, 1970: 291, X. rhaeticus Bordoni, 1972: 172, X. lessinicus Bordoni, 1972: 174, and X. toumayeffi Bordoni, 1986: 68) with Xantholinus tricolor in its traditional sense. If we accept Drugmand's opinion concerning the identities of Xantholinus tricolor and Lithocharis ochraceus, then his replacement name for X. tricolor auct., Xantholinus meyeri, is a synonym of X. pellegrinus Coiffait, 1970, which, as the oldest of the remaining synonyms, would be the valid name for the species. If his opinion is not accepted, then X. meyeri is a synonym of X. tricolor (Fabricius).

The proposed changes elicit several questions. Drugmand presented no evidence that he had actually seen specimens of *Staphylinus tricolor* Fabricius from the original series. Where are the specimens? Why does he think that the specimens he examined were part of the original series? How many specimens were in the original series, and, if there was more than one specimen, was the series mixed? If the original series included more than one specimen, why was no lectotype designated? According to I. Kerzhner (personal commun.) it is known that some types were replaced in the Fabricius collection by other, non-conspecific specimens. Could this have been one of those instances? The changes proposed by Drugmand are too radical to be made so casually. For such dramatic alteration, strong support should be presented that actual Fabrician material of Xantholinus tricolor was studied. Furthermore, a translation (corroborated by A. Smetana) of the Latin description of Staphylinus tricolor Fabricius (1787: 221) is as follows: "Black Staphylinus, antennae and thorax red, elytra and legs testaceus. Lives in mushrooms of Denmark. Mr. de Sehestedt. Small. Head black shining, antennae dark red. Thorax unspotted, shining, red. Elytra testaceus, unspotted. Abdomen black. Legs testaceus."

The *Lithocharis ochracea* (Gravenhorst) known by most workers is not shiny, the head is dark brown (not black), the abdomen is brown or reddish brown and is paler than the head, and the thorax and elytra are reddish brown and similar to one another and both are only slightly paler than the abdomen.

Because questions arise concerning examination of the type of *X. tricolor*, and because the published characters "fit" *X. tricolor* but not *Lithocharis ochracea*, it is prudent to continue to use both names in their traditional sense until the problem has been studied carefully. Drugmand changed the status of some of the synonyms of *X. tricolor*, and those changes are accepted.

Note also that Gravenhorst (1802) used the name *ochraceus* in two genera, *Staphylinus* (p. 43) and *Paederus* (p. 59); the former is now in *Xantholinus* and a junior synonym of *Xantholinus linearis* (Olivier, 1795), the latter is in *Lithocharis*. This fact might be relevant to any reevaluation of the problem with *X. tricolor*.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am indebted to the following individuals who reviewed this article, corrected errors, helped me to further understand the literature and use of the Code, and immeasurably improved this paper.

Volker Assing (Hannover, Germany; Habrocerinae and Othiini). I am also indebted to him for helping to provide additional references needed to protect some names.

Arnaldo Bordoni (Museo Zoologico "La Specola", Firenze, Italy; Xantholinini).

Amy Berkov (American Museum of Natural History, New York).

Giulio Cuccodoro (Muséum d'Historie Naturelle, Genève, Switzerland; Proteininae).

Anthony Davies (Eastern Cereal and Oilseed Research Centre, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Ontario, Canada; Tachyporinae).

Peter Hammond (Natural History Museum, London, U.K.; Apateticinae, Micropeplinae, Oxytelinae, Phloeocharinae, Piestinae, and Trigonurinae; he also scanned through most of the other subfamilies in search of errors or problems).

Rodney Hanley (Snow Entomological Museum, University of Kansas, Lawrence, Kansas; Oxyporinae).

Ulrich Irmler (Christian-Albrechts-Universität, Kiel, Germany; Osoriinae).

I. M. Kerzhner (Zoological Institute, Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg, Russia).

Ivan Löbl (Muséum d'Historie Naturelle, Genève, Switzerland; Dasycerinae).

Shin-Ichiro Naomi (Natural History Museum and Institute, Chiba, Japan; Steninae).

Alfred Newton (Field Museum of Natural History, Chicago, Illinois; Osoriinae and the type species of groups reviewed by Thayer).

Volker Puthz (Schlitz, Germany; Euaesthetinae, Megalopsidiinae, and Steninae)

Harald Schillhammer (Naturhistorisches Museum, Wien, Austria; Staphylininae).

Michael Schülke (Berlin, Germany; Tachyporinae). I am also indebted to him for helping to provide additional references needed to protect some names.

Aleš Smetana (Eastern Cereal and Oilseed Research Centre, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Ontario, Canada; Staphylininae and correction of gender endings throughout the catalog).

Margaret Thayer (Field Museum of Natural History, Chicago, Illinois; Empelinae, Glypholomatinae, Microsilphinae, Neophoninae, Omaliinae, Protopselaphinae, and Solieriinae).

Adriano Zanetti (Museo Civico di Storia Naturale, Verona, Italy; Omaliinae).

Lothar Zerche (Deutsches Entomologisch-

es Institut, Eberswalde, Germany; Omaliinae and Pseudopsinae).

With several of these individuals (Assing, Hammond, Kerzhner, Newton, Puthz, Schülke, and Smetana) I had numerous e-mail or telephone exchanges, or face-to-face meetings to discuss or clarify points of nomenclatural detail. I am grateful and deeply indebted for the time and effort they took to share their hard-won knowledge to the benefit of article.

#### REFERENCES

Ádám, L.

- 1987. Staphylinidae of the Kiskunság National Park (Coleoptera). Natural History of the National Parks of Hungary 5: 126– 168.
- 1996a. Staphylinidae (Coleoptera) of the Bükk National Park. 231–258. *In* 231–258. Mahunka (ed.), The fauna of the Bükk National Park: Budapest: Hungarian Natural History Museum.
- 1996b. The species of Staphylinidae from Őrség (Coleoptera). Saravia (pars historico-naturalis) 23: 43–67.

Angelini, F.

1991. Coleotterofauna dell'altipiano della Sila (Calabria, Italia). Memorie della Società Entomologica Italiana, Genova 70(1): 171–254.

- 1963. The beetles of the United States. (A manual for identification). Washington DC: Catholic Univ., ix + 1112 pp.
- Assing, V., J. Frisch, M. Kahlen, I. Löbl, G. H. Lohse, V. Puthz, M. Schülke, H. Ter lutter, M. Uhlig, J. Vogel, P. Wunderle, and L. Zerche
  - 1998. 23. Familie: Staphylinidae. In Lucht and Klausnitzer, Die K\u00e4fer Mitteleuropas. Band 15. 4 Supplementband: 119– 197. Krefeld: Goecke & Evers.

Aubé, C.

- 1842. Notes sur quelques coléoptères nouveaux. Annales de la Société Entomologique de France 11: 225–237.
- 1863. [New species]. In Grenier, Catalogue des Coléoptères de France, par M. le Dr. A. Grenier, et matériaux pour servir a la faune des Coléoptères Français. Paris, iv + 3–79, 1–135 pp.

Baudi, F.

- 1848. Alcune specie nuove di stafilini. Studi Entomologici 1(2): 113–148.
- 1870. Coleopterorum messis in insula Cypro et Asia minore ab Eugenio Truqui con-

Arnett, R. H.

gregatae recensitio: de Europaeis notis quibusdam additis. Berliner Entomologische Zeitschrift 13(1869): 369–418.

- Beck, L. von
  - 1817. Beiträge zur baierischen Insektenfaune, oder Beschreibung und Abbildung neuentdeckter Käfer, mit angehägtem Namensverzeichnisse der Eleuteraten des Landgerichtbezirks Zusmeshausen. Ausgburg: J. Wolffischen, 7 unnumbered + 8–45 pp.

Benick, L.

- Nomenklatorisches über Steninen (Col., Staph.). Entomologische Mitteilungen 10: 191–194.
- 1928a. Alte u. neue Steninen aus Australien u. Ozeanien (Col. Staph.). Ibid. 17(3): 177–182.
- 1928b. Ostasiatische Steninen (Col. Staph). Stettiner Entomologische Zeitung 89(2): 235–246. [Published in November].
- 1928c. The subfamily Steninae, as represented in N. Sarawak. Sarawak Museum Journal 3(4) (11): 453–460, pl. 14. [Published in August].
- 1952. Spezielles und Allgemeines über die Subfam. Megalopsidiinae (Col. Staph.). Entomologische Blätter für Biologie und Systematik der Käfer (1951) 47(2): 58–87.

Bernhauer, M.

- 1900. Neue Staphyliniden (Coleopt.) aus dem Kaukasus und den angrenzenden Ländern. Wiener Entomologische Zeitung 19: 46–55.
- 1902. Zur Staphylinidenfauna von Madagaskar. Deutsche Entomologische Zeitschrift 1901: 161–176.
- 1903. Die Staphyliniden-Tribus Leptochirina nebst analytischen Bestimmungstabellen der Gattungen. Ibid. 1903: 113– 160.
- 1904. Neue exotische Staphyliniden. Verhandlungen der K. K. Zoologisch-Botanischen Gesellschaft in Wien 54: 4–24.
- 1905. Neue exotische Staphyliniden. Deutsche Entomologische Zeitschrift 1905: 9–21.
- 1906a. Neue Staphyliniden der paläarktischen Fauna nebst synonymischen Bemerkungen. Münchener Koleopterologische Zeitschrift 3: 123–128.
- 1906b. Neue Staphyliniden aus Südamerika. Verhandlungen der K. K. Zoologisch-Botanischen Gesellschaft in Wien 56: 322–339.
- 1909. Zur Staphylinidenfauna von Südamerika. Bollettino della Società Entomologica Italiana 40(1908): 225–251.

- 1910. Beitrag zur Kenntnis der Staphyliniden-Fauna von Zentralamerika. Verhandlungen der K. K. Zoologisch-Botanischen Gesellschaft in Wien 60: 350–393.
- 1911a. Zur Staphylinidenfauna Ostindiens und der Sundainseln. Entomologische Blätter 7: 55–62, 86–93.
- 1911b. Zur Staphylinidenfauna von Süd-Amerika (Col.). Deutsche Entomologische Zeitschrift 1911: 403–422.
- 1912a. Zur Staphylinidenfauna von Südamerika. Entomologische Blätter 8: 167–179.
- 1912b. Beitrag zur Staphylinidenfauna von Afrika. Entomologische Mitteilungen 1: 177–183, 203–209.
- 1913a. Zur palaearktischen Staphylinidenfauna. Coleopterologische Rundschau 1913: 130–134.
- 1913b. Beitrag zur Staphylinidenfauna der paläarktischen Region. Entomologische Blätter 9: 219–224.
- 1914a. [New name]. In Bernhauer and Schubert, Family Staphylinidae IV: 397. In Junk, Coleopterorum Catalogus. 5(57): 289–408. Berlin: Junk.
- 1914b. Neue Staphylinen der indo-malaiischen Fauna. Verhandlungen der K. K. Zoologisch-Botanischen Gesellschaft in Wien 64: 76–109.
- 1915a. Zur Staphylinidenfauna der Philippinen: VI. Beitrag zur Kenntnis der Indo-Malayischen Fauna. Philippine Journal of Science 10(2): 117–129.
- 1915b. Neue Staphyliniden der indo-malaiischen Fauna, insbesondere der Sunda-Insel Borneo. Verhandlungen der K. K. Zoologisch-Botanischen Gesellschaft in Wien 65: 134–158.
- 1915c. Neue Staphyliniden aus Java und Sumatra. Tijdschrift voor Entomologie 58: 213–243.
- 1915d. Neue Staphyliniden des südlichen Ostindiens. Entomologische Blätter 11: 251–258.
- 1915e. Beiträge zur Kenntnis der paläarktischen Staphyliniden-Fauna. Münchener Koleopterologische Zeitschrift 4: 262– 270.
- 1917a. Beitrag zur Staphylinidenfauna Nordamerikas. Entomologische Blätter 13: 249–250.
- 1917b. Neue südamerikanische Staphyliniden. Wiener Entomologische Zeitung 36: 102–116.
- 1918. Beitrag zur Staphylinidenfauna von Südamerika (mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der Tribus Pinophilini). Neue Bei-

träge zur Systematischen Insektenkunde 1(11): 81–84; 1(12): 89–92.

- Neue Arten der Staphylinidenfauna von Südamerika, insbesondere aus den Gattungen Osorius und Megalops. Idid. 2: 17–21.
- 1926a. Die Staphyliniden der Philippinen. Philippine Journal of Science 31(2): 245–263.
- 1926b. Fauna Buruana Staphylinidae. Zur Staphylinidenfauna der Molukken. Treubia 7(3): 311–327.
- 1927. Zur Staphylinidenfauna Südamerikas, insbesondere Argentiniens. Archiv für Naturgeschichte (1925) (A) 91(12): 229–264.
- 1928. Dr. E. Mjöbergs Zoological Collections from Sumatra. 8. Staphylinidae. Arkiv för Zoologi (1927) (A) 19(19): 1–28.
- 1929a. Zur Staphylinidenfauna des belg. Kongostaates. Entomologisches Nachrichtenblatt. 3(3): 81–84.
- 1929b. Die Staphyliniden der Philippinen. Philippine Journal of Science 38(3): 337–357.
- 1934a. Siebenter Beitrag zur Staphylinidenfauna Chinas. Entomologisches Nachrichtenblatt. 8: 1–20.
- 1934b. Neue Staphyliniden aus Argentinien. Revista de Entomología 4: 112–119 (part III), 212–221 (part IV).
- 1934c. Beitrag zur Staphylinidenfauna Afrika's. Revue de Zoologie et de Botanique Africaines 24(3): 228–248.
- 1934d. 16. The staphylinid fauna of South Africa. Annals of the South African Museum 30(4): 481–509.
- 1936a. Neue Staphyliniden vom belgischen Kongo. Revue de Zoologie et de Botanique Africaines 29(1): 21–28.
- 1936b. Die Staphyliniden der Philippinen (Gattung *Oxytelus*). Philippine Journal of Science 61(1): 81–87.
- 1936c. [New taxa]. *In* M. Bernhauer and R. Jeannel, Trois staphylinides remarquables de la colonie du Kénya. Revue Française d'Entomologie 2(4) (1935): 213–218.
- 1937. Beitrag zur Afrikanischen Staphylinidenfauna. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (10) 20: 289–315.
- 1940a. 8. Staphylinidae. *In* British Museum (Natural History) Ruwenzori Expedition 1934–35. 3(8): 129–144.
- 1940b. Neuheiten der paläarktischen Staphylinidenfauna (Col. Staph.). Mitteilun-

gen der Münchner Entomologischen Gesellschaft 30(2): 622-642.

- 1941a. Neue Staphyliniden aus Neu-Seeland (New Zealand). Folia Zoologica et Hydrobiologica 11(1): 26–38.
- 1941b. Staphylinidae (Col.). Beiträge zur Fauna Perus 1: 277–293.
- 1942a. Neue Staphyliniden aus Kostarika. Zoologischer Anzeiger 138: 1–27.
- 1942b. Die Staphyliniden der Philippinen: Gattung *Osorius* Latr. Folia Zoologica et Hydrobiologica 11: 215–232.
- Bernhauer, M., and O. Scheerpeltz
  - 1926. Staphylinidae VI. *In* Junk, Coleopterorum Catalogus. 5(67): 409–498. Berlin: Junk.
- Bernhauer, M., and K. Schubert
  - 1910. Staphylinidae I. *In* Junk, Coleopterorum Catalogus. 5(19): 1–86. Berlin: Junk.
  - 1911. Staphylinidae II. *In* Ibid. 5(29): 87–190. Berlin: Junk.
  - 1912. Staphylinidae III. *In* Ibid. 5(40): 191–288. Berlin: Junk.
  - 1914. Staphylinidae IV. *In* Ibid. 5(57): 289–408. Berlin: Junk.
  - 1916. Staphylinidae V. *In* Ibid. 5(67): 409–498. Berlin: Junk.

Bierig, A.

- 1934. Neues aus der Staphyliniden-Gattung Cafius (Col.), nebst Beschreibung neuer Arten aus Kuba und Nordamerika. Revista de Entomologia 4(1): 65– 70.
- 1937. Nuevos Staphylinini neotropicales. Memorias de la Sociedad Cubana de Historia Natural "Felipe Poey" 11(3): 191–205.
- 1940. Tres nuevas especies neotropicales del genero *Philonthus* (Col., Staph.). Revista Chilena de Historia Natural 43(1939): 141–144.

Blackburn, T.

- 1888. Descriptions of twenty new species of South Australian Coleoptera. Transactions and Proceedings and Report of the Royal Society of South Australia 10: 1–11.
- Blackwelder, R. E.
  - 1938. Revision of the North American beetles of the staphylinid subfamily Tachyporinae. Part 2: Genus *Coproporus* Kraatz. Proceedings of the United States National Museum 86: 1–10.
  - 1942. Notes on the classification of the staphylinid beetles of the groups Lispini and Osoriinae. Ibid. 92(3140): 75–90.
  - 1943. Monograph of the West Indian beetles of the family Staphylinidae. United

States National Museum Bulletin 182: i–viii + 1–658.

- 1944. Checklist of the coleopterous insects of Mexico, Central America, the West Indies, and South America. Part 1. Ibid. 185: xii + 1–188.
- 1949. Bibliographia. Studies on the dates of works on Coleoptera, III. Coleopterists' Bulletin 3(6): 92–94.
- 1952. The generic names of the beetle family Staphylinidae, with an essay on genotypy. United States National Museum Bulletin 200: i–iv, 1–483.

Blatchley, W. S.

1910. An illustrated descriptive catalogue of the Coleoptera or beetles (exclusive of the Rhynchophora) known to occur in Indiana. Indianapolis: Blatchley, 1385 pp.

Block, F. L. H. von

1799. Verzeichniss der merkwürdigsten Insecten im Plauischen Grunde. *In* W. G. Becker, Der Plauische Grund bei Dresden, mit Hinsicht auf Naturgeschichte und schöne Gartenkunst. Tiel 2: 95– 120. Nürnberg: Frauenholz.

Boháč, J.

- 1981. Results of the Czechoslovak-Iranian entomological expeditions to Iran. Coleoptera: Staphylinidae. Three new species of staphylinids from Iran. Acta Entomologica Musei Nationalis Pragae 40: 355–358.
- 1993. Micropeplidae. Staphylinidae. In Jelínek, Checklist of Czechoslovak Insects IV (Coleoptera). Folia Heyrovskyana. Supplementum 1: 39–63. Praha: Vít Kabourek.

Boheman, C. H.

1848. Insecta Caffrariae annis 1838–1845 a J. A. Wahlberg collecta. Coleoptera. (Carabici, Hydrocanthari, Gyrinii et Staphylinii). 1(1): viii + 297. Holmiae: Norstedtiana.

Bordoni, A.

- 1971. Note sugli *Xantholinus* della Turchia e descrizione di una nuova specie (Col. Staphylinidae). Redia 52: 679–689.
- Revisione degli Xantholinus della fauna Italiana (Col. Staphylinidae). Ibid.
  53: 151–237. [Note: See "Errata corrige" for important corrections]
- 1973. *Lesteva (Lestevina* nov.) *sbordonii* n. sp. della Campania (Col. Staphylinidae). Ibid. 54: 229–234.
- 1982. Coleotterofauna dei muschi in un ambiente ripicolo prealpino (Alta Val Bormida, Liguria). Bollettino Associazione

Romana di Entomologia 35(1980): 19– 51.

- 1984. Note su alcuni stafilinidi del Libano (Coleoptera). Fragmenta Entomologica 17(2): 331–345.
- 1986. Due nuove specie di *Xantholinus* Dej. delle Montagne della Svizzera e dell'Ungheria (Col. Staphylinidae). Revue Suisse de Zoologie 93(1): 67–70.

Brancsik, K.

1893. Beiträge zur Kenntniss Nossibés und dessen Fauna nach Sendungen und Mittheilungen des Herrn P. Frey. Évkönyve Trencsén Vármegyei Természettudományi Egylet. Jahresheft des Naturwissenschaftlichen Vereines des Trencsiner Comitates 15: 202–258.

Broun, T.

- 1880. Manual of the New Zealand Coleoptera. Part 1. Wellington: James Hughes, 651 pp.
- 1886. Manual of the New Zealand Coleoptera. Parts III and IV. Wellington: George Didsbury, ix-xvii + 745-973 pp.
- 1893. Manual of the New Zealand Coleoptera. Parts V–VII. Wellington: Samuel Costall, xvii + 975–1504 pp.
- 1910. Descriptions of new genera and species of Coleoptera. New Zealand Institute Bulletin 1(1): 1–78.
- 1911. Additions to the Coleopterous Fauna of the Chatham Islands. Transactions of the New Zealand Institute 43: 92–115.
- 1915. Descriptions of new genera and species of Coleoptera. New Zealand Institute Bulletin 1(4): 267–346.
- Brullé, A.
  - 1842. In Voyage dans l'Amérique méridionale ... par Alcide d' Orbigny ... Insectes Coléoptères, 6(2): 57–88. Paris: P. Bertrand, 222 pp., 32 pls.

Cameron, M.

- 1914. Descriptions of new species of Staphylinidae from India. Transactions of the Entomological Society of London 1913(3): 525–544.
- 1918. New species of Staphylinidae from Singapore. Part I. Ibid. 1918: 58–90.
- 1920. New species of Staphylinidae from India. Entomologist's Monthly Magazine 56: 141–148, 214–220.
- 1926a. New species of Staphylinidae from India. Part III. Transactions of the Ento-

mological Society of London 1926: 171–191.

- 1926b. New species of Staphylinidae from India. Part II. Ibid. 1925: 341–372.
- 1928a. Fauna sumatrensis. Staphylinidae (Col.). Entomologische Mitteilungen 17(2): 90–110.
- 1928b. New species of Staphylinidae from Borneo. Sarawak Museum Journal 3(4)(11): 423–451.
- 1929a. New species of Staphylinidae from the Belgian Congo. Revue de Zoologie et de Botanique Africaines 18(1): 56–65.
- 1929b. New Staphylinidae from the Malay Peninsula. Journal of the Federated Malay States Museums 14: 436–452.
- 1930a New Staphylinidae from the Malay Peninsula. Ibid. 16: 154–159.
- 1930b. Staphylinidae from British North Borneo, with descriptions of new species. Ibid. 16: 160–168.
- 1930c. Fauna sumatrensis. Staphylinidae (Col.). Tijdschrift voor Entomologie 73: 325–348.
- 1930d. The fauna of British India including Ceylon and Burma. Coleoptera. Staphylinidae. 1 London: Taylor and Francis, xvii + 471 pp.
- 1931. Staphylinidae (Coleoptera) from New Guinea, in the South Australian Museum. Records of the South Australian Museum 4(3): 355–364.
- 1932. The fauna of British India including Ceylon and Burma. Coleoptera. Staphylinidae. 3. London: Taylor and Francis, xiii + 443 pp.
- 1933a. New species of Staphylinidae (col.) from the Belgian Congo. Bulletin and Annales de la Société Entomologique de Belgique 73: 35–53.
- 1933b. Staphylinidae (Col.) from Mount Kinabalu. Journal of the Federated Malay States Museums 17(2): 338–360.
- 1933c. Fauna Sumatrensis. Staphylinidae. Tijdschrift voor Entomologie 76: 383– 395.
- 1936. New species of Staphylinidae (Col.) from Mauritius. Entomologist's Monthly Magazine 72: 201–203.
- 1937a. Fauna Javanica. The Staphylinidae collected by Mr. F. C. Drescher. Tijdschrift voor Entomologie 80: 1–37.
- 1937b. Staphylinidae (Col.) collected by Miss L. E. Cheesman in Eastern New Guinea. Nova Guinea 1(n. ser.): 83–111.
- 1940. Descriptions of new Staphylinidae (Coleopt.). Proceedings of the Royal En-

tomological Society of London (B)9(12): 209–212.

- 1941a. Descriptions of new Staphylinidae (Coleopt.). Ibid.(B) 10: 56–60, 142–147.
- 1941b. New species of Staphylinidae (Col.) from the Philippines. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (11) 7: 430– 447.
- 1941c. New species of Staphylinidae (Col.) from the Philippines. Ibid. (11) 8: 379– 403, 473–496.
- 1942a. Descriptions of new Staphylinidae (Coleopt.). Proceedings of the Royal Entomological Society of London (B) 11(7): 105–110.
- 1942b. New species of Staphylinidae (Col.) from the Moluccas and Celebes. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (11) 9: 838–847.
- 1943. New species of Staphylinidae (Col.) from Australia and New Guinea. Ibid. (11) 10: 336–354.
- Descriptions of new Staphylinidae (Coleoptera). Proceedings of the Royal Entomological Society of London (B) 13: 11–15, 49–52.
- 1945a. Descriptions of new Staphylinidae (Coleoptera). Ibid.(B) 14: 63–69.
- 1945b. New species of Oriental Staphylinidae (Col.X). Ibid. 140–145.
- 1945c. Some observations on the Staphylinidae of the Broun Collection of Coleoptera in the British Museum, with descriptions of new genera and species. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (11) 11(1944): 779–793.
- 1950a. New species of Staphylinidae (Col.) from the Malay Peninsula. Ibid.(12) 3: 1–40, 89–131.
- 1950b. Staphylinidae (Coleoptera Polyphaga). Explorations du Parc National Albert. Mission G. F. de Witte (1933–1935). 59: 1–85.
- 1951. New species of African Staphylinidae. Part II. Journal of the East Africa Natural History Society 19(1950): 398– 407.
- 1952. New Staphylinidae from the Belgian Congo. Revue de Zoologie et de Botanique Africaines 46: 323–332.
- 1956. Contributions à l'étude de la faune entomologique du Ruanda-Urundi (Mission P. Basilewsky 1953). LXXXIV. Coleoptera Staphylinidae. Annales du Musée Royal du Congo Belge, Tervur-

en. Sciences Zoologiques. Série in-8° 51: 177–183.

1959. New species of Staphylinidae (Col.) from Angola (IV). Publicações culturais Companhia de Diamantes de Angola 48: 109–121.

Campbell, M.

- 1969. A revision of the New World Oxyporinae (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Canadian Entomologist 101(3): 225–268.
- 1973. A revision of the genus *Tachinus* (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) of North and Central America. Memoirs of the Entomological Society of Canada 90: 1– 137.
- 1975. A revision of the genera *Coproporus* and *Cilea* (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) of America north of Mexico. Canadian Entomologist 107: 175–216.
- 1976. A revision of the genus *Sepedophilus* Gistel (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) of America North of Mexico. Memoirs of the Entomological Society of Canada 99: 1–89.
- 1979. A revision of the genus *Tachyporus* Gravenhorst (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) of North and Central America. Ibid. 109: 1–95.
- 1982. A revision of the genus *Lordithon* Thomson of North and Central America (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Ibid. 119: 1–116.
- 1988. New species and records of North American *Tachinus* Gravenhorst (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Canadian Entomologist 120: 231–295.
- 1991. A revision of the genera *Mycetoporus* Mannerheim and *Ischnosoma* Stephens (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae: Tachyporinae) of North and Central America. Memoirs of the Entomological Society of Canada 156: 1–169.
- 1993. A revision of the genera *Bryoporus* Kraatz and *Bryophacis* Reitter and two new related genera from America North of Mexico (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae: Tachyporinae). Ibid. 166: 1–85.

Casey, T. L.

- 1884a. Revision of the Stenini of America north of Mexico. Insects of the family Staphylinidae, order Coleoptera. Philadelphia: Collin Printing House, 206 pp. [Note: Date of publication: November, 1884].
- 1884b. Contributions to the descriptive and systematic coleopterology of North America. Part I. pp. 1–60. Philadelphia.
- 1885. New genera and species of Californian Coleoptera. Bulletin of the California Academy of Sciences 1: 283–336.

- 1889. Coleopterological notices. I. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 5: 39–198.
- 1894. Coleopterological notices. V. Ibid. 7: 281–606.
- 1906. Observations on the staphylinid groups Aleocharinae and Xantholinini chiefly of America. Transactions of the Academy of Science of St. Louis 16(6): 125–434.
- 1915. Studies in some staphylinid genera of North America. In Memoirs on the Coleoptera VI: 395–460. Lancaster, PA: New Era Printing Co.
- Cederhjelm, J.
  - 1798. Faunae Ingricae prodromus exhibens methodicam descriptionem insectorum agri petropolensis praemissa mammalium, avium, amphibiorum et piscium enumeratione. Lipsiae: Johann. Fried. Hartknoch, xviii + 348 pp.

- 1922. Some Indian Coleoptera. Entomologist's Monthly Magazine 58: 31–34.
- Chevrolat, L.
  - [Bolitogyrus]. In D'Orbigny, Dictionnaire universel d'histoire naturelle. 2: 641. Paris: Bureau Principal de Éditeurs.
- Ciceroni, A.
  - 1994. Revisione delle specie italiane del genere *Leptacinus* Erichson con note sinonimiche su alcuni Xantholinini europei e nordafricani. Bollettino del Museo Civico di Storia Naturale di Verona 18(1991): 97–119.
- Ciceroni, A., and A. Zanetti
  - 1995. [Genera 47–61, 79–147]. *In* Ciceroni, Puthz, and Zanetti, Fascicolo 48. Coleoptera Polyphaga III. (Staphylinidae). *In* Minelli, Ruffo, and La Posta, Checklist delle specie della fauna italiana: pp. 10–14, 19–33. Bologna: Edizioni Calderini.
- Coiffait, H.
  - 1955. Diagnoses préliminaires de nouveaux Leptotyphlitae (Col. Staphylinidae). Revue Française d'Entomologie 22(1): 66–72.
  - 1956. Les Xantholinitae de France et des régions voisines, (Col. Staphylinidae). Ibid. 23(1): 31–75.
  - 1957. Diagnoses préliminaires de nouveaux Leptotyphlitae (Deuxième note). (Col. Staphylinidae). Ibid. 24(1): 60–81.
  - 1958. Trois nouveaux *Micropeplus* (*Arrhenopeplus*) de la région méditerranéenne orientale. Ibid. 24(4) (1957): 410–414.

Champion, G. C.

- 1959. Monographie des Leptotyphlites (Col. Staphylinidae). Ibid. 26(4): 237–437.
- 1962. Nouveaux Xantholinus d'Afrique du Nord (Note préliminaire). Société des Sciences Naturelles et Physiques du Maroc 28: 73–74.
- 1964. Note sur les *Ocypus* (sensu lato) avec description de formes nouvelles. Bulletin de la Société d'Histoire Naturelle de Toulouse 99: 81–106.
- 1966. Anadolu'nun Xantholininae (Col. Staphylinidae) leri II. Xantholininae (Col. Staphylinidae) d'Asie Mineure II. Istanbul Üniversitesi fen Fakültesi Mecmuasi. B: Sciences Naturelles 31: 21– 24.
- 1966b. Novye Xantholinini iz sovetskogo soiuza (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Zoologicheskii Zhurnal 45(2): 195–202.
- 1967. *Quedius* nouveaux ou mal connus. Bulletin de la Société d'Histoire Naturelle de Toulouse 103: 391–424.
- 1968. Contribution à la connaissance des Xantholininae (Coléoptères Staphylinidae) du Gabon. Biologia Gabonica 4(2): 127–161.
- 1970. Nouveaux *Xantholinus* paléarctiques. Bulletin de la Société d'Histoire Naturelle de Toulouse 105(1969): 287–294.
- Xantholinini nouveaux ou mal connus de la région Paléarctique occidentale. Ibid. 106(1970): 429–436.
- 1972a. Coléoptères Staphylinidae de la région Paléarctique occidentale I. Généralités. Sous-familles: Xantholininae et Leptotyphlinae. Nouvelle Revue d'Entomologie. Supplément. 2(2): i–ix + 1–651.
- 1972b. Nouveaux Staphylinidae euporéens [*sic*]. Nouvelle Revue d'Entomologie 2: 79–83.
- 1973. Staphylinides nouveaux ou mal connus d'Europe, d'Afrique du Nord et du Moyen-Orient. Les sous-genres du genre *Bledius*. Ibid. 3(2): 107–123.
- 1976. Contribution à la connaissance des Staphylinides de Tahiti et des îles Marquises (Coleoptera). Annales de la Société Entomologique de France 12(2): 215–245.
- 1977. Ergebnisse der Bhutan Expedition 1972 des Naturhistorischen Museums in Basel. Coleoptera: Fam. Staphylinidae Subfam. Xantholininae et Staphylinidae. Entomologica Basiliensia 2: 205–242.
- 1978. Coléoptères staphylinides de la région paléarctique occidentale III. Sous famille Staphylininae, Tribu Quediini. Sous

famille Paederinae, Tribu Pinophilini. Nouvelle Revue d'Entomologie. Supplément. 8(4): 1–364.

- 1979a. Insects of Saudi Arabia. Coleoptera: Fam. Staphylinidae, Subfam. Xantholinae [sic], Staphylininae, Paederinae, Oxytelinae, Aleocharinae. In Fauna of Saudia Arabia 1: 162–180. Basle [sic]: Pro Entomologia.
- 1979b. Staphylinides du Nouristan (Afghanistan) [Coleoptera]. Annales de la Société Entomologique de France (n. ser.) 14(4) (1978): 551–569.
- 1981. Contribution a la connaissance des Staphylinidae (Coleoptera) des Iles Andaman. Bollettino del Museo Civico di Storia Naturale, Verona 7(1980): 329– 348.
- 1982a. Contribution à la connaissance des Staphylinides de l'Himalaya (Népal, Ladakh, Cachemire). (Insecta: Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Senckenbergiana Biologica 62: 21–179.
- 1982b. Staphylinides (Col.) de la région himalayenne et de l'Inde (I. Xantholininae, Staphylininae et Paederinae). Entomologica Basiliensia 7: 231–302.
- 1982c. Nouveaux Staphylinides afghans du Muséum A. Koenig de Bonn. Bonner Zoologische Beiträge 33(1): 75–97.
- 1982d. Une nouvelle forme de *Quedius (Sauridus)* du Massif Central (Col. Staphylinidae). Nouvelle Revue d'Entomologie 12(3): 233–234.
- 1983a. Nouvelles rectifications taxonomiques. Ibid. 13(3): 345–346.
- 1983b. Staphylinides du Massif du Ganesh Himal (Népal Central). Récoltés par Th. Deuve et E. Queinnec. Descriptions de nouvelles espèces et d'un nouveau genre himalayens. Ibid. 13(2): 161– 179.
- 1984a. Staphylinides (Col.) de la région himalayenne et de l'Inde. II. Tachyporinae, Oxytelinae et Aleocharinae. Entomologica Basiliensia 9: 116–157.
- 1984b. Contribution a la connaissance des staphylinides de l'Himalaya (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Annales de la Société Entomologique de France (n. ser.) 20(4): 373–387.
- Coiffait, H., and F. Saiz
  - 1966. Les Quediini du Chili (Col. Staphylinidae). Annales de la Société Entomologique de France (n. ser.) 2(3): 385– 414.
  - 1968. Les Staphylinidae (sensu lato) du Chile. *In* Deboutteville and Rapoport

2001

(eds.), Biologie de Amérique Australe. Études sur la faune du sol. 4: 339–468. Paris: Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique.

Costa, O. G.

1839. Fauna di Aspromonte e sue adiacenze. Atti della Reale Accademia delle Scienze 4: 61–173.

Couper, W.

1865. Descriptions of new species of Canadian Coleoptera. Canadian Naturalist and Geologist (n. ser.) 2: 60–63.

Creutzer, C.

1799. Entomologische Versuche. Wien: K. Schaumberg 142 pp.

Croissandeau, J.

1891. Étude sur les Leptotyphlini. L'Coléoptériste 10: 149–151.

Curtis, J.

1839. Descriptions, &c. of the insects collected by Captain P. P. King, R.N.F.R.S.& L.S. in the survey of the Straits of Magellan. Transactions of the Linnean Society of London 18: 181– 205.

Cuvier, G.

- 1833. Deuxième lettre sur l'entomologie. Revue Entomologique (Silbermann). 1: 193–210.
- De Geer, C.
  - Memoires pour servir a l'histoire des insectes. 4. Stockholm: Pierre Hesselberg, xii + 457 pp.

Dejean, P. F. M. A.

- Catalogue de la collection de Coléoptères de M. le Baron Dejean. Paris: Crevot, Libraire, 136 pp.
- 1836. Catalogue de la collection de Coléoptères de M. le Baron Dejean. Paris: Méquignon-Marvis Père et Fils, xiv + 503 pp.
- Dohrn, C. A.
  - 1856. Literatur. Entomologische Zeitung ... Stettin 17: 312–319.

Drugmand, D.

- 1988. Description d'une nouvelle espèce de *Quedius* Stephens, 1832 d'Anatolie occidentale (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Nouvelle Revue d'Entomologie 5(3): 263–265.
- 1989. Description de deux nouvelles espèces de *Quedius* Stephens, 1832, de la région ouest-paléarctique (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Ibid. 6(2): 173–177.
- 1994. Le groupe d'espèces proches de *Xantholinusjarrigei* Coiffait, un véritable imbroglio systématique (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Bulletin de la Société

Entomologique de France 99(3): 241–252.

Duvivier, A.

1883. Énumération des Staphylinides, décrits depuis la publication du catalogue de M. M. Gemminger et de Harold. Annales de la Société Entomologique de Belgique 27: 91–215.

Dynort, P.

1995. Ergebnis der coleopterolgischen Untersuchungen im Taubertal bei Werbach inklusive der Exkursion der Arbeitsgemeinschaft südwestdeutscher Koleopterologen. Mitteilungen Entomologischer Verein Stuttgart 1869 e.V. 30: 33–54. [Note: Reference not examined]

Eppelsheim, E.

- 1878. Staphylinidae. In O. Schneider and H. Leder, Beiträge zur Kenntniss [sic] der Kaukasischen Käferfauna. Verhandlungen des Naturforschenden Vereines in Brünn 16[1877]: 90–131, pls. 1, 2.
- 1885. Beitrag zur Staphylinidenfauna West-Afrika's. Deutsche Entomologische Zeitschrift 29: 97–147.
- 1887. Neue Staphylinen vom Amur. Ibid. 31: 419–430.
- 1890. Neue Staphylinen aus den Kaukasusländern. Wiener Entomologische Zeitung 9: 161–172, 217–229.
- 1893. Beitrag zur Staphylinen-Fauna des südwestlichen Baikal-Gebietes. Deutsche Entomologische Zeitschrift 1893: 17– 67.
- 1895. Neue ostindische Staphylinen. Wiener Entomologische Zeitung 14: 53–70.
- Erichson, W. F.
  - 1839a. Die Käfer der Mark Brandenburg. 1(2): 385–740. Berlin: F. H. Morin.
  - 1839b. Genera et species Staphylinorum insectorum coleopterorum familiae. (1): 1–400. Berolino: F. H. Morin.
  - 1840. Genera et species Staphylinorum insectorum coleopterorum familiae. (1): 401–954. Ibid.
- Fabricius, J. C.
  - 1775. Systema Entomologiae, sistens insectorum classes, ordines, genera, species, adiectis synonymis, locis, descriptionibus, observationibus. Flensburgi and Lipsiae: Libraria Kortii, 31+ 832 pp.
  - 1779. Reise nach Norwegen mit Bemerkungen aus der Naturhistorie und Oekonomie. Hamburg: Carl Ernst Bohn, lxiv + 388 + 12 [unnumbered] pp.
  - 1781. Species insectorum exhibentes eorum differentias specificas, synonyma auctorum, loca natalia, metamorphosin

adiectis observationibus, descriptionibus. 1. Hamburg and Kilonii: Carol. Ernest Bohnii, viii + 552 pp.

- 1787. Mantissa insectorum sistens eorum species nuper detectas adiectis characteribus genericis, differentiis specificis, emendationibus, observationibus. 1. Hafniae: Christ. Gotti. Proft, 348 pp.
- Entomologiae Systematicae, emendatae et auctae. Secundum classes, ordines, genera, species adjectis synonimis, locis, observationibus, descriptionibus.
  1(2). Hafniae, 538 pp.
- Systema eleutheratorum secundum ordines, genera, species: adiectis synonymis, locis, observationibus, descriptionibus. 2. Kiliae: Bibliopolii Academici Novi, 687 pp.

Fagel, G.

- 1960. Contribution à la connaissance des Staphylinidae. LXVIII. Notes sur quelques espèces méditerranéennes. Bulletin et Annales de la Société Royale d'Entomologie de Belgique 96: 222– 233.
- Fairmaire, L.
  - 1852. Quelques coléoptères nouveaux du midi de l'Europe et du nord de l'Afrique. Annales de la Société Entomologique de France (2) 10: 69–93.
  - Diagnoses de nouvelles espèces de Coléoptères. Ibid. (3) 8: 629–632.

Fairmaire, L., and P. Germain

- Révision des Coléoptères du Chili. Annales de la Société Entomologique de France (4) 1: 405–456.
- Fauvel, A.
  - 1861. [New species]. Bulletin de la Société Entomologique de France (4) 1: xxxiv– xxxv.
  - 1862. Description d'une espèce nouvelle d'Oxytelus. Bulletin de la Société Linnéenne de Normandie 6: 42–44.
  - 1864. Études sur les Staphylinides de l'Amérique centrale, principalement du Mexique. Notices Entomologiques 2: 3–62.
  - 1865. Énumération des insectes recueillis en Savoie et en Dauphine (1861–1863) et descriptions d'espèces nouvelles. Bulletin de la Société Linnéenne de Normandie 9: 253–321.
  - 1869. Remarques synonymiques sur les staphylinides du Catalogus Coleopterorum de Mm v. Harold et Gemminger.

L'Abeille. Mémoires d'Entomologie 5: 479–494.

- 1871a. [No title]. Bulletin de la Société Linnéenne de Normandie (2) 5(1869–70): 17–21.
- 1871b. Faune Gallo-Rhénane ou descriptions des insectes qui habitent la France, la Belgique, la Hollande, le Luxembourg, les provinces Rhénanes et la Valais avec tableaux synoptiques et planches gravées. Ibid. 27–192.
- 1874. Faune Gallo-Rhénane . . . . Ibid. (2) 8: 167–340.
- 1875. Faune Gallo-Rhénane .... Catalogue systématique des staphylinides de la Faune Gallo-Rhénane avec l'addition synonymique des espèces européennes, siberiénnes, caucasiques et Mediterranéennes et descriptions nouvelles. Vol. 3. Caen: F. Le Blanc-Hardel, liv. 6: i– xxxviii pp.
- 1877. Les staphylinides de l'Australie et de la Polynésie. Annali del Museo Civico di Storia Naturale di Genova 10: 168– 298.
- 1878a. Révision du genre *Cyrtothorax*. Notices Entomologiques 6: 83–86.
- 1878b. Les staphylinides des Moluques et de la Nouvelle Guinée. Annali del Museo Civico di Storia Naturale di Genova 12: 171–315.
- 1878c. Les staphylinides de l'Australie et de la Polynésie. Ibid. 13: 465–598.
- 1891. Staphylinides nouveaux de France. Revue d'Entomologie 10: 60–62.
- 1895. Staphylinides nouveaux de l'Inde et de la Malaisie. Ibid. 14: 180–286.
- 1902. Staphylinides exotiques nouveaux. Ibid. 21: 8–37.
- 1903. Staphylinidae recueillis au Cameroun par le Dr. Yngve Sjöstedt. Arkiv för Zoologi 1: 235–244.
- 1904. Staphylinides exotiques nouveaux. 2e Partie. Revue d'Entomologie 23: 76– 112.
- 1905. Staphylinides de Java, recueillies par M. le Dr. K. Kraepelin et M. le Dr. Koningsberger en 1904. Mitteilungen aus dem Naturhistorischen Museum in Hamburg 22: 75–86.
- 1907. Voyage de M. Ch. Alluaud dans l'Afrique Orientale. Staphylinidae. Revue d'Entomologie 26: 10–70.

Fiori, A.

1900. Studio critico del sottogen. Dropephylla Rey del gen. Phyllodrepa Thom. colla descrizioni di ina nuova specie. Atti della Società dei Naturalisti e Matematici di Modena (4) 1: 89–94.

- 1915. Appunti sulla fauna coleotterologica dell'Italia meridionale e della Sicilia. Rivista Coleotterologica Italiana 13: 5– 17, 57–84.
- Förster, B.
  - 1891. Die Insekten des "Plattigen Steinmergels" von Brunstatt. Abhandlungen zur Geologischen Specialkarte von Elsass-Lothringen 3(5): 333–594.
- Franz, H.
  - 1970. Die Nordost-Alpen im Spiegel ihrer Landtierwelt. Eine Gebietsmonographie, umfassend: Fauna, Faunengeschichte, Lebensgemeinschaften und Beeinflussing der Tiere durch den Menschen. Band III Coleoptera 1. Teil, umfassend die Familien Cicindelidae bis Staphylinidae. Innsbruck-München: Universitätsverlag Wagner, 501 pp. [Note: Reference not examined]
- Ganglbauer, L.
  - 1895. Die Käfer von Mitteleuropa. Die Käfer der österreichisch-ungarischen Monarchie, Deutschlands, der Schweiz, sowie des französischen und italienischen Alpengebietes. Wien, 2, Familienreihe Staphylinoidea, part 1, Staphylinidae, Pselaphidae. Wien: Carl Gerold's Sohn, 881 pp.

Gemminger M., and E. von Harold

- 1868. Catalogus Coleopterorum hucusque descriptorum synonymicus et systematicus. 2: 425–752 + 6. Monachii: E. H. Gummi.
- Geoffroy E. L.
  - 1785. [New species]. In Fourcroy, Entomologia Parisiensis; sive catalogus insectorum quae in agro parisiensi reperiuntur; secundum methodum Geoffroeanum in sectiones, genera et species distributus; cui addita sunt nomina trivialia et fere trecentae novae species. Pars prima. Parisiis: Sub Privilegio Academiae, viii + 231 pp.

Germain, P.

- 1903. Apuntes Entomolójicos. Rectificaciones, anotaciones complementarias, i descripciones de siete especies nuevas de coleópteros. Anales de la Universidad, Chile 112/113: 391–445.
- Germar, E. F.
  - 1823. Fauna insectorum europae. 6: 1–25. Halae: Kuemmelii.
  - 1824. Insectorum species novae aut minus cognitae, descriptionibus illustratae.

Coleoptera. Halae: Hendelii et Filii, xxiv + 624 pp.

- 1825. Fauna insectorum europae. 11: 1–25. Halae: Kuemmelii.
- Gerstaecker, C. E. A.
  - 1857. Bericht über die wissenschaftlichen Leistungen im Gebiete der Entomologie während des Jahres 1856. Archiv für Naturgeschichte 23(2): 273–486.
  - 1858. Bericht über die wissenschaftlichen Leistungen im Gebiete der Entomologie während des Jahres 1857. Ibid. 24(2): 193–480.
  - 1859. Bericht über die wissenschaftlichen Leistungen im Gebiete der Entomologie während des Jahres 1858. Ibid. 25(2): 297–556.

Gistel, J.

- 1856. Die Mysterien der europäischen Insectenwelt . . . Kempten: Tobias Dannheimer, 530 pp.
- 1857. Achthundert und zwanzig neue oder unbeschriebene wirbellose Thiere. Straubing: Schorner'schen Buchhandlung, 94 pp.
- Gmelin, J. F.
  - 1790. Caroli a Linné, Systema Naturae. 13th ed., 1(4): 1517–2224, Lipsiae: Beer.

Goeze, J. A. E.

1777. Entomologische Beyträge zu des Ritter Linné zwölften Ausgabe des Natursystems. 1. Leipzig: Weidmanns Erben und Reich, xvi + 736 pp.

Gozis, M. des

1886. Recherche de l'espèce typique de quelques anciens genres. Rectifications synonymiques et notes diverses. Montluçon: Herbin, 36 pp.

Gravenhorst, J. L. C.

- 1802. Coleoptera Microptera Brunsvicensia nec non exoticorum quotquot exstant in collectionibus entomologorum Brunsvicensium in genera familias et species distribuit. Brunsuigae: Carolum Reichard, lxvi + 206 pp.
- Monographia Coleopterorum Micropterorum. Gottingae: Henrici Dieterich, 248 pp.
- Greenslade, P. J. M.
  - 1971. The genus *Priochirus* Sharp, 1887 (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) revision of subgeneric classification and descriptions of new species. Transactions of the Royal Entomological Society of London 123(2): 125–187.

Gridelli, E.

<sup>1922.</sup> Studi sul genere *Quedius* Steph. (Coleopt., Staphyl). Atti dell'Accademia

Scientifica Veneto-Trentino-Istriana 12/ 13: 123–140.

- Grimmer, K. H. B.
  - 1841. Steiermark's Coleopteren mit Einhundert sechs neu beschriebenen Species. Grätz: C. Tanzer'schen Schriften, 49 pp.
- Guérin-Méneville, F. E.
  - 1829. Iconographie de règne animal de G. Cuvier, ou représentation d'après nature de l'une des espèces les plus remarquables et souvent non encore figurées, de chaque genre d'animaux. Avec un texte descriptif mis au courant de la science. Ouvrage pouvant servir d'atlas a tous les traites de zoologie. II. Planches des animaux invertébrés. Insectes, pls. 3–12. Paris: J. B. Baillière.
  - 1844. Description de quelques Coléoptères de la Nouvelle-Grenade. Revue Zoologique 1844: 8–19.
- Gyllenhal, L.
  - 1810. Insecta suecica descripta. Classis I. Coleoptera sive Eleuterata. 1(2). Scaris: F. J. Leverentz, xx + 660 pp.
  - Insecta suecica descripta. Classis I. Coleoptera sive Eleuterata. 1(3). Scaris: F. J. Leverentz, 732 pp.
  - 1827. Insecta suecica descripta. Classis I. Coleoptera sive Eleuterata. 1(4). Lipsiae: Friedericum Fleischer, viii + 762 pp.

Hagen, H. A.

- Bibliotheca Entomologica. Die Litteratur über das ganze Gebiet der Entomologie bis zum Jahre 1862. Zweiter Band. N–Z. Leipzig: Wilhelm Engelmann, 512 pp.
- Haglund, L.
- 1914. Nytt från Riksgränsen. Entomologisk Tidskrift 35(1–2): 105–106.

Hampe, C.

1850. Beschreibung einiger neuen Käfer-Arten. Entomologische Zeitung herausgegeben von dem entomologischen Vereine zu Stettin 11(10): 346–358.

Hansen, M.

- 1996. Katalog over Danmarks biller. Catalogue of the Coleoptera of Denmark. Entomologiske Meddelelser 64(1): 1– 112.
- Hatch, M. H.
  - 1957. The beetles of the Pacific Northwest. Part II: Staphyliniformia. Seattle: Univ. of Washington Press, ix + 384 pp.

Hayashi, Y.

1992. Notes on Staphylinidae from Taiwan, VIII. Entomological Review of Japan 47(2): 107–113. Heer, O.

- 1834. Geographische Verbreitung der Käfer in den Schweizeralpen, besonders nach ihren Höhenverhältnissen. *In* J. Fröbel and O. Heer, Mittheilungen aus dem Gebiete der Theoretischen Erdkunde. 1(1): 36–98. Zurich: Orell Füssli.
- 1839. Fauna Coleopterorum Helvetica. 1(2): 145–360. Turici: Orelii, Fuesslini et Sociorum.
- 1862. Beiträge zur Insektenfauna Oeningens. Harlem: Erben Loosjes, 90 pp.

Henshaw, S.

- 1885. List of the Coleoptera of America, North of Mexico. Philadelphia: American Entomological Society, 2 + 161 pp.
- Herbst, J. F. W.
  - 1784. Verzeichniss meiner Insectensammlung. In J. Fuessly, (ed.), Archiv der Insectengeschichte 5(2): 129–151.

Herman, L. H.

- 1970. Phylogeny and reclassification of the genera of the rove-beetle subfamily Oxytelinae of the World (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 142(5): 343–454.
- Revision of *Bledius*. Part III. The *annularis* and *emarginatus* groups (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae, Oxytelinae). Ibid. 175(1): 1–146.
- In press. Catalog of the Staphylinidae (Insecta: Coleoptera). 1758 to the end of the second Millennium. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History.
- Hochhuth, J. H.
  - 1849. Die Staphylinen-Fauna des Kaukasus und Transkaukasiens. Bulletin de la Société Impériale des Naturalistes de Moscou 22(1): 18–214.
  - 1851. Beitraege zur naeheren Kenntniss der Staphylinen Russlands. Enthaltend Beschreibung neuer Genera und Arten, nebst Erläuterungen noch nicht hinlänglich bekannter Staphylinen des russischen Reichs. Ibid. 24 pt. 2(3): 3–58.

Horn, G.

- 1877. Synopsis of the genera and species of the Staphylinide tribe Tachyporini of the United States. Transactions of the American Entomological Society 6: 81–128.
- 1884. Synopsis of the Philonthini of Boreal America. Ibid. 11: 177–244.

Horn, W., and S. Schenkling

1928. Index Litteraturae Entomologicae. Serie I: Die Welt-Literatur über die gesamte Entomologie bis inklusive 1863. Vol. 1–3. Berlin-Dahlem: W. Horn, 1056 pp.

Hromádka, L.

1992. Vier neue *Philonthus*-Arten aus Nepal. Deutsche Entomologische Zeitschrift (N.F.) 39: 97–102.

Hugentobler, H.

1966. Beitrag zur Kenntnis der Käfer der Nordostschweitz. Naturwissenschaftliche Gesellschaft St. Gallen: Selbstverlag, 248 pp. [Note: Reference not examined]

Iablokov-Khnzorian, S. M.

- 1961. Coléoptères nouveaux de l'Arménie Soviétique. Notulae Entomologicae (1960) 40(4): 140–153.
- 1966. Dva novykh vysokogornykh vida zhestkokrylykh-stafilinov s Aragatsa. Doklady Akademiia Nauk Armianskoi SSR 42(2): 175–176.

ICZN (International Commission on Zoological Nomenclature)

- 1983. Opinion 1250. *Gyrohypnus* Samouelle, 1819, ex Leach ms, *Xantholinus* Dejean, 1821, ex Dahl, and *Othius* Stephens, 1829, ex Leach ms (Insecta, Coleoptera): Type species designated for these genera. Bulletin of Zoological Nomenclature 40(2): 85–87.
- 1985. International Code of Zoological Nomenclature. Third ed., adopted by the XX General Assembly of the International Union of Biological Sciences. London: International Trust for Zoological Nomenclature, xx + 338 pp.
- 1999. International code of zoological nomenclature. Fourth ed. Ibid. xxix + 306 pp.
- Illiger, J. K. W.
  - 1794. Beschreibung einiger neuen Käferarten aus der Sammlung des Herrn Professors Hellwig in Braunschweig. *In* D. Schneider (ed.), Neuestes Magazin für die Liebhaber der Entomologie. 5: 593–620. Stralsund: Christian Lorenz Strucks.

Irmler, U.

- 1982. Descriptions of new neotropical *Holotrochus* and a key to the species of the genus (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Coleopterists Bulletin 35(1981): 379–397.
- 1987. New Neotropical species of the genus Holotrochus and the new genus Mimotrochus. Entomologische Arbeiten aus dem Museum G. Frey Tutzing bei München 35/36: 81–109.
- 1994. Taxonomie und Verbreitung neotropischer *Lispinus* Er. (Coleoptera, Sta-

phylinidae). Beiträge zur Entomologie 44(1): 53–82.

1999. A new species of the genus *Pseudoxyporus* from Japan (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Japanese Journal of Systematic Entomology 5(2): 255–258.

Jakobson, G.

Ito, T.

1909. Zhuki Rossii i Zapadnoi Evropy. Rukovodstvo k Opredieleniiu Zhukov. fasc. 7: 481–560. S. Peterburg: A. F. Devriena.

Jarrige, J.

- 1941. Staphylinides nouveaux ou mal connus de France. Bulletin de la Société Entomologique de France 46: 46–50.
- 1951. Deux Staphylinides endoges nouveaux de la faune Malgache. Mémoires de l'Institut Scientifique de Madagascar (A) 5(2): 333–336.
- 1957. Coleopteres Brachelytra de la Réunion. Ibid.(E) 8: 103–118.
- 1968. Nouveaux Evaesthetinae Malgaches (Coleoptera Stenidae). Bulletin du Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle (2) 39(5)(1967): 871–878.
- Jeannel, R., and J. Jarrige
  - 1949. Biospeologica. LXVIII. Coléoptères Staphylinides (Première Série). Archives de Zoologie Expérimentale et Générale 86(5): 255–392.

Kiesenwetter, E. A. H. von

- 1845. Entomologische Notizen. Entomologische Zeitung Herausgegeben von dem Entomologischen Vereine zu Stettin 6(7): 220–227.
- 1847. [New species]. In H. von Kiesenwetter and F. Märkel, Eine entomologische Excursion im Riesengebirge. Ibid. 8(3): 73–87.
- 1848. [Species accounts]. In H. Küster, (ed.), Die Käfer Europa's. Nach der Natur beschrieben. 15: 1–100 Blätter. Nürnberg: Bauer & Raspe.
- 1858a. [New species]. In G. Kraatz, Beitrag zur Käferfauna Griechenlands. Zweites Stück: Palpicornia, Silphales, Scydmaenidae, Pselaphidae, Staphylinidae. Berliner Entomologische Zeitschrift 2: 37–67.
- 1858b. [Review of] Ludwig Redtenbacher's Fauna Austriaca, die Käfer, 2te Auflage, Heft 1–6,... Ibid. 2: 82–85.
- 1877. [New species]. In H. von Kiesenwetter and T. Kirsch (ed.), Die K\u00e4ferfauna der Auckland-Inseln, nach Herm. Krone's Sammlungen beschrieben. Deutsche
Entomologische Zeitschrift 21: 155–174.

Kirby, W.

- 1837. Insects. In J. Richardson (ed.), Fauna boreali-Americana; or the zoology of the northern parts of British America: containing descriptions of the objects of natural history collected on the later northern land expeditions, under command of Captain Sir John Franklin, R.N. Part 4. Norwich: Josiah Fletcher, 325 pp., 8 pls.
- 1950. Novye vidy roda *Philonthus* Curt. (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae) fauny Sovetskogo Soiuza. Entomologicheskoe Obozrenie 31: 237–242.

Klug, J. C. F.

1855. [Diagnosen der neuen ... Coleopteren ... von Mossambique ... ]. Bericht über die zur Bekanntmachung geeigneten Verhandlungen der Königl. Preusss. Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin 1855: 643–660.

Koch, C.

1936. Wissenschaftliche Ergebnisse der entomologischen Expeditionen Seiner Durchlaucht des Fürsten Alessandro C. della Torre e Tasso nach Aegypten und auf die Halbinsel Sinai. Pubblicazioni del Museo Entomologico "Pietro Rossi", Duino 1: 115–232.

Köhler, F.

1997. Anmerkungen zur lokalfaunistischen Käfersammlung der landwirtschaftlichen Versuchsgüter Burscheid-Höfchen und Monheim-Laacherhof im Fuhlrott-Museum Wuppertal (Ins., Col.). Jahresberichte des Naturwissenschaftlichen Vereins Wuppertal 50: 59–80. [Note: Reference not examined]

Kolenati, F. A.

1846. Meletemata entomologica. Fasc. III. Brachelytra caucasi cum distributione geographica adnexis pselaphinis, scydmaenis, notoxidibus et xylophagis. Petropoli: Imperialis Academiae Scientiarum, 44 pp., 3 pls.

Korge, H.

- 1963. Beiträge zur Kenntnis der tropischen Staphyliniden. Reichenbachia 2(48): 79–87.
- 1964. Carabiden- und Staphylinidenfunde in den Pontischen Gebirgen Kleinasiens und in Mazedonien (Coleoptera). Reichenbachia 4(14): 105–126.
- 1971. Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Koleopterenfauna Kleinasiens. Annotationes Zoologicae et Botanicae 67: 1–68.

Kraatz, G.

- 1857a. Naturgeschichte der Insecten Deutschlands. Abt. 1, Coleoptera, 2, Lief. 3–4: 377–768. Berlin: Nicolai.
- 1857b. Ueber *Boreaphilushenningianus* Sahlb. Berliner Entomologische Zeitschrift 1: 35–44.
- 1858a. Einige neue und ausgezeichnete Staphylinen-Gattungen. Ibid. 2: 361–368.
- 1858b. Description de quelques nouvelles espèces de Coléoptères. Bulletin de la Société Entomologique de France (3)6: clxxxviii–cxcii.
- 1859. Die Staphylinen-Fauna von Ostindien, insbesondere der Insel Ceylan. Archiv für Naturgeschichte 25(1): 1–196, 3 pls. Separate. Berlin: Nicolai.
- 1899. Leistotrophus (?) giganteus nov. spec. (Staphylinidae). Deutsche Entomologische Zeitschrift 1899: 112.

Lacordaire, T.

1835. In J. Boisduval and T. Lacordaire. Faune entomologique des environs de Paris; ou species général des insectes qui se trouvent dans un rayon de quinze à vingt lieues aux alentours de Paris. Vol. 1 (only). Paris: Méquignon-Marvis, 696 pp.

Laporte, F. L.

- 1835. Études entomologiques, ou description d'insectes nouveaux, et observations sur leur synonymie. Paris: Méquignon-Marvis, 159 pp., 4 pls.
- Histoire naturelle des insectes coléoptères. Vol. 1: Paris: Duménil, cxxv + 324.

Last, H. R.

- 1975. Records of Quediini taken by Dr. R. Hornabrook in New Guinea with descriptions of new species (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Journal of Natural History 9(4): 425–443.
- 1981. Records of the genera *Philonthus*, *Gabrius*, *Neobisnius* and *Hesperus* from New Guinea with descriptions of new species (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Folia Entomologica Hungarica 34(1): 117–134.
- 1987. Staphylinidae from Papua New Guinea in the collection of Bernice P. Bishop Museum Honolulu, Hawaii (Insecta, Coleoptera). Entomologische Abhandlungen 51(3): 25–56.

Latreille, P. A.

1797. Précis des caractères génériques des insectes, disposés dans un ordre naturel. Brive: F. Bourdeaux, xiv + 201 + 7 pp.

2001

- 1802. Histoire naturelle, générale et particulière, des crustacés et des insectes. vol.3. Paris: F. Dufart, 467 pp.
- 1804. Histoire naturelle, générale et particulière, des crustacés et des insectes. vol.9: 416 pp., pls. LXXIV–LXXX. Paris: F. Dufart.
- 1810. Considerations générales sur l'ordre naturel des animaux composant les classes des crustacés, des arachnides et des insectes; avec un tableau méthodique de leurs genres, disposés en familles. Paris: F. Schoell, 444 pp.
- 1825. Familles naturelles du règne animal,... Paris: J.-B. Baillière, 570 pp.
- Lea, A. M.
  - 1906. Descriptions of new species of Australian Coleoptera. Part VIII. Proceedings of the Linnean Society of New South Wales 31: 195–228.
  - 1925. On Australian Staphylinidae (Coleoptera). Part II. Transactions and Proceedings of the Royal Society of South Australia 49: 213–253.
- Leach, W. E.
  - 1819. [New genera]. *In* G. Samouelle, The entomologist's useful compendium; .... London: Thomas Boys, 496 pp.
- LeConte, J. L.
  - 1861. Classification of the Coleoptera of North America. Part 1. Prepared for the Smithsonian Institution. Smithsonian Miscellaneous Collections 3: xxv + 1– 214.
  - 1863a. List of the Coleoptera of North America. Prepared for the Smithsonian Institution. Ibid. 6(140): 1–56.
  - 1863b. New species of North American Coleoptera. Part I. Ibid. 6(167): 1–92.
  - 1877. On certain genera of Staphylinidae Oxytelinae, Piestidae, and Micropeplidae, as represented in the fauna of the United States. Transactions of the American Entomological Society 6: 213–252.
  - 1880. Short studies of North American Coleoptera. Ibid. 8: 163–218.

1853. [Notes]. Bulletin de la Société Entomologique de France (3) 1: lviii–lx.

Levasseur, L.

1962. Contribution à la connaissance des Coléoptères Staphylinides de l'Afrique noire (1<sup>re</sup> note). Bulletin de la Société Entomologique de France 66(9– 10)[1961]: 233–243.

1993. [The rove beetles of Northeast China]. pp. 1–63, 151–163. *In* J. Li and P. Chen (eds.), [Studies on fauna and ecogeography of soil animal (*sic*)]: Changchun, Jilin Province: Northeast Normal Univ. Press. [In Chinese]

Lindberg, H.

1953. Zweiter Beitrag zur Kenntnis der Käferfauna der Kanarischen Inseln. Commentationes Biologicae Societas Scientiarum Fennica 13(12): 1–18.

Linné, C.

1758. Systema naturae, per regna tria naturae, secundum Classes, Ordines, Genera, Species, cum characteribus, differentiis, synonymis, locis. Tomus 1. Editio Decima, Reformata. 1 + 823 pp. Holmiae: Laurentii Salvii.

Ljungh, I.

- 1804. Stenus monographice descriptus. In F. Weber and D. Mohr (eds.), Archiv für die systematische Naturgeschichte, Bd. 1, art. V: 59–69. Leipzig: Schäferischen Buchhandlung.
- 1810. Additamenta quaedam ad monographiam Steni generis in Archive für die Naturgeschichte exhibitam. In F. Weber (ed.), Beiträge zur Naturkunde, Bd. 2, art. VII: 155–160. Kiel: August Schmidt.

1960. Die Arten der Gattung Lesteva Latr. (Coleoptera Staphylinidae) der iberischen Halbinsel. Bulletin Institut Royal des Sciences Naturelles de Belgique 36(26): 1–7.

Lucas, P. H.

1846. Histoire naturelle des animaux articulés. Deuxième partie. Insectes. In Exploration scient. de l'Algerie . . . . Sciences physiques. Zoologie. 2: 1–590. Paris: Imprimeria Nationale.

Lucas, R.

1920. Catalogus alphabeticus generum et subgenerum Coleopterorum orbis terrarum totius (famil., trib., subtr., sect. incl.). Archiv für Naturgeschichte (A)84(1918): 1–696.

Lundgren, R. W.

1998. Family Staphylinidae. The rove beetles. In S. Peck and M. Thomas (eds.), A distributional checklist of the beetles (Coleoptera) of Florida, pp. 37, 41–54. In Arthropods of Florida and Neighboring Land Areas. 16: viii + 1–180. Gainesville, FL: Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services.

Luze, G.

1901. Bolitobiini. Revision der paläarktischen Arten der Staphyliniden-Gattung *Bry*-

Leprieur, M.

Li, J.

Lohse, G. A.

ocharis Boisd. et Lac., Bolitobius Mannh., Bryoporus Kraatz und Mycetoporus Mannh. Verhandlungen der K. K. Zoologisch-Botanischen Gesellschaft in Wien 51: 662–746.

- 1902. Revision der paläarktischen Arten der Staphylinden Gattungen Anthophagus Gravh. und Hygrogeus Rey. Ibid. 52: 505–530.
- 1906. Revision der paläarktischen Arten der Staphyliniden-Genera: Xylodromus, Omalium, Phyllodrepa, Hypopycna, Dialycera, Pycnoglypta und Phloeonomus. Ibid. 56: 485–602.
- MacLeay, W. J.
- 1873. Notes on a collection of insects from Gayndah. Transactions of the Entomological Society of New South Wales 2: 79–205.

Mäklin, F. G.

- 1852. [New species and notes]. In C. von Mannerheim, Zweiter Nachtrag zur Kaefer-Fauna der Nord-Amerikanischen Laender des Russischen Reiches. Bulletin de la Société Impériale des Naturalistes de Moscou 25(2): 283– 387.
- 1878. Diagnoser öfver några nya siberiska insektarter. Öfversigt af Finska Vetenskaps-Societetens Förhandlingar 19(1876– 1877): 15–32.

Malkin, B.

- 1944. New species of *Boletobius* from the northwest with a distributional note on *Coproporus* (Coleoptera, Staphylini-dae). Pan-Pacific Entomologist 20(1): 23–30.
- Mannerheim, C. G. von
  - Précis d'un nouvel arrangement de la famille des brachélytres de l'ordre des insectes coléoptères. St. Petersbourg, 87 pp.
  - 1843a. Mémoire sur la récolte d'insectes coléoptères, faite en 1842. Bulletin de la Société Impériale des Naturalistes de Moscou 16(1): 70–87.
  - 1843b. Beitrag zur Kaefer-Fauna der Aleutischen Inseln, der Insel Sitkha und Neu-Californiens. Bulletin de la Société Impériale des Naturalistes de Moscou 16(2): 175–314.
- Märkel, F., and E. A. H. von Kiesenwetter
  - 1848. Bericht über eine entomologische Excursion in die Kärnthner Alpen im Jahre 1847. Entomologische Zeitung Herausgegeben von dem Entomologischen Vereine zu Stettin 9(11): 321–329.

Marsham, T.

1802. Coleoptera Britannica, sistens Insecta Coleoptera Britanniae indigena, secundum methodum Linnaeanam disposita. Vol. 1, Londini: J. White, xxxi + 548 pp.

Matsumura, S.

1911. Erster Beitrag zur Insekten-Fauna von Sachalin. Journal of the College of Agriculture, Tohoku Imperial University, Sapporo 4: 1–144.

Matthews, A.

- 1838. Notice of some new genera and species of Brachelytra. Entomological Magazine 5: 188–198.
- 1863. Capture of *Ptiliumaffine*, *Omaliumnigrum*, *O. brevicorne*, *O. testaceum*, and a new species of *Omalium*. Zoologist: ... 21: 8649–8652.

Melsheimer, F. E.

1844. Descriptions of new species of Coleoptera of the United States. Proceedings of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia 2(2): 26–43.

Mjöberg, E.

1904. Über eine schwedische interglaciale Coleopterenspecies. Geologiska Föreningens i Stockholm Förhandlingar 26(6) no. 230: 493–497.

Moore, I., and E. F. Legner

- 1974. Keys to the genera of the Staphylinidae of America North of Mexico exclusive of the Aleocharinae (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Hilgardia 42(16): 548– 563.
- 1975. A catalog of the Staphylinidae of America North of Mexico (Coleoptera). Univ. of California, Division of Agricultural Sciences, Special Publication 3015: 1–514.
- Motschulsky, V.
  - 1857a. Voyages. Lettres de M. de Motschulsky à M. Ménétriés. New-York le 15 Juillet 1654 [*sic*]. Etudes Entomologiques (1856) 5:3–20. Helsingfors: Société de Littérature Finnoise.
  - 1857b. énumération des nouvelles espèces de Coléoptères rapportés de ses voyages. Bulletin de la Société Impériale des Naturalistes de Moscou (2) 30(4): 490– 517.
  - 1858a. énumeration des nouvelles espèces de Coléoptères rapportés de ses voyages. Ibid. 31(2): 634–670.
  - 1858b. énumeration des nouvelles espèces de Coléoptères rapportés de ses voyages. Ibid. 31(3): 204–264.
  - 1860. énumération des nouvelles espèces de coléoptères rapportées de ses voyages.3e partie. Ibid. 33(2): 539–588.

1943. Ottavo contributo alla conoscenza del genere *Staphylinus* (1). Atti del Museo Civico di Storia Naturale Trieste 15(5): 95–109.

Müller, O. F.

- 1764. Fauna Insectorum Fridrichsdalina, sive methodica descriptio insectorum agri Fridrichsdalensis,... Hafniae and Lipsiae: Io. Frid. Gleditschii, xxiv + 96 pp.
- 1776. Zoologiae Danicae prodromus, seu animalium Daniae et Norvegiae indigenarum characteres, nomina, et synonyma imprimis popularium. Havniae: Hallageriis, 32 + 282 pp.

Mulsant, M. E., and C. Rey

- 1853. Description de quelques coléoptères nouveaux ou peu connus de la tribu des Brachélytres. Annales de la Société Linnéenne de Lyon (n. ser.) 1: 22–72.
- Description de quelques coléoptères nouveaux ou peu connus. Opuscules Entomologiques 12: 139–188.
- 1870. Description de diverses espèces nouvelles de coléoptères. Ibid. 14: 105– 122.
- 1875. Description de quelques espèces de coléoptères nouveaux ou peu connus de la tribu des brévipennes. Ibid. 16: 179– 202.
- 1876. Tribu des brévipennes. [Staphyliniens]. Annales de la Société d'Agriculture de Lyon (4) 8[1875]: 145–856.
- 1878a. Tribu des brévipennes. Cinquième famille: Oxyporiens. Sixième famille: Oxyteliens. Ibid. (4) 10: 443–850.
- 1878b. Tribu des Brévipennes. Troisième famille: Pédériens. Quatrième Famille: Euesthetiens. Annales de la Société Linnéenne de Lyon (n. ser.) 24(1877): 1–341, 6 pls.
- 1878c. Tribu des brévipennes. Septième famille: Phléochariens. Huitième famille: Trigonuriens. Neuvième famille: Protéiniens. Dixième famille: Phléobiens. Ibid. 25: 191–260.
- Muona, J.
  - 1977. Nomenclatorial notes on Staphylinidae (Coleoptera). Notulae Entomologicae 57: 15–16.
  - 1979. Staphylinidae. In H. Silfverberg (ed.), Enumeratio Coleopterorum Fennoscandiae et Daniae: 14–28. Helsingfors: Helsingfors Entomologiska Bytesförening.

- Muona, J., and J. Viramo
- 1986. The Coleoptera of the Koillismaa area (KS), northeast Finland. Oulanka Report 6: 3–51.

Nakane, T.

- 1963. A list of Coleoptera from the Shiretoko Peninsula, Hokkaido, Japan. Scientific Reports of Kyoto Prefectural Univ. (A) 3(5): 237–245.
- Nakane, T., and K. Sawada
  - 1956. A revision of the subfamily Oxyporinae in Japan (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Scientific Reports of the Saikyo University (A) 2(2): 64–74.
  - 1960. The Coleoptera of Yakushima Island, Staphylinidae. Scientific Reports of Kyoto Prefectural Univ. 3(2): 121–126.

Newton, A. F., Jr., and M. K. Thayer

- 1992. Current classification and family-group names in Staphyliniformia (Coleoptera). Fieldiana: Zoology (n. ser.). 67: 1–92.
- Nicolai, E. A.
  - 1822. Dissertatio inauguralis medica sistens Coleopterorum species Agri Halensis quam consensu illustrissimi medicorum ordinis in celeberrima academia Fridericiana Halensi et vitebergensi consociata pro summis in Medicina et Chirurgia honoribus rite obtinendis die X. mensis Septembris MDCCCXXII. Halae: Frid. Aug. Grunderti Patris Filiique, 44 + 1 unnumbered pp.

Nordmann, A. von

- 1837. Symbolae ad monographiam staphylinorum. Petropoli: Academiae Caesareae Scientiarum, 167 pp.
- Normand, H.
  - 1910. Nouveaux Coléoptères de la faune tunisienne (4° note). Bulletin de la Société Entomologique de France 1910: 87–88.

Notman, H.

1921. Some new genera and species of Coleoptera collected at Westfield, Chautauqua Co., N.Y. Journal of the New York Entomological Society 29: 145– 160.

1990. Staphylinidae (Coleoptera). Gniazd kreta—*Talpaeuropaea* L. w Polsce. Universytet im. Adama Mickiewicza w Poznaniu Seria Zoologia 15: 1–254.

Olivier, A. G.

1795. Entomologie ou Histoire Naturelle des Insectes, avec leurs caractères génériques et spécifiques, leur description, leur synonymie, et leur figure enluminée. Coléoptères. 3: [Genera] no. 35–

Müller, G. (also J.)

Nowosad, A.

65. 557 pp. Paris: Lanneau. [Note: Genera numbered and each genus paginated separately]

1811. Encyclopédie Méthodique. Histoire naturelle. Insectes. 8(2): 361–722. Paris: H. Agasse.

Olliff, A. S.

1887. A revision of the Staphylinidae of Australia. Part III. Proceedings of the Linnean Society of New South Wales (2) 2(3): 471–512.

Orousset, J.

1988. Insectes Coléoptères Staphylinidae Euaesthetinae. *In* Faune de Madagascar
71: 1–208. Paris: Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle.

Oustalet, M. E.

- 1874. Recherches sur les insectes fossiles des terrains tertiaires de la France. Annales des Sciences Géologiques 5(2): 1–347.
- Pajni, H. R., and S. K. Kohli
- 1977. Three new species of *Philonthus* from Chandigarh (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Oriental Insects 11(4): 513–520.

Paykull, G. de

- 1789. Monographia Staphylinorum Sueciae. Upsaliae: Johann. Edman, 8 + 81 pp.
- 1790. Monographia Caraborum Sueciae. Ibid., 138 pp.
- 1792. Monographia Curculionum Suecia. Ibid., 8 unnumbered + 151 pp.
- 1800. Fauna Suecica. Insecta. 3. Ibid., 459 pp.
- Peez, A. v., and M. Kahlen
- 1977. Die K\u00e4fer von S\u00fcdtirol. Faunistischen Verzeichnis der aus der Provinz Bozen bekannt gewordenen Koleopteren. Innsbruck: Selbstverlag des Tiroler Landesmuseum Ferdinandeum, 525 pp. [Note: Reference not examined]

Peyron, E.

1858. Catalogue des Coléoptères des environs de Tarsous (Caramanie), avec la description des espèces nouvelles. Annales de la Société Entomologique de France (3) 6: 353–434.

Pope, R. D.

1977. A checklist of British Insects. Second ed. (completely revised). Part 3. Cole-optera and Strepsiptera. *In* Handbooks for the identification of British Insects. 11(3): Royal Entomological Society of London. xiv + 105 pp.

Puthz, V.

1967a. Zur Synonymie und Stellung einiger Stenus-Arten, II (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Zeitschrift der Arbeitsgemeinschaft Österreichischer Entomologen 19(1): 17–23.

- 1967b. Zur Synonymie und Stellung einiger *Stenus*-Arten. (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Deutsche Entomologische Zeitschrift (N.F.) 14: 139–146.
- 1970. Zwei neue *Stenus*-Arten aus dem Kaukasus nebst synonymischen Bemerkungen zu anderen Arten (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Mitteilungen aus dem Zoologischen Museum in Berlin 46(2): 299–309.
- 1971. Ein neuer *Stenus* aus Indien: *Stenus* (*Hypostenus*) pulchrior n. sp. (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Ibid. 47(1): 47–49.
- 1974a. A new revision of the Nearctic *Edaphus*--species and remarks on other North American Euaesthetinae (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Revue Suisse de Zoologie 81(4): 911–932.
- 1974b. Bemerkungen über drei von O. Scheerpeltz 1972 aus Argentinien beschriebenen Staphylinidenarten (Coleoptera). Folia Entomologica Hungarica (n. ser.) 27(2): 135–137.
- Revision der paläarktischen *Edaphus*species (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Entomologica Germanica 1(2): 170– 184.
- Redtenbacher, L.
  - 1849. Fauna austriaca. Die K\u00e4fer. ed. 1: 641– 883. Wien: Carl Gerold.
  - 1857. Fauna austriaca. Die K\u00e4fer. ed. 2: 129– 512. Wien: C. Gerold's Sohn.
  - 1858. Fauna austriaca. Die K\u00e4fer. ed. 2: I-CXXVI, 513–1017. Wien: C. Gerold's Sohn.
- Reiche, L., and F. de Saulcy
  - 1856. Espèces nouvelles ou peu connues de Coléoptères, recueillies par M. F. de Saulcy, membre de l'Institut, dans son voyage en Orient. Annales de la Société Entomologique de France (3) 4: 353–422.

Reitter, E.

1909. Fauna Germanica. Die K\u00e4fer des Deutschen Reiche. Nach der analytischen Methodes bearbeitet. Vol. 2: Stuttgart: K. G. Lutz, 392 pp.

Rey, C.

- 1883. Tribu des brévipennes. Deuxieme Rameau Bolitobiates. Quatorzième et Quinzième familles: Tachyporiens et Trichophyens. Annales de la Société Linnéenne de Lyon 29: 13–125.
- Tribu des brévipennes. Deuxième groupe: Micropéplides. Troisième groupe: Sténides. Ibid., (2) 30: 153–415. [Note:

Date of publication is at least as early as August 25, 1884]

Rosenhauer, W. G.

- 1856. Die Thiere Andalusiens nach dem Resultate einer Reise zusammengestellt, nebst den Beschreibungen von 249 neuen oder bis jetzt noch unbeschriebenen Gattungen und Arten. Erlangen: Theodor Blaesing, 429 pp.
- Rossi, P.
  - 1790. Fauna Etrusca sistens insecta quae in provinciis Florentina et Pisana praesertim collegit. vol. 1: Liburni: Thomae Masi & Sociorum, 272 pp.
  - 1792. Mantissa insectorum, exhibens species nuper in Etruria collectas, adiectis faunae etruscae illustrationibus, ac emendationibus. vol. 1. Pisis: Polloni, 148 pp.

Rottenberg, A.

- Beiträge zur Coleopteren-Fauna von Sicilien. Berliner Entomologische Zeitschrift 14: 11–40.
- Roubal, J.
  - 1949. Popisy novych forem coleopter z ČSR. Časopis České Společnosti Entomologické 46: 44–46.
- Rougemont, G.-M. de
  - 1984. Steninae collected by the author in Indonesia 1975–1982 (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Reichenbachia 22(32): 227–242.
- Runde, G. H.
  - 1835. Brachelytrorum species Agri Halensis. Halae: Ploetzianis, 6 + 32 pp.
- Ryvkin, A. B.
  - 1990. Semeistvo Staphylinidae Latreille, 1802. In A. Rasnitsyn (ed.), Pozdne-Mezozoiskie nasekomye vostochnogo Zabaikal'ia. Trudy Paleontologicheskogo Instituta Akademiia Nauk SSSR. 239: 52–66.
- Sachse, C. T.
  - 1852. Neue Käfer. Entomologische Zeitung Herausgegeben von dem Entomologischen Vereine zu Stettin 13: 115–127, 142–149, 454.
- Sahlberg, C. R.
  - 1830. Insecta Fennica, dissertationibus academicis, A. 1817–1834 editis. Pars I: A: 281–360. Helsingforsiae: Frenckelliana.
- Sahlberg, J.
  - Enumeratio coleopterorum brachypterorum Fenniae. I. Staphylinidae. Acta Societatis pro Fauna et Flora Fennica 1: 1–248.

Sainte-Claire Deville, J.

- 1910. Faune des Coléoptères du Bassin de la Seine. II. Staphylinoidea. Paris: Société Entomologique de France, 93–160 pp.
- Samouelle, G.
- 1819. The Entomologist's useful compendium; ... 496 pp. London: Thomas Boys.
- Say, T.
  - 1823. Descriptions of coleopterous insects collected in the late expedition to the Rocky Mountains, performed by order of Mr. Calhoun, Secretary of War, under the command of Major Long. Journal of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia 3: 139–216.
  - 1830. Descriptions of new species of North American insects, and observations on some already described. New Harmony: [Indiana]: [Published by Author], 41 pp.
  - 1832. [Untitled continuation of Say, 1830]: 50–57.
- Scheerpeltz, O.
  - 1933. Staphylinidae VII. In W. Junk and S. Schenkling (eds.), Coleopterorum Catalogus. 6(129): 989–1500. Berlin: Junk.
  - 1934. Staphylinidae VIII. *In* Ibid. 6(130): 1501–1881. Berlin: Junk.
  - Die westpaläarktischen Arten der Gattung *Edaphus* Leconte (Col. Staphylinidae). Koleopterologische Rundschau 22(5): 189–225.
  - 1938. Ueber *Edaphuskaufmanni* Reitter. Ein Nachtrag zu meiner Arbeit: "Die westpaläarktischen Arten der Gattung *Edaphus* Leconte". (Col., Staphylinidae). Ibid. 24: 1–6.
  - Revision der Gattung *Piestus* Gravh. (Coleoptera Staphylinidae). Revista Chilena de Entomología 2: 281–305.
  - 1956a. Die von Prof. Dr. K. E. Schedl in Belgisch-Kongo aufgefundenen Staphyliniden. Revue de Zoologie et de Botanique Africaines 55: 8–46.
  - 1957. Wissenschaftliche Ergebnisse der Sumba-Expedition des Museums für Völkerkunde und des Naturhistorischen Museums in Basel, 1949. Staphylinidae (Col.) von Sumba und Flores. Verhandlungen der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Basel 68(2): 217–357.
  - 1958. Wissenschaftliche Ergebnisse der von Herrn Dr. K. Lindberg, Lund, im Jahre 1956, nach der Tärkei und Armenien unternommenen Reise. Coleoptera—

Staphylinidae. Entomologisk Tidskrift 78(suppl. 1957): 3–37.

- 1960. Zur Kenntnis neotropischer Staphyliniden (Col.). Beiträge zur Neotropischen Fauna 2(2): 65–138.
- 1961a. The 3rd Danish expedition to Central Asia. Zoological results 26. Staphylinidae (Insecta) aus Afghanistan. Videnskabelige Meddelelser fra Dansk naturhistorisk Forening i K\*obenhaven 123: 33–50.
- 1961b. Staphylinidae (Col.) von Madagaskar. Verhandlungen der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Basel 72(1): 233–264.
- 1965. Wissenschaftliche Ergebnisse der Schwedischen Expedition 1934 nach Indien und Burma. Coleoptera Staphylinidae (except Megalopsidiinae et Steninae). Arkiv f\u00e4r Zoologi 17(2): 93– 371.
- 1968. Catalogus Faunae Austriae ... 15(fa). Coleoptera-Staphylinidae. Wien: Springer, 279 pp.
- 1970. Eine neue Art der Gattung Diatrechus Bernhauer, mit einer Dichotomik aller bisher bekannt gewordenen Arten der Gattung. Mitteilungen der Entomologischen Gesellschaft, Basel 20: 81–91.
- 1971. Studien an den Arten der Gattung Hesperus Fauvel (Col. Staphylinidae). Entomologische Arbeiten aus dem Museum G. Frey 22: 150–197.
- 1972a. Wissenschaftliche Ergebnisse der Studienreise von Gy. Topál nach Südwest-Argentinien (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Folia Entomologica Hungarica (n. ser.) 25 (Suppl.): 1–268.
- 1972b. Eine neue art der Gattung *Trigonopselaphus* Gemminger-Harold, nebst einer Dichotomik der jetzt zu dieser Gattung gehörigen Arten, Bemerkungen über die aus dieser Gattung auszuscheidenden Arten und neue, zum Teil auf diesen ausgeschiedenen Arten gegründete Gattungen (Col. Staphylinidae, Subfam. Staphylininae, Tribus Xanthopygini). Mitteilungen der Münchner Entomologischen Gesellschaft 62: 31–48.
- Coleoptera: Staphylinidae (exclus. Subfam. Paederinae, except. pars min.). *In* B. Hanstrom, P. Brinck, and G. Rudebeck (eds.), South African animal life
   15: 43–394. Stockholm: Statens Naturvetenskapliga Forskningsråd.
- 1975. Eine neue Art der Gattung *Glyphesthus* Kraatz, mit einer Dichotomik aller bis jetzt bekannt gewordenen Arten dieser Gattung. (Col. Staphylinidae, Subfam.

Staphylininae, Tribus Quediini). Mitteilungen der Münchner Entomologischen Gesellschaft 65: 103–112.

1976. Wissenschaftliche Ergebnisse entomologischer Aufsammlungen in Nepal (Col. Staphylinidae). *In* W. Hellmich and H. Janetschek (eds.), Kumbu Himal ... 5: 77–173.

Schiller, W.

1989. Die Staphylinidae (Kurzflügler) des Belchengebietes im Südschwarzwald. In Der Belchen—Geschichtlich-Naturkundliche Monographie des Schösten Schwarzwaldberges. Natur- und Landschaftsschutzgebiete Baden-Württemberg (Karlsruhe) 13: 1031–1081. [Note: Reference not examined]

Schillhammer, H.

- New synonymies in the subfamily Staphylininae (Coleoptera: Staphylininae). Entomological Problems 25(2): 73–75.
- Taxonomic revision of the Oriental species of *Gabrius* Stephens (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Monographs on Coleoptera 1: 1–139.

Schrank, F. von P.

- 1781. Enumeratio Insectorum Austriae indigenorum. Augustae Vindelicorum: Vidvam Eberhardi Klett et Franck, 550 pp.
- 1798. Fauna Boica. vol. 1. Nürnberg: Stein'schen, xii + 720 pp.

Schubert, K.

1909. Neue mexikanische Staphyliniden. Deutsche Entomologische Zeitschrift 1909: 287–297.

Schülke, M.

1999. Zur Taxonomie der Gattung *Bolitobius* Leach in Samouelle 1819 (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae, Tachyporinae). Linzer Biologische Beitr&aumlè 31(2): 975– 985.

Scopoli, J. A.

1763. Entomologia Carniolica, exhibens insecta Carnioliae indigena, et distributa in ordines, genera, species, varietates. Methodo Linnaeana. Vindobonae: Ioannis Thomae Trattner, 420 pp.

Scriba, W.

1855. Neue Staphylinen. Entomologische Zeitung Herausgegeben von dem Entomologischen Vereine zu Stettin 16(10): 295–302.

Scudder, S. H.

1900. Adephagous and clavicorn Coleoptera from the Tertiary deposits at Florissant, Colorado with descriptions of a few other forms and a systematic list of the non-rhynchophorous Tertiary Coleoptera of North America. Monographs of the United States Geological Survey 40: 1–148.

Segers, R.

- 1987. *Quediusconicus* sp. n., espèce nouvelle des Pyrénées Centrales (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Bulletin et Annales de la Société Royale Belge d'Entomologie 123: 267–269.
- Sharp, D. S.
  - 1874. The Staphylinidae of Japan. Transactions of the Entomological Society of London 1874: 1–103.
  - 1876. Contribution to an insect fauna of the Amazon Valley. Coleoptera-Staphylinidae. Ibid. 1876: 27–424.
  - Staphylinidae. Biologia Centrali-Americana. Insecta. Coleoptera. 1(2): 145– 312. London: Taylor & Francis.
  - Staphylinidae. Biologia Centrali-Americana. Insecta. Coleoptera. 1(2): 393– 536. Ibid.
  - Staphylinidae. Biologia Centrali-Americana. Insecta. Coleoptera. 1(2): 673– 824. Ibid.
  - 1888. The Staphylinidae of Japan. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (6) 2: 369–387; 451–464.
  - 1889. The Staphylinidae of Japan. Ibid. (6) 3: 28–44; 108–121; 249–267; 319–334; 406–419; 463–476.
  - 1910. Diagnoses of some new species of *Gabrius*. Entomologist's Monthly Magazine (2) 21: 129–131.

- 1976. Provisional check list of the family Staphylinidae of Japan. I. (Insecta: Coleoptera). Annual Bulletin of the Nichidai Sanko 19: 71–212.
- Silfverberg, H.
  - 1992. Enumeratio Coleopterorum Fennoscandiae, Daniae, et Baltiae. Helsinki: Helsingfors Entomologiska Bytesförening, v + 94 pp.
- Smetana, A.
  - 1956. Systematické a faunistické poznámky ke zvířeně drabčíků Československa II. (Zároveň 10. příspěvek k posnání rodu *Gabrius* Steph. palearktiché oblasti.). Acta Societatis Entomologicae Čechosloveniae (1955) 52: 165–180.
  - 1963. Bemerkungen über Staphylinidae. Entomologische Blätter für Biologie und Systematik der Käfer 59(2): 72–75.
  - Ergebnisse der Zoologischen Forschungen von Dr. Z. Kaszab in der Mongolei.
     86. Staphylinidae II. Unterfamilien Paederinae, Xantholininae und Staphy-

lininae (Coleoptera). Acta Entomologica Bohemoslovaca 64(3): 195–218.

- 1971. Revision of the tribe Quediini of America north of Mexico (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Memoirs of the Entomological Society of Canada 79: vi + 1– 303.
- Ergebnisse der zoologischen Forschungen von Dr. Z. Kaszab in der Mongolie.
   340. Staphylinidae IV. Unterfamilien Omaliinae bis Staphylininae (Coleoptera). Acta Zoologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae 21: 153–179.
- 1988. Revision of the tribes Quediini and Atanygnathini. Part II. The Himalayan region (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Quaestiones Entomologicae 24(2): 163–464.
- 1993. Staphylinidae. In J. Jelínek (ed.), Checklist of Czechoslovak Insects IV (Coleoptera). Folia Heyrovskyana. Suppl. 1: pp. 47–50. 172 pp. Praha: Vít Kabourek.
- 1995. Rove beetles of the subtribe Philonthina of America north of Mexico (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Classification, phylogeny and taxonomic revision. Memoirs on Entomology, International 3: 1–946.
- 1998. Contributions to the knowledge of the Quediina (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae, Staphylinini) of China. Part 10. Genus *Quedius* Stephens, 1829. Subgenus *Raphirus* Stephens, 1829. Section 3. Elytra 26(1): 99–113.
- Smetana, A., and A. Davies
  - 2000. Reclassification of the north temperate taxa associated with *Staphylinus* sensu lato, including comments on relevant subtribes of Staphylinini (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). American Museum Novitates 3287: 88 pp.
- Solier, A. J. J.
  - 1849. Orden III. Coleopteros. In C. Gay (ed.), Historia fisica y politica de Chile. Zoologia. 4: 105–380, 414–511. Paris.
- Solsky, S. M.
  - 1868. Études sur les Staphylinides de Méxique. Horae Societatis Entomologicae Rossicae 5: 119–144.
- Steel, W. O.
  - 1949. Some notes on the nomenclature of the Xantholinini and Othiini (Col., Staphylinidae). Entomologist's Monthly Magazine 84: 268–270.
  - 1970. The larvae of the genera of the Omaliinae (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) with particular reference to the British fau-

Shibata, Y.

na. Transactions of the Royal Entomological Society of London 122(1): 1-47.

Stephens, J. F.

- 1829. A systematic catalogue of British insects: being an attempt to arrange all the hitherto discovered indigenous insects in accordance with their natural affinities, containing also the references to every English writer on entomology, and to the principal foreign authors, with all the published British genera to the present time. London: Baldwin and Cradock, xxxiv + 416 + 388 pp.
- 1832. Illustrations of British entomology; or, a synopsis of indigenous insects; containing their generic and specific distinctions; with an account of their metamorphoses, times of appearance, localities, food, and economy, as far as practicable. Mandibulata. 5: 1-240. Ibid.
- 1833. Illustrations of British entomology; . . . 5: 241-304. Ibid.
- 1834. Illustrations of British entomology;... 5: 305-368. Ibid.
- Illustrations of British entomology; . . . 1835. 5: 369-448. London Baldwin and Cradock.
- Stierlin, W. G.
  - Ueber einige neue und wenig bekannte 1864. sicilianische Käferarten. Berliner Entomologische Zeitschrift 8: 145-153.

Strand, E.

1915. Nomenklatorische Notizen über Schlupfwespen und eine Staphylinidengattung. Archiv für Naturgeschichte (A)80(8)(1914): 121–122.

Ström, H.

- Beskribelse over Norske Insecter. Det 1768. Kongelige Norske Bidenskabers Selskabs Skrifter. 4: 313-371. Ki\*obenhavn: Friderich Christian Pelt. Thomson, C. G.
- 1851.
  - Coleoptera funna vid Ramlösa. Öfversigt af Kongl. Vetenskaps-Akademiens Förhandlingar 8(4): 131–134.
  - 1857. Öfversigt af de arter inom Insektgruppen Stenini, som blifvit funna i Sverige. Öfversigt af Kongl. Ibid. 14(6): 219-235.
  - Skandinaviens Coleoptera, synoptiskt 1859. bearbetade. 1: 1-290. Lund: Berlingska Boktryckeriet.
  - 1861. Skandinaviens Coleoptera, synoptiskt bearbetade. 3: 1-278. Ibid.
  - 1867. Skandinaviens Coleoptera, synoptiskt bearbetade. Supplementum. 9: 1-407. Ibid.

Tikhomirova, A. L.

1973. [New species]. In O. Kryzhanovskii, A. Tikhomirova, and L. Filatova, 1973, Stafilinidy (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae) Iuzhnogo Primor'ia. In M. Giliarov (ed.), Ekologiia pochvennykh bespozvonochnykh: 144-173. Moskva: Izdatel'stvo Nauka.

Tottenham, C. E.

- 1939. Some notes on the nomenclature of the Staphylinidae (Coleoptera). Proceedings of the Royal Entomological Society of London (B) 8: 224-226, 227-237.
- 1940. Some notes on the nomenclature of the Staphylinidae (Coleoptera). Ibid. (B) 9(3): 49-53.
- 1945. Some notes on the nomenclature of the Staphylinidae (Coleoptera). Ibid. (B) 14: 70-71.
- 1949a. The generic names of the British Staphylinidae with a check list of the species. Part 9. In The generic names of British insects ...: 345–466. London: Royal Entomological Society of London.
- 1949b. Studies in the genus Philonthus Stephens (Coleoptera). Transactions of the Royal Entomological Society of London 100(12): 291-362.
- 1955. Studies in the genus Philonthus Stephens (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae). Parts 2, 3, and 4. Ibid. 106(3): 153-195.
- 1956. Contributions à l'étude de la faune entomologique du Ruanda-Urundi (Mission P. Basilewsky 1953). LXXXVII. Coleoptera: Staphylinidae: Steninae, Xantholinae, Staphylinidae, Tachyporinae and Pygosteninae). Annales du Musée Royal du Congo Belge, Tervuren. Série in-8°. Sciences Zoologiques 51: 221-322.
- 1962. Mission zoologique de l'I. R.S.A.C. en Afrique orientale (P. Basilewsky et N. Leleup, 1957). LXXVI. Coleoptera Staphylinidae Staphylininae. Annales. Sciences Zoologiques. Musée Royal de l'Afrique Centrale, Tervuren. (8°) 110: 132-258.
- Ullrich, W. G.
  - 1975a. Monographie der Gattung Tachinus Gravenhorst (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae), mit Bemerkungen zur Phylogenie und Verbreitung der Arten. Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Christian-Albrechts-Univ-

ersität zu Kiel. Kiel: Christian-Albrechts-Universität, 365 pp.

1975b. Revision der mongolischen Arten der Gattung *Tachinus* Grav. (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Annales Historico-Naturales Musei Nationalis Hungarici 67: 81–111.

Villers, C. de

1789. Caroli Linnaei entomologia, faunae Suecicae descriptionibus aucta;.... Vol. 1. Lugduni: Piestre et Delamolliere, 24 + 765 pp.

Wagner, T.

1992. Zur winterlichen Bodenkäferfauna des südlichen Bergischen Landes (Ins., Col.). Mitteilungen der Arbeitsgemeinschaft Rheinischer Koleopterologen 2: 135–147. [Note: Reference not examined]

Waltl, J.

1838. Beiträge zur nähern naturhistorischen Kenntnis des Unterdonaukreises in Bayern. *In* Oken, Isis, encyclopädische Zeitschrift, vorzüglish für Naturgeschichte, vergleichende Anatomie und Physiologie. 1838(4): 250–273 [columns]. Leipzig: Brockhaus.

Watanabe, Y.

1990. A taxonomic study on the subfamily Omaliinae from Japan (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Memoirs of the Tokyo University of Agriculture 31: 55–391.

Wendeler, H.

- 1927. Neue exotische Staphyliniden (Col.). Neue Beiträge zur Systematischen Insektenkunde 4: 2–9.
- 1955. Neue Staphyliniden aus Brasilien (1.Teil). Dusenia 6(5): 187–198.

Wenzel, E.

1993. Untersuchungen zur Ökologie und Phänologie laubwaldtypischer Koleopterenassoziationen im Bergischen Land bei Radevormwald (Ins., Col.). Mitteilungen der Arbeitsgemeinschaft Rheinischer Koleopterologen 4: 7–40. [Note: Reference not examined]

White, A.

1846. Insects. *In* J. Richardson and J. Gray (ed.), Zoology of the voyage of Erebus and Terror. 1: 1–24. London: Janson.

Wickham, H. F.

1917. Some fossil beetles from the Sangamon Peat. American Journal of Science (4) 44: 137–145.

Wollaston, T. V.

- 1864. Catalogue of the coleopterous insects of the Canaries in the collection of the British Museum. London: British Museum (Natural History), xiii + 648 pp.
- 1867. Coleoptera Hesperidum, being an enumeration of the coleopterous insects of the Cape Verde Archipelago. London: John Van Voorst, xxxix + 285 pp.

Wörndle, A.

1950. Die Käfer von Nordtirol. Faunistisches Verzeichnis der aus dem Gebiete bisher bekannt gewordenen Koleopteren. Schlern-Schriften 64. Innsbruck: Universitäts-Verlag Wagner, 388 pp. [Note: Reference not examined]

Zanetti, A.

 Coleoptera. Staphylinidae. Omaliinae. In Fauna d'Italia 25: i–xii + 1–472. Bologna: Edizioni Caliderini.

Zerche, L.

1987a. Zur Synonymie von *Geodromicus* Redtenbacher (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae, Omaliinae). Beiträge zur Entomologie 37: 137–138.

Zetterstedt, J. W.

- 1828. Fauna insectorum Lapponica. Hammone: Libraria Schulziana, xx + 563 pp.
- 1838. Insecta Lapponica descripta, Coleoptera: 7–240. Lipsiae: Leopoldi Voss.